
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
( )
Stock Code ：2360

Annual Report 2024

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited

A
n

n
u

a
l Re

p
o

rt 2024 

2024 



CONTENTS 

1
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0

Annual Report 2024

Corporate Information 2

Chairman’s Statement 5

Chief Executive Officer’s Statement 8

Financial Summary 19

Management Discussion and Analysis 20

Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management 36

Corporate Governance Practices 47

Environmental, Social and Governance Report 68

Directors’ Report 99

Independent Auditor’s Report 131

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other  
 Comprehensive Income

137

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 139

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 141

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 142

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 144



CORPORATE INFORMATION 

2
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive directors
Mr. Li Guanpeng Chairman)
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan Chief Executive Officer) 
 (appointed with effect from 12 April 2024)
Ms. Cui Qian (resigned with effect from 25 March 2025)
Mr. Lu Rong
Mr. Liu Yunfeng
Mr. Huang Shengchao
Ms. Wang Kanglin
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung
Ms. Jiang Hongmei (appointed with effect from 25 March 2025)
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan (resigned with effect from 12 April 2024)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Sze Irons BBS JP
Ms. Choy So Yuk BBS JP
Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly JP
Dr. Gao Wei

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Ka Lai

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Li Guanpeng
Ms. Chan Ka Lai

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly JP Chairman)
Mr. Sze Irons BBS JP
Ms. Choy So Yuk BBS JP

 

BBS JP
BBS JP
JP

JP 
BBS JP
BBS JP



CORPORATE INFORMATION 

3
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0

Annual Report 2024

BBS JP 
BBS JP

JP

BBS JP

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111 
Cayman Islands

108
11

 • 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Sze Irons BBS JP Chairman)
Ms. Choy So Yuk BBS JP
Mr. Lu Rong

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Li Guanpeng Chairman)
Dr. Gao Wei
Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly JP

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Dr. Gao Wei Chairman)
Ms. Choy So Yuk BBS JP
Mr. Lu Rong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
11th Floor, C-Bons International Center 
No. 108 Wai Yip Street
Kowloon, Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
SHINEWING HK  CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants and Registered PIE Auditor

LEGAL ADVISER
Baker & McKenzie



CORPORATE INFORMATION 

4
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited 
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

183

17M

2360

www.bestmart360.com

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
 TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111 
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND 
 TRANSFER OFFICE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited 
17M Floor
Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai 
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Hang Seng Bank Limited
Standard Chartered Bank Hong Kong  Limited
Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited 
Bank of China Limited
DBS Bank Hong Kong  Limited
Dah Sing Banking Group Limited
Chong Hing Bank Limited

STOCK CODE
2360

COMPANY WEBSITE
www.bestmart360.com



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 

5
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0

Annual Report 2024

Dear Shareholders,

For and on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the 
“Directors”) of Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (the “Company”, 
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), I am pleased to 
present the Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2024 
(the “Financial Year under Review”) to the shareholders of the 
Company (the “Shareholders”).

360

Li Guanpeng

Chairman 
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During the Financial Year under Review, global interest rates have 
been on the rise. Coupled with the impact of external negative 
factors such as the tightening of monetary policy and the Russia-
Ukraine conflict, the pace of economic recovery in various regions 
has been hampered. In the face of the unpredictable business 
environment, the management of the Group actively adjusted its 
product portfolio and sales strategy according to market conditions, 
our revenue, gross profit and net profit for the Financial Year under 
Review have achieved moderate growth on a year-on-year basis. 
Upholding the principle of global procurement, we continue to 
search for a diverse range of products from all over the world and 
have been stringently selecting product suppliers to ensure strict 
control over product quality while further enriching our product 
categories, controlling costs more effectively, and providing 
products of “Best Quality” and “Best Price” to customers.

Looking ahead, the Hong Kong retail market is expected to 
remain challenging. The Hong Kong government actively launches 
various measures in the hope of attracting tourists from all over 
the world. In the future, the management will remain cautiously 
optimistic in promoting its business, injecting new impetus into the 
Group for its future growth, as well as working hard to address 
market uncertainties. The Group will continue to work closely 
with our colleagues, suppliers, customers, business partners and 
shareholders to jointly lead the Group to new heights and strive 
to become a better brand. Our management will also adhere 
to our business principle and strive to provide customers with a 
comfortable and superior shopping experience, meeting the diverse 
needs of consumers and market trends by global sourcing.
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In addition, to elevate the Group’s profitability, the management 
will strive to refine our operational efficiency and further 
strengthen our cost control measures. We endeavor to keep 
abreast of the times and make continuous improvements, 
leveraging our solid business foundation to maintain our leading 
position and competitiveness in the Hong Kong leisure food 
retail market, thereby ensuring stable and sustainable returns 
for our shareholders. The Board has recommended the payment 
of a dividend of HK10.0 cents per share for the year ended 31 
December 2024.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my appreciation 
to the Group’s management team and employees for their efforts 
in contributing to the development of the Group. My sincere 
gratitude also goes to our shareholders, customers, suppliers and 
business partners for their support and trust.

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited
Li Guanpeng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025

10.0

360



CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT 

8
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024

Dear Shareholders,

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the government of 
Mainland China implemented various measures benefiting Hong 
Kong, coupled with efforts by the Hong Kong government to 
uplift the local market atmosphere, driving the number of visitors 
to Hong Kong to increase continuously. However, affected by the 
changes of consumption patterns, along with the rising number 
of Hong Kong citizens spending their long holidays abroad and 
the rising trend of traveling to Mainland China for consumption, 
the local retail sector remains weak. During this period, the Group 
actively responded to changes in the market, including optimizing 
our retail shop distribution and enhancing our product mix to 
align with different consumer needs, resulting in growth for both 
sales and profits of the Group, even amidst an overall retail market 
downturn.

Hui Chi Kwan

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
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During the Financial Year under Review, the Group recorded a 
revenue of approximately HK$2,805,146,000, representing an 
increase of approximately 8.2% as compared with the unaudited 
revenue of the same twelve-month period in 2023. During the 
Financial Year under Review, the profit attributable to owners of 
the Company was approximately HK$247,522,000, representing an 
increase of approximately 5.3% as compared with the unaudited 
profit attributable to owners of the Company of the same twelve-
month period in 2023. Thanks to the hard work of the Group’s 
management and all employees, the Group has remained vigilant 
in the face of different operating situations and has been able to 
respond appropriately to the unpredictable market environment.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION

During the Financial Year under Review, the total number of the 
Group’s retail stores increased from 167 stores as at 31 December 
2023 to 176 stores. During the year, the Group’s global gourmet 
brand "FoodVille" added 1 new store in Hong Kong, focusing on 
mid-to-high-end global quality food. Despite the uncertainties in 
the external economic environment, the Group maintained a steady 
pace in opening new retail stores, by actively seeking locations 
with reasonable rents, high customer traffic and geographical 
advantages for the expansion of our branches. During the Financial 
Year under Review, the Group strived to optimize our product mix, 
sourcing more “Best Quality” and “Best Price” as well as widely 
popular products from around the world, meeting the daily needs 
of local residents while also introducing distinctive products to 
inbound visitors.

The Group is committed to building stable cooperative relationships 
with global suppliers and persistently seeks new suppliers to enrich 
its product categories and portfolio. The Group further developed 
its private label products during the Financial Year under Review, 
bringing a more diverse selection to customers. The private 
label products are conducive to improving the Group’s overall 
profitability and exclusive brand image as well as strengthening 
customer loyalty. The related sales increased significantly by 
approximately 18.1% as compared with the same twelve-month 
period in 2023, and the proportion of revenue further increased to 
approximately 17.0%.

2,805,146,000
8.2%

247,522,000

5.3%

167 176
FoodVille

1

18.1% 17.0%
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During the Financial Year under Review, the Group actively 
expanded its Business-to-Business (B2B) operations so as to 
broaden the Group’s revenue streams through diversified 
businesses. Concurrently, the Group capitalized on the strengths 
of its existing team to fully harness the synergies and attract more 
potential customers for the Group.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the global economic environment is filled with 
uncertainties, and the business environment for the local retail 
sector remains full of challenges. The management of the Group 
will pay close attention to the uncertain factors affecting business 
operations and promptly adjust business strategies according to 
the actual market conditions. At the same time, the procurement 
team will uphold the principles of “Best Quality” and “Best Price”, 
adjusting the product portfolio according to market demands to 
further enhance the market competitiveness of the Group and 
promote the development of business diversification.

The Group will strive to maintain its competitive advantage in 
prices through global procurement strategy, offering a diverse 
range of product choices to the market, and continuously optimize 
its product mix to fulfil the demands and expectations of local and 
overseas customers for a variety of products. Moreover, the Group 
will continue its endeavors in developing its private label products 
to provide customers with more diversified choices to further boost 
the sales of the Group.

Business-to-Business B2B
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360

In the future, the Group will continue to adopt a prudent and 
optimistic attitude, steadily promoting business development, so as 
to create maximum returns for the shareholders of the Group.

Finally, we would like to extend our sincere gratitude to our 
management team and staff for their dedication and efforts.

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited
Hui Chi Kwan
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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For the
year

ended 31
December

2024

For the
nine months

ended 31
December

2023
Year ended 31 March

2023 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        
Revenue 2,805,146 1,930,831 2,305,907 1,983,526 1,627,891

Gross Profit 1,027,997 694,258 817,263 667,654 520,154

Operating Profit 315,190 213,644 248,921 141,493 101,668
Total comprehensive income 
 attributable to owners 
 of the Company

 
248,187 167,661 200,669 109,912 81,449

 –  As a percentage of revenue  8.8% 8.7% 8.7% 5.5% 5.0%

Total Assets 1,067,981 983,284 937,627 900,153 821,202
Total Liabilities 533,421 526,911 458,915 462,110 453,071

Earnings per share attributable
  to owners of the Company  
 –  Basic and diluted (HK cents)  24.8 16.8 20.1 11.0 8.1

Dividend Per Share
 –  Interim (HK cents)  11.0 8.0 8.0 1.5 2.0
 –  Final (HK cents)  10.0 6.0 11.0 8.0 2.5

Equity attributable to owners 
 of the Company 534,560 456,373 478,712 438,043 368,131       
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360º FoodVille

(i) (ii) (iii)
(iv) (v)

(vi) (vii)
(viii) (ix)

The Group is a leisure food retailer operating chain retail stores 
under the brands “Best Mart 360º” and “FoodVille” in Hong Kong 
and Macau. The Group offers a wide selection of imported pre-
packaged leisure foods and other grocery products principally from 
overseas, which can be broadly categorised into (i) chocolates 
and confectioneries; (ii) nuts and dried fruits; (iii) packaged bakery 
products and snacks; (iv) biscuits and pastries; (v) cereals and milk; 
(vi) beverages and wine; (vii) rice, noodles and groceries; (viii) frozen 
and chilled food; and (ix) other products, such as personal care 
products, daily items and anti-epidemic products. It is the Group’s 
business objective to offer “Best Quality” and “Best Price” products 
to customers through continuous efforts on global procurement, 
with a mission to provide comfortable shopping environment and 
pleasurable shopping experience to customers.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5 
September 2023, the Board resolved to change the financial 
year end date of the Company from 31 March to 31 December. 
Accordingly, the current audited consolidated financial statements 
of the Company covered a period of twelve months from 1 January 
2024 to 31 December 2024 whereas the audited comparative 
figures covered a period of nine months from 1 April 2023 to 
31 December 2023. Due to the difference in the length of the 
reporting periods, the audited comparative figures may not be fully 
comparable.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the Financial Year under Review, the Mainland Chinese 
government introduced a series of economic support measures, 
including the reinstatement of the “Multiple-Entry Permit” policy, 
benefiting Hong Kong. Concurrently, the Hong Kong government 
strove to promote the development of mega events, which boost 
foot traffic in Hong Kong. However, with challenges such as high-
interest rates and geopolitical tensions prevailing, economies across 
various regions were still in a counter-cyclical phase. Additionally, 
the rising trend of outbound travel among Hong Kong residents 
during long holidays, coupled with their enthusiasm in spending in 
Mainland China, and the evolving consumption patterns of inbound 
tourists, collectively contributed to weak domestic consumption 
and a sluggish recovery in the retail sector.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

21
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0

Annual Report 2024

7.3%
9.0%

4,500
31%

426 8%

2,805,146,000

2,592,129,000 8.2%

97.7%

2.3%

1,027,997,000

929,812,000
36.6%

35.9%
0.7

According to the statistics from the Census and Statistics 
Department, the provisional estimate for the value of retail sales 
for the year 2024 decreased by approximately 7.3% as compared 
to that for the year 2023, while the provisional estimate for total 
retail sales volume decreased by approximately 9.0%. Meanwhile, 
according to a spokesperson from the Hong Kong Tourism Board, 
the provisional visitor arrivals for the year 2024 reached nearly 
45 million, representing an increase of approximately 31% as 
compared with 2023. In December 2024 alone, visitor arrivals 
totaled 4.26 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 
approximately 8%.

In response to the challenging business environment, the Group 
adopted various strategies to navigate these difficulties. These 
included optimizing product mix and enhancing the offering of 
basic foodstuffs such as cereals, noodles, canned food, milk, 
chilled and frozen food, daily necessities as well as basic groceries. 
Furthermore, the Group also introduced trending brands from 
Mainland China as well as imported a wide range of specialty food 
from around the world to satisfy the needs of local consumers 
and to attract overseas tourists, contributing to the Group’s sales 
growth despite the weak overall retail market during the Financial 
Year under Review.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded 
revenue of approximately HK$2,805,146,000, compared to the 
unaudited revenue of approximately HK$2,592,129,000 for 
the year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of 
approximately 8.2%. The sales from walk-in customers at retail 
stores in Hong Kong, Macau, and Mainland China accounted for 
approximately 97.7% of the Group’s revenue for the Financial Year 
under Review, while bulk purchases by customers such as peer 
firms and trading companies accounted for approximately 2.3% of 
the Group’s revenue for the Financial Year under Review. 

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 
was approximately HK$1,027,997,000, compared to the unaudited 
gross profit of approximately HK$929,812,000 for the year 
ended 31 December 2023. For the Financial Year under Review, 
the Group’s gross profit margin was approximately 36.6%, 
representing an increase of approximately 0.7 percentage points 
compared with approximately 35.9% for the unaudited gross profit 
margin for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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247,522,000

234,959,000
5.3%

176 170

159 6
7

15
6

170 31 55
84 55

114 1

269,493,000

241,986,000
11.4%

9.6%
9.3%

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 
December 2024 was approximately HK$247,522,000 (year ended 
31 December 2023: approximately HK$234,959,000 (unaudited)), 
a 5.3% year-on-year increment. The increase in profit attributable 
to owners of the Company was primarily driven by the Group’s 
stable stores expansion strategy.

Chain Retail Stores

As at 31 December 2024, the Group operated a total of 176 chain 
retail stores, including 170 chain retail stores (31 December 2023: 
159 stores) in Hong Kong and 6 chain retail stores (31 December 
2023: 7 stores) in Macau respectively. During the Financial Year 
under Review, the Group closed all its chain retail stores in the 
Mainland China taking into account the fierce competition in the 
retail sector of physical food stores in the Mainland China as well 
as the operating data of these stores. During the Financial Year 
under Review, the Group opened 15 new retail stores and closed 6 
stores upon expiration of their respective lease terms in alignment 
with the Group’s expansion strategy adjustment.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group operated 170 retail stores 
in Hong Kong, comprising 31 retail stores located on Hong Kong 
Island, 55 retail stores in Kowloon and 84 retail stores in the New 
Territories. Among these, 55 retail stores are street-level stores, 114 
retail stores are situated in shopping arcades within community or 
residential districts, and 1 retail stores is situated at a traffic hub 
easily accessible to tourists, covering all 18 districts of Hong Kong. 
Rental expense (cash basis) for retail stores was approximately 
HK$269,493,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024, as 
compared with that of approximately HK$241,986,000 for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 (unaudited), representing an increase of 
approximately 11.4%.

The ratio of rental expense (cash basis) to sales revenue of retail 
stores for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately 
9.6%, which was higher than that of approximately 9.3% for the 
year ended 31 December 2023 (unaudited).
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1,230 1,005 225

1,322
863 459

277,888,000

236,230,000

9.9%

9.1%

7.8% 7.0%

Employees

Employees are crucial to the sustainable development of the 
Group’s business, and in particular, front-line staff constitute 
the majority of the labour force of the Group’s retail business. 
Although the business environment remained challenging during 
the Financial Year under Review, the Group maintained a steady 
pace of expansion. As at 31 December 2024, the total number of 
employees of the Group was 1,230, which, excluding Directors, 
comprised 1,005 full-time employees and 225 part-time employees, 
while the total number of employees of the Group as at 31 
December 2023 was 1,322, which, excluding Directors, comprised 
863 full-time employees and 459 part-time employees. In order 
to retain talented and skilled labour force and to appropriately 
incentivise the Group’s employees so as to increase cohesion and 
loyalty amongst them, the Group regularly reviews and refreshes 
the employee benefit scheme and remuneration packages with 
reference to the supply of the labour market, the trend of labour 
costs and the individual performance of the employees. The staff 
costs (excluding the Directors’ emoluments) for the year ended 
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$277,888,000 
(for the year ended 31 December 2023: approx imate ly 
HK$236,230,000 (unaudited)). The staff costs (excluding the 
Directors’ emoluments) for the year ended 31 December 2024 
represented approximately 9.9% of the revenue of the Group 
for the Financial Year under Review, while the unaudited staff 
costs (excluding the Directors’ emoluments) for the year ended 31 
December 2023 represented approximately 9.1% of the revenue of 
the Group for the same period. Amongst which, the staff costs of 
frontline and warehouse staff (including basic salary, commission 
and other benefits) represented approximately 7.8% and 7.0% of 
the revenue of the Group for the Financial Year under Review and 
the year ended 31 December 2023, respectively.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

24
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024
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54.4%
11.7% 9.8%

6.3%
13.0% 6.0% 8.3%

339,513,000
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Products

During the Financial Year under Review, the Group continued 
its global procurement policy and mission by sourcing a broad 
spectrum of products worldwide that meet and satisfy market 
trend and demand. To better cater to the daily needs of the local 
community, the Group further strengthened the supply of basic 
foodstuffs such as cereals, noodles, canned food, milk, chilled 
and frozen food, daily necessities and basic grocery products. In 
addition, the Group continued to strengthen its private label sales 
in retail stores, including nuts and dried fruits, organic grains, wet 
tissues, canned food, biscuits and snacks, etc., providing consumers 
with more diversified choices.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group offers a total of 
3,653 stock keeping units (“SKU”) of products (for the year ended 
31 December 2023: 3,945 SKU) from suppliers principally  from 
China and overseas markets as well as brand owners or importers in 
Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 December 2024, approximately 
54.9% of the products were purchased from suppliers and 
brand owners or importers in Hong Kong (for the year ended 
31 December 2023: approximately 54.4%), while imports from 
Japan, China and Europe accounted for approximately 11.7%, 
9.8% and  6.3% of the total purchases respectively (for the year 
ended 31 December 2023: approximately 13.0%, 6.0% and 8.3% 
respectively).

As at 31 December 2024, the total amount of inventories of the 
Group amounted to approximately HK$339,513,000 (31 December 
2023: approximately HK$276,691,000), a 22.7% year-on-year 
increment. The increase in the Group’s total amount of inventories 
was mainly due to an increase in the number of retail stores and 
preparation for increased demand during the peak sales season 
around the Lunar New Year.
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17.0%

15.6%
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2,123,365
2,280,418

7.4%

During the Financial Year under Review, the Group continued to 
actively develop private label products that on one hand allowed 
the Group to capture pricing advantages and exercise a higher level 
of quality control over its products and on the other hand further 
uplift its brand awareness and strengthen customers’ loyalty. For 
the Financial Year under Review, sales derived from private label 
products was approximately HK$477,222,000 (for the year ended 
31 December 2023: approximately HK$404,078,000), accounted 
for approximately 17.0% of the Group’s revenue for the Financial 
Year under Review (for the unaudited year ended 31 December 
2023: approximately 15.6%). During the Financial Year under 
Review, the Group had launched an aggregate of 11 private labels, 
and the products for sale included nuts and dried fruits, organic 
grains, wet tissues, canned food, biscuits and snacks, etc.

Membership Scheme

Given that the retail business of the Group is a consumer-driven 
business, the Group placed substantial efforts in developing and 
reinforcing its customer base. As such, the Group has established 
a membership scheme since April 2015 in order to promote 
consumer loyalty, stimulate sales and expand customer base. 
To further deepen customer stickiness and expand customers’ 
coverage, the Group used big data analysis and reformulated its 
marketing strategy to launch a new three-tier membership scheme 
and a second-generation mobile app in mid-June 2020. The new 
membership scheme helps to elevate brand positioning and market 
recognition, and the membership rewards have been fully optimised 
and enhanced, with more member benefits such as multiple 
items purchase stamp reward, special offers for selected products 
and access to the latest market information. Through diversified 
marketing strategies, the Group aims to internally strengthen the 
membership core from within and attract new customers through 
external expansion, so as to effectively and purposefully foster the 
ties between members and the Group, thereby driving recurring 
business from members and promoting sustainable growth of the 
Group’s business.

During the Financial Year under Review, the number of the 
Group’s members increased from approximately 2,123,365 as at 
31 December 2023 to approximately 2,280,418 as at 31 December 
2024, representing an increase of approximately 7.4%.
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360º
FoodVille

10

To express our gratitude for our customers’ support, the Group 
launched various marketing and promotional activities during the 
Financial Year under Review including the “Best Price” promotional 
campaign, which provided customers with a series of special 
offers for selected quality products from time to time to enhance 
customer loyalty. Meanwhile, the Group continued to advertise 
through television, newspapers, social media platforms and other 
media, which successfully obtained repeat customers, attracted 
new customers and greatly promoted the discussions about the 
Group in the market.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, economic growth in Hong Kong and globally is 
expected to remain under pressure as uncertainties surrounding 
the relationship between China and the United States continues 
to cloud economic recovery. The Board anticipates that the retail 
sector in Hong Kong will remain subdued in the near term. 
Nevertheless, the Group will remain cautiously optimistic in 
conducting its business by closely monitoring the development of 
various adverse factors that may impact the Group’s performance 
and timely implementing necessary and appropriate measures 
through refined operations and management to adapt to the ever-
changing market environment. The Group will continue to prioritize 
the Hong Kong market as its core focus, optimize its product 
structure and enhancing the development of its private label 
products, with greater emphasis on basic foodstuffs and necessities 
to cater to the needs of customers. These initiatives aim to bolster 
the Group’s competitiveness in the retail market.

In order to maintain robust operational profitability, the Group will 
continue to review the regional distribution of its brand stores, and 
adopt appropriate expansion policies and flexible leasing strategies 
to look for suitable opportunities to expand the retail network for 
its major retail brands “Best Mart 360º ( 360º)” and global 
gourmet brand “FoodVille” in Hong Kong and Macau, with a 
target of achieving a net increase of 10 retail stores annually under 
its dual-brand model, catering to the diverse needs of different 
customer segments for quality food products.
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Business-to-Business B2B

Through global sourcing, the Group remains committed to 
broadening its product categories and maintaining price 
competitiveness. The Group will continue to source a diverse range 
of food products worldwide, intensify efforts to develop its private 
label products, and proactively explore new products to provide 
customers with a broader range of choices to meet the needs of 
various consumer groups.

In addition, the Group has entered into a sales and procurement 
framework agreement with China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading 
Company Limited (“CMHT”). In 2025, the Group will expand its 
product sales to and procurement from CMHT and its subsidiaries, 
facilitating the introduction of several popular brands from 
Mainland China. The Board believes that through CMHT’s robust 
network of food importers and distributors, the Group will 
strengthen its procurement as well as Business-to-Business (B2B) 
operations. In addition, the Group has entered into agreements 
with China Merchants Bonded Logistics Co., Limited* (

) and China Merchants Qian Hai Wan (Shenzhen) 
Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.* ( ( )

). Since last year, they have provided customs 
clearance, warehousing and related logistics services as well as 
land transportation services of goods between Shenzhen and 
Hong Kong and other ancillary services. These have alleviated the 
pressure on the Group’s warehouses in Hong Kong and reduce 
overall goods handling costs.

In the face of a fast-evolving operating environment, the Group 
remains confident and will continue to work closely with its 
employees, customers and other stakeholders to deliver better 
performance for the Group and achieve best returns for our 
shareholders.

* The English translation of the name is for reference only. The official name of 
the entity is in Chinese.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the 
Group mainly represented the retail sales to walk-in customers 
through its retail stores which accounted for approximately 
97.7% of the revenue of the Group. For the year ended 31 
December 2024, the revenue of the Group was approximately 
HK$2,805,146,000 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: 
approximately HK$1,930,831,000). Compared with the same 
period last year, revenue of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2024 increased by approximately 8.2% from 
approximately HK$2,592,129,000 for the unaudited revenue for 
the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly attributed 
to additional revenue from the net opening of 9 new stores by the 
Group during the Financial Year under Review.

Profit for the Year

Profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 
amounted to approximately HK$247,522,000 (nine months ended 
31 December 2023: approximately HK$168,335,000). Compared 
with the same period last year, profit of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 increased by approximately 5.3% from 
approximately HK$234,959,000 for the unaudited profit for the 
year ended 31 December 2023, mainly driven by the growth in 
sales and resulting growth in gross profit from the Group’s retail 
stores, which outweighed the adverse effect from increasing 
operating cost. Net profit margin before interest and tax for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately 11.2%, while 
the unaudited net profit margin before interest and tax for the 
same twelve-month period in 2023 was approximately 11.4%. The 
decrease was mainly due to the rising operating cost.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the gross profit of the 
Group was approximately HK$1,027,997,000 (nine months ended 
31 December 2023: approximately HK$694,258,000). Compared 
with the same period last year, the gross profit of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 increased by approximately 
10.6% from approximately HK$929,812,000 for the unaudited 
gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023. The gross 
profit margin was approximately 36.6% (year ended 31 December 
2023: approximately 35.9% (unaudited)). The rise in gross profit 
margin of the Group for the Financial Year under Review was 
largely attributed to our adaptive sales strategy and product mix 
optimisation.

Other Income and Other Gains, Net

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded net 
other income and other gains of approximately HK$6,385,000 (nine 
months ended 31 December 2023: approximately HK$4,676,000), 
which mainly comprised (i) interested income from bank deposits 
of approximately HK$5,975,000 (nine months ended 31 December 
2023: approximately HK$5,074,000) and (ii) net losses on written-
off or disposal of property, plant and equipment of approximately 
HK$14,000 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: approximately 
HK$335,000).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, selling and distribution 
e x p e n s e s  o f  t h e  G r o u p  a m o u n t e d  t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y 
HK$635,736,000 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: 
approximately HK$422,722,000). Compared with the same period 
last year, selling and distribution expense of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 increased by approximately 14.1% 
from approximately HK$556,971,000 for the unaudited selling 
and distribution expense for the year ended 31 December 2023, 
which was mainly due to the increase of rental expenses and other 
store operating expenses resulting from the expansion of retail 
store network, together with more frontline and warehouse staff 
hired to support the growth in scale as well as escalating staff cost. 
Selling and distribution expenses represented approximately 22.7% 
of total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 
31 December 2023: approximately 21.5% (unaudited)).
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Administrative and Other Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, administrative and other 
expenses of the Group amounted to approximately HK$83,456,000 
(n ine months ended 31 December 2023: approximately 
HK$62,568,000). Compared with the same period last year, 
administrative and other expenses of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 increased by approximately 2.5% from 
approximately HK$81,418,000 for the unaudited administrative 
and other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023, which 
was mainly attributable to rising staff cost.

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 
amounted to approximately HK$18,060,000 (nine months ended 
31 December 2023: approximately HK$10,930,000). Compared 
with the same period last year, finance costs of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 increased by approximately 30.7% 
from approximately HK$13,821,000 for the unaudited finance 
costs for the year ended 31 December 2023. Effective interest rate 
for bank borrowings of the Group was approximately 3.2% for the 
year ended 31 December 2024, representing an increase of 0.2 
percentage point from the unaudited effective interest rate for the 
year ended 31 December 2023 of approximately 3.0%, primarily 
due to an adjustment to the interest margin for the Financial Year 
under Review.

Financial Position, Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total cash and bank balances 
(including cash and cash equivalents) were approximately HK$159,510,000 
(31 December 2023: approximately HK$130,712,000), representing a 
increase of approximately HK$28,798,000 which was mainly generated 
from operating activities.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has total bank borrowings 
of approximately HK$73,246,000, representing a decrease of 
approximately 4.6% as compared to approximately HK$76,756,000 
as at 31 December 2023. The total unutilised banking facility 
extended by commercial banks as at 31 December 2024 amounted to 
approximately HK$239,821,000 (31 December 2023: approximately 
HK$240,630,000). The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings 
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, secured and approximate to 
their fair value.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a gross gearing ratio (i.e., 
gross debt divided by total equity) of approximately 13.7% (31 
December 2023: approximately 16.8%). For this purpose, gross 
debt is defined as total interest-bearing borrowings excluding lease 
liabilities.

The Group financed its liquidity and working capital requirements 
through a combination of various sources, including but not limited 
to cash generated from the Group’s operations, bank borrowings, 
and other external equity and debt financings as and when 
appropriate.

The Group continued to maintain a strong financial position 
with cash and bank balances of approximately HK$159,510,000 
and the Group’s working capital amounted to approximately 
HK$148,631,000 as at 31 December 2024. Based on the Group’s 
steady cash inflow from operations, coupled with sufficient cash 
and bank balances and readily available banking facilities, the 
Group has adequate liquidity and financial resources to meet its 
working capital requirements in the next twelve months from the 
balance sheet date. During the Financial Year under Review, the 
majority of the Group’s cash and bank balances were in Hong Kong 
dollar and Macau Pataca were deposited in reputable financial 
institutions.

Capital Structure

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed 
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 11 January 2019 by way of share 
offer. Since then, there has been no change in the capital structure 
of the Company. The capital structure of the Company comprises 
issued share capital and reserves. As at 31 December 2024, the 
Company had 1,000,000,000 Shares in issue.

The capital structure of the Group as at 31 December 2024 in terms 
of debt profile is mainly bank borrowings and as at 31 December 
2024, the Group has outstanding bank borrowings repayable 
within one year or contain a repayment on demand clause of 
approximately HK$73,246,000 (31 December 2023: approximately 
HK$76,756,000). Bank borrowings bear interest at floating interest 
rates. The effective interest rate of the Group’s bank borrowings is 
3.2% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Capital Commitments

Details of capital commitments are set out in note 26 to the 
financial statements.

Charge on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the bank borrowings and other banking 
facilities of the Group are secured by:

– a corporate guarantee provided by the Company and a 
subsidiary; and

– property, plant and equipment of office premises of the Group 
with carrying amount of approximately HK$157,623,000 (31 
December 2023: HK$162,615,000).

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and is exposed to 
foreign exchange risk from (i) the purchase of products from 
various overseas suppliers, which are primarily settled in foreign 
currencies, mainly USD, JPY, EUR, GBP, AUD, SGD and RMB; and (ii) 
the revenue generated from the operation in Macau. Nevertheless, 
taking into account the retail industry practice, the Group’s current 
operation, the stable exchange rate of Macau Pataca historically is 
considered to be not material, the Directors do not consider that 
the Group is subject to material foreign exchange risk. The Group 
will take proactive measures and monitor closely its exposure to 
such currencies movement.

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts prudent treasury management policies and 
does not engage in any highly leveraged or speculative derivative 
products. Cash balances are mostly placed in Hong Kong dollars 
bank deposit with appropriate maturity period for meeting future 
funding requirements.
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EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group is to reward the employees 
based on their performance, qualifications, experience and 
competence. Remuneration package typically comprises salary, 
contribution to pension schemes, discretionary annual bonus, 
performance-related bonus, sales target bonus and miscellaneous 
duties-related allowances. The Group conducts annual review on 
the performance of the employees and make reference to such 
performance review for assessing discretionary annual bonus, salary 
adjustments and promotion appraisals. The remuneration packages 
of the executive Directors and the senior management are 
determined with reference to those paid by comparable companies, 
the time commitment and performance of the executive Directors 
and the senior management, as well as the performance of the 
Group. A remuneration committee is set up to review the Group’s 
emolument policy and structure of all remuneration of the 
Directors and senior management of the Group with reference to 
their experience, responsibilities, workload and time devoted to the 
Group and performance of the Group.

The Group has joined the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under 
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (Cap. 485 of 
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “MPF Scheme”) for all employees 
in Hong Kong. The contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on 
minimum statutory contribution requirement of the lower of 5% 
of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income and HK$1,500 
per month. The funds of the MPF Scheme are held separately from 
those of the Group.

The Group makes contributions to the social security fund for our 
eligible employees in Macau based on, inter alia, whether they are 
long term employees or fixed term employees. As stipulated by the 
labour regulations of PRC, the Group participates in various defined 
contribution retirement plans organised by municipal and provincial 
governments for its PRC employees. The Group is required to make 
contributions to the retirement plans at rates ranging from 14% 
to 15% of the eligible employees’ salaries for the year ended 31 
December 2024 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: 14% to 
15%).



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

34
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024

 

The Company’s employer contr ibut ion for each of the 
abovementioned scheme/fund/plan vests fully with the employees 
when contributed into each respective scheme/fund/plan. 
Accordingly, for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the 
nine months ended 31 December 2023, there were no forfeited 
contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the 
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) that may be 
used by the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share 
Option Scheme”) on 18 December 2018 for the purpose of 
providing incentives and rewards to the participants for their 
contributions to the Group. As at the date of this report, no option 
has been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments during the year 
ended 31 December 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals 
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND 
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any plans for material investments and 
capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 
31 December 2024.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of 
HK10.0 cents per Share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (final 
dividend for the nine months ended 31 December 2023: HK6.0 
cents).

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company (the 
“Shareholders”) at the forthcoming annual general meeting to 
be held on Wednesday, 28 May 2025 (the “Forthcoming AGM”), 
the proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on or around 
Tuesday, 17 June 2025 to the Shareholders whose names appear 
on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 6 June 
2025. To ascertain Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend, 
if the proposed final dividend is approved by the Shareholders at 
the Forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company 
will be closed from Wednesday, 4 June 2025 to Friday, 6 June 
2025 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of 
Shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the final dividend, 
all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant 
share certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of 
the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor 
Services Limited at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell 
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 
4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 3 June 2025.

CLOSURE OF SHARE REGISTER FOR THE 
FORTHCOMING AGM

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend 
and vote at the Forthcoming AGM to be held on Wednesday, 28 
May 2025, the register of members of the Company will be closed 
from Friday, 23 May 2025 to Wednesday, 28 May 2025 (both 
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be 
effected. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the Forthcoming 
AGM, all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share 
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch share 
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong 
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong 
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 22 May 2025.



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

36
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of 
the Group as at the date of this report are set out below:

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Guanpeng , aged 58, is the chairman of the 
Company and he was appointed as an executive Director with 
effect from 11 August 2023. He is also the chairman of the 
nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination 
Committee”).

Mr. Li is the managing director and general manager of CMHT 
since August 2021. Mr. Li graduated from Sun Yat-sen University 
in 1989 and obtained his bachelor’s degree in English language 
and literature. From July 1989 to October 2013, Mr. Li worked for 
a few subsidiaries of Sinotrans South China Co., Ltd. (

) (formerly known as Sinotrans Guangdong Company 
Limited* ( )) and successively acted as its 
deputy general manager and general manager. From January 
2009 to January 2010, Mr. Li was temporarily transferred to the 
Ministry of Transport and served as an assistant to the director. 
From August 2013 to August 2021, Mr. Li successively acted as 
the vice president, president and executive director of Sinotrans 
Limited ( , stock code: 00598.HK, 601598.
SH). In January 2019, Mr. Li was appointed as the chairman of 
DHL-Sinotrans International Air Courier Ltd. From February 2019 to 
August 2021, Mr. Li was appointed as the chairman of Sinotrans 
Limited ( ).

Mr. Hui Chi Kwan , aged 47, is one of the founders of 
the Group and the chief executive officer of the Group since April 
2015. Mr. Hui was appointed as an executive Director with effect 
from 12 April 2024. Mr. Hui has over 20 years of experience in 
the retail industry. As the chief executive officer of the Group, 
Mr. Hui is responsible for overseeing the day to day management 
of the Group. Mr. Hui is also a chief executive officer of CIAO 
International Limited, the director of each of Best Mart 360 Macau 
Limited and Allied Wide Limited, and the legal representative of 

 (Shenzhen Best Mart 360 Commerce 
Limited), all of which are subsidiaries of the Company.
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In addition, Mr. Hui is a member of the 12th Chinese People’s 
Political Consultative Conference Shandong Province Committee 
( ) since December 
2019, a standing member of the 13th Chinese People’s Political 
Consultative Conference Shandong Province Committee (

) since January 2023, the 
president of Hong Kong Industrial and Commercial Association 
Limited ( ) since 2023, the co-opted member of the 
Eastern District Council since July 2024, the executive president of 
the Community Care Development Fund (Eastern District) (

) since 2023, the executive vice president of 
Hong Kong Association for Promotion of Peaceful Reunification 
of China ( ) since 2023, the vice 
chairman and permanent honorary chairman of Hong Kong 
Federation of Fujian Associations ( ) since 2023, 
the vice chairman of the 13th Committee of Jinjiang Federation 
of Overseas Chinese, Fujian (

) since April 2023, the vice president (2015–2022), permanent 
honorary president (since 2015) and the president (since May 2022) 
of The Fukien Athletic Club ( ), the vice chairman of 
Hong Kong Department Stores and Retail General Union (

) since January 2016, a fellow of The Professional 
Validation Centre of Hong Kong Business Sector since June 2015, 
the permanent honorary president of Hong Kong Shine Tak 
Foundation Association Limited ( ) since 
March 2021, and was a member of the 12th and 13th Chinese 
People’s Political Consultative Conference Jinjiang Municipal 
Committee (

) between 2013 and 2020.
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Mr. Lu Rong ( ), aged 45, was appointed as an executive 
Director with effect from 11 August 2023. He is also a member 
of each of the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration 
Committee”) and governance committee of the Company (the 
“Governance Committee”).

Mr. Lu is the deputy general manager of CMHT since January 
2019 and the general manager of China Merchants Food Co., 
Ltd. ( ) since May 2022. Mr. Lu graduated 
from Shanghai Maritime University with a master’s degree in 
2003. Mr. Lu joined CMHT’s group since 2003 and worked in Hoi 
Tung (Shanghai) Trading Co., Ltd. ( ) and 
successively served as the representative of Vietnam office, the 
general manager of the Shipping Equipment Department, and the 
general manager of Hoi Tung Marine Machinery Suppliers Ltd. (

). Mr. Lu acted as the assistant general manager of 
CMHT from November 2016 to January 2019.

Mr. Liu Yunfeng ( ), aged 55, was appointed as an 
executive Director with effect from 11 August 2023. He is 
the deputy general manager of CMHT since June 2022. Mr. 
Liu graduated from Wuhan Institute of Water Transportation 
Engineering with a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 1992, and 
obtained an EMBA degree from the University of Texas at Arlington 
in 2005. From 1992 to 2022, Mr. Liu worked in the Import 
Department of China Communications Import & Export Co., Ltd. (

), and successively served as the assistant 
general manager, deputy general manager, and general manager 
of China Communications Import & Export Co., Ltd. (

). Mr. Liu acted as the general manager of China 
Merchants Automobile Trading Company Limited* (

) from August 2017 to April 2022. From February 
2019 to June 2022, Mr. Liu was appointed as the assistant general 
manager of CMHT.
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Mr. Huang Shengchao ( ), aged 53, was appointed as an 
executive Director with effect from 11 August 2023. He is the chief 
financial officer of CMHT since April 2023. Mr. Huang graduated 
from the School of Accountancy of the Central University of Finance 
and Economics with a bachelor’s degree in accounting in 1994, 
and graduated from the postgraduate training course for national 
economics in the Central University of Finance and Economics in 
2012. Mr. Huang successively worked in Shenzhen Tellus Holding 
Co., Ltd. ( ( ) , stock code: 000025. 
SZ), Shenzhen Merchant Petrifaction Company Limited* (

), and China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone 
Company Limited* ( ) from 1994 to 
2015. From December 2015 to April 2022, Mr. Huang successively 
served as the general manager of the Financial Department and 
the general manager of the Financial Management Department of 
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (

, stock code: 001979.SZ). From 
May 2022 to April 2023, Mr. Huang acted as the deputy chief 
financial officer and the general manager of both the Financial 
Management Department and the Capital Operation Department 
in China Merchants Port Group Co., Ltd. (

, stock code: 1872.SZ). From December 2022 to June 2023, 
Mr. Huang served as a director of Ningbo Zhoushan Port Company 
Limited ( , stock code: 601018.SH).

Ms. Wang Kanglin ( ), aged 40, was appointed as an 
executive Director with effect from 11 August 2023. She is the 
general manager of the Enterprise Planning Department of CMHT 
since November 2023. Ms. Wang graduated from Jiangxi University 
of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’s degree in accounting 
(international accounting) in 2007 and obtained a master’s degree 
in business administration (finance) at The Chinese University of 
Hong Kong in 2015. Ms. Wang worked as an auditor in Shenzhen 
Branch of PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP (

) from August 2007 to April 2010. From 
May 2010 to June 2014, Ms. Wang successively worked at Enric 
Energy Equipment Holdings Limited (Shenzhen Representative 
Office) ( ) and CIMC Enric Investment 
Holdings (Shenzhen) Limited* ( ( )

). From June 2014 to November 2014, Ms. Wang was 
the manager of the Enterprise Planning Department of China 
Merchants Food Supply Chain Management Co. Ltd (

). From November 2014 to July 2016, Ms. 
Wang worked at the Business Development Department of Hoi 
Tung Marine Machinery Suppliers Ltd. From July 2016 to November 
2023, Ms. Wang successively acted as the supervisor, the assistant 
general manager and the deputy general manager of the Enterprise 
Planning Department of CMHT.

53

000025.SZ

001979.SZ

1872.SZ

601018.SH

40



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

40
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024

Mr. Lin Tsz Fung ( ), aged 53, one of the founders of the 
Group, was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 
24 January 2018. Mr. Lin is also a substantial Shareholder. Mr. 
Lin is primarily responsible for formulating the Group’s strategic 
planning and overall business development and overseeing the 
overall management and operation of the Group. Mr. Lin is also a 
director of the subsidiaries of the Company, i.e. CIAO International 
Limited, Quality Food 360 (Holdings) Limited, Best Mart 360 
International Limited, Best Mart 360 Macau Holdings Limited, Best 
Mart 360 Macau Limited, Best Mart 360 China Holdings Limited, 
Best Mart 360 Hong Kong Limited, 

 (Shenzhen Best Mart 360 Commerce Limited), Abundant 
Year International Limited, Allied Wide Limited and Golden Good 
International Trading Limited. Mr. Lin has accumulated over 26 
years of experience in retail and wholesale businesses.

Mr. Lin was appointed as a director of The Hong Kong Fujian 
Charitable Education Fund ( ) since 2014, 
a permanent honorary president of Hong Kong Federation of 
Fujian Associations Limited ( ) in 2013, 
a vice president of The Federation of Hong Kong Footwear Limited 
( (1970) ) in 2014, a permanent honorary 
president of Hong Kong Federation of Chendai Zhen Clans Limited 
( ) in 2016, and a vice president of 
The Federation of Jinjiang Hong Kong Associations Limited (formerly 
known as JinJiang Clans Association (H.K.) Limited) (

, formerly known as ) 
in 2013. Mr. Lin was also appointed as one of the directors of Pok 
Oi Hospital Centenary (70th) board of directors (2019–2020). Mr. 
Lin was admitted as Honorary Fellow by The Professional Validation 
Centre of Hong Kong Business Sector in July 2017.

Ms. Jiang Hongmei ( ), aged 48, was appointed as an 
executive Director with effect from 25 March 2025. Ms. Jiang 
has been the deputy general manager of CMHT since October 
2024. Ms. Jiang graduated from the Institute of Geochemistry 
Chinese Academy of Science, in 2005 with a doctoral degree in 
environmental geochemistry. Ms. Jiang joined China Merchants 
Group Limited and its subsidiaries in 2005. She worked in China 
Merchants Chongqing Communications Technology Research 
& Design Institute Co., Ltd. and served as the assistant to the 
department head and deputy head of the relevant departments 
of China Merchants Group Limited. Ms. Jiang had served as 
a supervisor of China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. 
(601872.SH) since April 2019 and submitted her resignation in 
February 2025.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Sze Irons ( ), B.B.S., J.P. , aged 63, was appointed as an 
independent non-executive Director with effect from 18 December 
2018. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and 
a member of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit 
Committee”).

Mr. Sze has extensive experience in investment and corporate 
management. He serves as an independent non-executive director 
in various listed companies in Hong Kong. He serves as (i) an 
independent non-executive director, a member of the audit 
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of 
Continental Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 513) since October 2008; (ii) 
an independent non-executive director of Chevalier International 
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 25) since November 2016 and has been 
appointed as a member of the audit committee since February 
2019; (iii) an independent non-executive director, a member of 
the audit committee, a member of the remuneration committee 
and a member of the nomination committee of Redco Healthy 
Living Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2370) since March 2022; (iv) 
an independent non-executive director, a member of the audit 
committee, a member of the nomination committee and a member 
of the remuneration committee of Forward Fashion (International) 
Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2528) since July 2022; (v) an 
independent non-executive director of Tongda Group Holdings 
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange 
(stock code: 0698) since May 2023; (vi) an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the nomination committee and 
a member of the audit committee of WebX International Holdings 
Company Limited (formerly known as ST International Holdings 
Company Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 8521) from April 2018 to December 2023; 
and (vii) an independent non-executive director, the chairman of 
the nomination committee, a member of the audit committee 
and a member of the remuneration committee of Jianzhong 
Construction Development Limited, a company listed on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 589) from February 2020 
to November 2023.
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Mr. Sze was appointed as a Justice of the Peace and awarded the 
Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) in 2011 and 2015 respectively. 
He is a member of the Standing Committee of The 14th National 
Committee of the Chinese People’s Polit ical Consultative 
Conference* (“CPPCC”) ( ); a 
Standing Committee member of the Beijing Municipal Committee 
of the CPPCC* ( ); 
Convenor of the Hong Kong Region; the Permanent Honorary 
President an of the HKCPPCC (Provincial) Members Association 
Limited* ( ); a member 
of the Labour Advisory Board of the Government of the HKSAR; 
the Permanent Honorary President of the Chinese Manufacturers’ 
Association of Hong Kong; the chairman of the Mainland Business 
Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development 
Council; a council member of the Hong Kong Repertory Theatre; 
a member of the University of Hong Kong Council; President of 
Federation of Hong Kong Beijing Organisations; and Vice President 
and Secretary of Friends of Hong Kong Association. Mr. Sze was 
also elected as a member of the Election Committee of the Chief 
Executive of the HKSAR in 2016.

Mr. Sze graduated from the University of Wisconsin – La Crosse in 
the United States of America with a Bachelor of Science Degree in 
May 1985.

Ms. Choy So Yuk ( ), B.B.S., J.P. , aged 74, was appointed 
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 18 
December 2018. She is also a member of each of the Audit 
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Governance 
Committee. Ms. Choy obtained her Bachelor of Science degree and 
Master of Philosophy degree from The University of Hong Kong in 
1974 and 1980 respectively. She was a deputy of the 11th, 12th 
and 13th National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of 
China from 2008 to 2023. She was a member of the Legislative 
Council of Hong Kong from 1998 to 2008. She was appointed the 
Justice of the Peace in 2005 and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia 
Star by the Government of the Hong Kong in 2013.
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Ms. Choy is currently an independent non-executive director of 
Jutal Offshore Oil Services Limited (stock code: 3303.HK), a listed 
company in Hong Kong. She was an independent non-executive 
director of Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited (stock code: 988. 
HK) from June 2009 to September 2023, a listed company in Hong 
Kong. She was also an independent non-executive director of 
Evershine Group Holdings Limited (a company previously listed on 
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8022.HK but was delisted in 
October 2022), from May 2015 to January 2021.

Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly ( ), JP , aged 54, was appointed 
as an independent non-executive Director since 11 August 2023. 
She is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of 
the Nomination Committee. Ms. Chan is currently the managing 
director of Peony Consulting Services Limited, a company which is 
principally engaged in provision of business advisory services. Ms. 
Chan is also an independent non-executive director of Aluminum 
Corporation of China Limited, the H shares of which are listed 
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2600.HK) and the A shares 
of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 
601600.SH), an independent non-executive director of China 
Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which 
are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 144.HK) and an 
independent non- executive director of Morimatsu International 
Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which are listed on the 
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2155.HK).

In October 2020, Ms. Chan was appointed as a Justice of the Peace 
by the government of the HKSAR in recognition of her remarkable 
public services and contribution to the community. In March 2022, 
Ms. Chan was awarded with Advocacy Award for the China region 
by the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA“) 
in recognition of her relentless support for the accountancy 
profession. Ms. Chan was the president of ACCA Hong Kong from 
2008 to 2009 and was the president of the Association of Women 
Accountants Hong Kong (“AWAHK“) from 2020 to 2021. She is 
currently the council member of AWAHK and the vice chairman of 
Shenzhen Hong Kong Macau Women Directors Alliance.
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Ms. Chan obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in accountancy from the 
City Polytechnic of Hong Kong (currently known as City University 
of Hong Kong) in 1992. She is a fellow member of ACCA and 
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. She has over 31 years of 
experience in financial and business management. Ms. Chan was 
previously responsible for management at various multinational 
corporations at LVMH Moet Hennessy Louis Vuitton and Heineken 
Group. Ms. Chan has also served at branches of Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu in Hong Kong and the United States.

Ms. Chan was appointed as a member of the Hong Kong Housing 
Authority and a member of the Town Planning Board respectively, 
each for a period of two years from 1 April 2024. She was also 
appointed as a member of the Environment & Conservation Fund 
Committee for a period of two years from October 2024. Ms. 
Chan is currently the chairperson of the Employees’ Compensation 
Insurance Levies Management Board. She also serves on the 
boards of the Air Transport Licensing Authority and United 
College Trustees of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Ms. 
Chan was previously a member of the Council of The Chinese 
University of Hong Kong, Education Commission, Quality Education 
Fund Steering Committee, Harbourfront Commission, Advisory 
Committee on Arts Development of Hong Kong, the board of 
the Inland Revenue Department, the Independent Commission 
on Remuneration for Members of the Executive Council and the 
Legislature, and officials under the Political Appointment System 
of Hong Kong, Hospital Governing Committee of the Buddhist 
Hospital, Hospital Governing Committee of the Rehabaid Centre, 
the Kowloon Regional Advisory Committee of the Hospital 
Authority, Occupational Safety and Health Council and the board 
of directors of Ocean Park Hong Kong.

Dr. Gao Wei ( ), aged 58, was appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director on 28 August 2023. He is also a 
chairman of the Governance Committee and a member of the 
Nomination Committee. He is currently the company secretary of 
Zhongguancun Science-tech Leasing Co., Ltd. (

), the H shares of which are listed on the main board of 
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1601. HK). Dr. Gao has extensive 
experience in corporate financing and managing overseas-
listed companies. He first joined the The Hong Kong Chartered 
Governance Institute (formerly known as the Hong Kong Institute 
of Chartered Secretaries) Council in 2013 and served as a Vice-
President from 2014 to 2020 and 2022 to 2023. He is the Chief 
representative of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute 
Beijing Representative Office from 1 January 2024.
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Dr. Gao now serves as an independent non-executive director 
of Guolian Securities Co., Ltd., ( ), the H 
shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange 
(stock code: 1456.HK) and the A shares of which are listed on 
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601456.SH), and an 
independent non-executive director of AK Medical Holdings 
Limited (stock code: 1789. HK). He served as one of the vice 
chairman of the board secretary committee of China Association 
of Public Companies ( ) from November 2015 
to November 2018. He served as a director of Sinotrans Air 
Transportation Development Co., Ltd. (

), a company previously listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange 
(stock code: 600270.SH) from November 2011 to June 2019 and 
the general manager of the company from January 2016 to June 
2019, primarily responsible for overall operation and management, 
and he served as the legal representative of the company from 
January 2017 to August 2019. He served as the board secretary 
and company secretary of Sinotrans Limited (

), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0598.
HK) from January 2003 to December 2016, primarily responsible 
for secretarial work; he served as the general counsel of Sinotrans 
Limited from January 2010 to June 2019, primarily responsible for 
legal affairs.

Dr. Gao obtained a bachelor’s degree in management engineering 
from University of Science and Technology Beijing (

) in 1989, and further obtained a master’s degree in economics 
from Central University of Finance and Economics ( ) 
in 1993. He obtained a doctor’s degree in law from University of 
International Business and Economics ( ) in 1999. 
Dr. Gao was accredited as a PRC lawyer by the Ministry of Justice 
of the People’s Republic of China in 1996. He is a fellow member 
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and 
The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Dr. 
Gao is also an arbitrator of each of China International Economic 
and Trade Arbitration Commission, China Maritime Arbitration 
Commission, Beijing Arbitration Commission and Shanghai 
Arbitration Commission.

* The English translation of the name in this section is for reference only. The 
official name of the entity is in Chinese.
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Ms. Chan, Ka Lai ( ), aged 38, is the chief financial officer 
and company secretary of the Group. Ms. Chan joined the Group 
in August 2023. She is primarily responsible for overseeing the 
overall financial position and accounting matters of the Group 
and overseeing corporate governance and maintaining risk 
management and internal control system. Ms. Chan is a member 
of Hong Kong Institutes of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Chan 
holds a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the Hong Kong 
Baptist University. Prior to joining the Group, she was the deputy 
general manager of Finance Department of CMHT.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of 
corporate governance in accordance with the principles of good 
corporate governance, to formulate good corporate governance 
practice for improvement of accountability and transparency in 
operations, and to strengthen the internal control system from 
time to time so as to ensure we meet the expectations of the 
Shareholders.

During the Financial Year under Review, the Company has adopted 
and complied with all applicable code provisions in the Corporate 
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to 
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange 
(the “Listing Rules”).

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are 
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance 
of power and authority, so that power is not concentrated in any 
one individual. Mr. Li Guanpeng, the chairman of the Company 
and an executive Director, is responsible for formulating the 
Group’s strategic planning and the overall business development 
and overseeing overall management and operation of the Group, 
while Mr. Hui Chi Kwan, the chief executive officer of the Group 
and an executive Director, is responsible for overseeing day-to- 
day management of the Group and reporting to and executing 
decisions from the Board. There is a clear division of responsibilities 
between the chairman and the chief executive officer.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) 
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of 
conduct governing the securities transactions by the Directors. 
Following a specific enquiry made by the Company on the 
Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they had complied 
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the 
Financial Year under Review.

C1

C3
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1. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising 
the overall management of the Group’s business. The Board is 
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company 
by providing effective leadership and direction to its business, 
formulating group policies and business directions, monitoring 
internal controls and performances, and ensuring transparency and 
accountability of its operations. The powers and duties of the Board 
include convening general meetings and reporting the Board’s 
work at the Shareholders’ meetings, determining the business and 
investment plans, preparing the periodic financial budgets and 
reports, preparing the financial accounts, overseeing the financial 
reporting process, formulating proposals for profit distributions 
and exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred 
by the memorandum and articles of association (“Articles of 
Association”) of the Company. The Board has established Board 
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various 
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference 
which are published on the respective websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company.

The Company has established relevant mechanisms to ensure 
independent views and input are available to the Board and 
conducted review of such mechanisms on an annual basis. 
Members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive 
Directors who are able to bring independent and objective views to 
the Board.

The mechanism is disclosed below:

1. The Board ensures the appointment of at least three 
independent non-executive Directors and at least one-third 
of its members being independent non-executive Directors 
(or such higher threshold as may be required by the Listing 
Rules from time to time), with at least one independent 
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional 
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management 
expertise. Further, independent non-executive Directors will be 
appointed to board committees as required under the Listing 
Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent views 
are available.
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2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

2. The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the Nomination 
Policy with regard to the nomination and appointment of 
independent non-executive Directors, and is mandated to 
assess annually the independence of independent non- 
executive Directors to ensure that they can continually exercise 
independent judgement.

3. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related 
elements will be granted to independent non-executive 
Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making and 
compromise their objectivity and independence.

4. The Board assesses and reviews the time contributed by each 
independent non-executive Director and their attendance to 
meetings of the Board and the board committees so as to 
ensure that every independent non-executive Director has 
devoted sufficient time to the Board to discharge his/her 
responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

5. The Directors, upon reasonable request, may seek external 
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense, 
to assist the performance of their duties.

6. The chairman meets with the independent non-executive 
Directors regularly without the presence of the other Directors 
to discuss matters relating to the Group.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and are 
entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate 
circumstances at the Company’s expense.

The management of the Company is accountable to the Board 
and performs the following major duties: reporting to the Board, 
executing the resolutions of the Board, and completing all the tasks 
assigned by the Board.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises the following Directors during the Financial 
Year under Review:

Executive Directors

Directors Gender Age
Length of 

service (years)

    
Li Guanpeng (Chairman) Male 58 1.4

( )
Hui Chi Kwan (Chief executive officer) 
 (appointed with effect from 12 April 2024)

Male 47 0.7

 
Cui Qian Female 54 1.4

Lu Rong Male 45 1.4

Liu Yunfeng Male 55 1.4

Huang Shengchao Male 53 1.4

Wang Kanglin Female 40 1.4

Lin Tsz Fung Male 53 6.9

Hui Ngai Fan (resigned with effect from 12 April 2024) Female 46 6.2

Independent non-executive Directors 

Directors Gender Age
Length of 

service (years)

    
Sze Irons Male 63 6.0

Choy So Yuk Female 74 6.0

Chan Yuen Sau Kelly Female 54 1.4

Gao Wei Male 58 1.3
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3.10(1) (2) 3.10A

3.13

3.13

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the 
section headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior 
Management” of this report.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs 
of the Group. Ms. Hui Ngai Fan, a former executive Director who 
resigned with effect from 12 April 2024, is the sister of Mr. Hui 
Chi Kwan, an executive Director appointed with effect from 12 
April 2024 and the chief executive officer of the Group. Save as 
disclosed above, there was no financial, business, family or other 
material relationship among the Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors have extensive experience 
in different areas or professions and will give independent advice 
to the Board from time to time. By their active participation in 
Board meeting and by their service on various Board committees, 
the independent non-executive Directors contribute in important 
ways to the making of the Group. The terms of appointment of the 
independent non- executive Directors are set out on page 105 to 
106 of this report.

During the Financial Year under Review, the Board had at all 
times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A 
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three 
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third 
of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a 
confirmation of independence in writing pursuant to Rule 3.13 
of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company 
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are 
independent and have met the independence guidelines set out 
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the Financial Year under 
Review.
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*2 

14

BOARD MEETING

The Board scheduled eight meetings during the Financial Year 
under Review. The attendance of each Director for Board meetings 
and general meetings is set out as follows:

Number of 
Board meetings 
attended during 

the Director’s 
term of office 

in the Financial 
Year under 

Review
Attendance 

rate

Number of 
general 

meetings 
attended during 

the Director’s 
term of office

Attendance 
rate

Name of Director      
Li Guanpeng 7/8 88% 1/1 100%
Hui Chi Kwan*1 *1 4/5 80% 1/1 100%
Cui Qian 7/8 88% 0/1 0%
Lu Rong 7/8 88% 0/1 0%
Liu Yunfeng 7/8 88% 0/1 0%
Huang Shengchao 8/8 100% 0/1 0%
Wang Kanglin 8/8 100% 0/1 0%
Lin Tsz Fung 8/8 100% 0/1 0%
Hui Ngai Fan*2 *2 2/2 100% N/A N/A

Sze Irons 7/8 88% 1/1 100%
Choy So Yuk 8/8 100% 1/1 100%
Chan Yuen Sau Kelly 8/8 100% 1/1 100%
Gao Wei 8/8 100% 1/1 100%

*1 Mr. Hui Chi Kwan was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 12 
April 2024.

*2 Ms. Hui Ngai Fan resigned as an executive Director with effect from 12 April 
2024.

The Company expects to hold at least four Board meetings per year 
at approximately quarterly intervals, with special Board meetings 
being scheduled as required. Formal notice of at least 14 days will 
be given in respect of a regular meeting, while for special Board 
meetings, reasonable notice will be given.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit 
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination 
Committee and the Governance Committee to assist in carrying 
out its responsibilities and functions. Each of these committees 
has specific written terms of reference setting out its duties and 
authorities, and are available for review on the respective websites 
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The committees have 
sufficient resources to execute their requisite duties and enjoy the 
support of the management.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board 
by providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the 
financial reporting process, internal control and risk management 
system of the Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and 
review the policies and to perform other duties and responsibilities 
as assigned by the Board. The Audit Committee comprises three 
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Sze Irons, Ms. 
Choy So Yuk and Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly. The chairman of the 
Audit Committee is Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. Five meetings 
were held during the Financial Year under Review. The attendance 
rate of each member is set out as follows:

Number of 
Audit Committee 

meetings 
attended during 

the Director’s 
term of office 

in the Financial 
Year under 

Review Attendance rate

Name of Director    
Sze Irons 4/5 80%
Choy So Yuk 4/5 80%
Chan Yuen Sau Kelly 5/5 100%
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(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(i)

(ii)
(iii)

(iv)

During the Financial Year under Review, the Audit Committee 
mainly performed the following:

(i) reviewed the financial reports for the nine months ended 31 
December 2023 and for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

(ii) reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and internal 
control systems;

(iii) reviewed the external auditor’s audit plan and terms of 
engagement;

(iv) reviewed and recommended for approval by the Board the 
2024 audit fees.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but 
without limitation): (i) making recommendations to the Directors 
regarding the policy and structure for the remuneration of all 
the Directors and senior management of the Group and on the 
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policies; (ii) making recommendations to the 
Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior 
management; (iii) reviewing and approving the management’s 
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate 
goals and objectives; and (iv) considering and approving the grant 
of share options to eligible participants pursuant to the Share 
Option Scheme. The Remuneration Committee comprises two 
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director, 
namely, Mr. Sze Irons, Ms. Choy So Yuk, and Mr. Lu Rong. The 
chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Sze Irons.
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(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

During the Financial Year under Review, the Remuneration 
Committee held three meetings to review matters related to the 
performance and remuneration structure of the Directors and 
senior management of the Company. The attendance rate of each 
member is set out as follows:

Number of 
Remuneration 

Committee 
meetings 

attended during 
the Director’s 
term of office 

in the Financial 
Year under 

Review Attendance rate

Name of Director    
Sze Irons 2/3 67%
Choy So Yuk 3/3 100%
Lu Rong 2/3 67%

During the Financial Year under Review, the Renumeration 
Committee mainly performed the following:

(i) conducted an annual review of the policy and packages of 
remuneration for executive Directors, non-executive Directors 
and senior management based on their performance;

(ii) considered, reviewed and approved the performance bonus 
for the Directors and senior management of the Group;

(iii) reviewed and approved the terms of service contracts and 
remuneration packages to an executive Director newly 
appointed.
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Nomination Committee

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of members of 
the Board. The Nomination Committee comprises two independent 
non-executive Directors and one executive Director, namely, Dr. 
Gao Wei, Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly and Mr. Li Guanpeng. The 
chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Li Guanpeng.

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and benefit 
to achieve diversity on the Board to corporate governance and 
board effectiveness. The Company sees increasing diversity at the 
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of 
its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In deciding 
the composition of the Board, the Company will consider the Board 
diversity from various perspectives with reference to the Company’s 
business model and specific needs, including but not limited to 
gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational 
background, industry experience and professional experience.

All appointments of the Board are based on meritocracy, and 
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having 
due regard for the benefits of a balance of skills, experience and 
diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee has primary 
responsibility for identifying suitably qualified candidates to become 
members of the Board and shall give adequate consideration to 
this policy in selection of board candidates. To ensure changes to 
the Board composition can be managed without undue disruption, 
a formal, considered and transparent procedure is in place for 
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors. The 
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit and 
objective criteria, including his/her ability to dedicate sufficient 
time and attention to the Company’s affairs, contribute to the 
diversity of the Board as set out in the Board diversity policy as 
well as effectively support the Board of their responsibilities, in 
order to determine whether a candidate is qualified before making 
recommendations to the Board.
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1,230 862
368

2:1

 

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives (including 
gender diversity) as set out in the Board diversity policy. As at 31 
December 2024, our Board comprised twelve members, including 
two female executive Directors and two female independent non-
executive Directors. Going forward, the Company will continue to 
maintain gender diversity on the Board through certain measures 
to be implemented by our Nomination Committee in accordance 
with our board diversity policy and nomination policy. Through the 
Board diversity policy of the Company and the annual assessment 
by Nomination Committee on the Board structure, the Company 
could develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to 
achieve gender diversity.

Workforce Diversity

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 1,230 (including 
senior management) employees, including 862 female and 368 
male employees, representing a female-to-male ratio of 2:1, which 
demonstrated a gender balance in the Group’s workforce. Gender 
is neutral in the Group’s recruitment process as no position requires 
any particular capability or skill that is regarded as better performed 
by one gender than another.

During the Financial Year under Review, the Nomination Committee 
held two meetings. The attendance rate of each member is set out 
as follows:

Number of 
Nomination 
Committee 

meetings 
attended during 

the Director’s 
term of office 

in the Financial 
Year under 

Review Attendance rate

Name of Director    
Li Guanpeng 2/2 100%
Chan Yuen Sau Kelly 2/2 100%
Gao Wei 2/2 100%
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(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

During the Financial Year under Review, the Nomination Committee 
mainly performed the following:

(i) reviewed the Board diversity policy;

(ii) reviewed and assessed the structure, size and composition 
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board 
and its effectiveness;

(iii) assessed the independence of independent non-executive 
Directors and confirmed that all independent non-executive 
Directors are considered independent;

(iv) proposed the Directors for re-election at the annual general 
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”);

(v) made recommendations to the Board on the appointment of 
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan as Director.

The Nomination Committee will continue to review the implementation 
and effectiveness of the Board diversity policy on an annual basis, 
and discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend 
any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Governance Committee

The primary duties of the Governance Committee include (but 
without limitation): (i) to investigate into any matters that the 
Board determines necessary or appropriate, and to report to the 
Board; (ii) to guide and supervise on the legal and compliance and 
risk management works of the Company, and to strengthen the 
legal and compliant operational management of the Company; 
(iii) to develop, review and amend the Company’s policies and 
practices on corporate governance, legal and compliance and 
risk management, and to make recommendations to the Board 
and monitor their implementations; and (iv) to review the 
Company’s compliance with the code of conduct and disclosure 
in the corporate governance report. The Governance Committee 
comprises two independent non-executive Directors and one 
executive Director, namely, Dr. Gao Wei, Ms. Choy So Yuk, and 
Mr. Lu Rong. The chairman of the Governance Committee is Dr. 
Gao Wei.
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(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

During the Financial Year under Review, the Governance 
Committee held one meeting and the attendance rate of each 
member is set out as follows:

Number of
Governance
Committee

meetings
attended during

the Director’s
term of office

in the Financial 
Year under 

Review Attendance rate

Name of Director    
Gao Wei 1/1 100%
Choy So Yuk 1/1 100%
Lu Rong 1/1 100%

During the Financial Year under Review, the Governance 
Committee mainly performed the following:

(i) engaged external legal advisors to conduct an internal 
investigation in relation to an incident. For details of the 
incident, please refer to the announcements of the Company 
dated 18 August 2024 and 29 October 2024;

(ii) reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate 
governance and making recommendations to the Board;

(iii) reviewed and monitored the training and continuous 
professional development of the Directors and senior 
management; 

(iv) reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices 
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; 

(v) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and 
disclosure in this report. 
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1

1  

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company 
dated 18 August 2024 and 29 October 2024. As disclosed in 
said announcements, the Company’s external legal advisers (the 
“Investigator”) were engaged to conduct an internal investigation 
(the “Internal Investigation”) to independently review and assess 
the relevant information regarding the Incident and report to the 
Governance Committee and the Board. The Internal Investigation 
has been completed. Based on the information available to the 
Investigator, the Investigator considered that, among other things, 
there was no evidence to suggest that the Incident was related to 
the Group’s business or funds. The Governance Committee and the 
Board have given due consideration to the findings and adopted 
the findings accordingly. (Note 1)

Note 1: For the avoidance of doubt, nothing contained herein shall be construed 
as a waiver of legal professional privilege on behalf of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITIES INSURANCE

During the Financial Year under Review, the Company had 
arranged for appropriate and adequate insurance cover to protect 
the Directors from legal action arising from the performance of 
their duties as a Director. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and 
renewed by the Board on an annual basis.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration of the 
Group’s senior management (excluding the Directors) fell within 
the following bands:

Number

   
Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 –

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 2,000,000 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 3,000,000 –

HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 4,000,000 –

HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 5,000,000 –

HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,000,001 6,000,000 –
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C.1.4

1) 

2) 

3) 

4) 

5) 

A.2.1

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and 
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and 
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed 
and relevant. Pursuant to the CG Code C.1.4, all Directors should 
participate in appropriate continuous professional development to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All Directors are 
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s 
expenses. All Directors have participated in continuous professional 
development and provided a record of training they received for 
the Financial Year under Review to the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the 
collective responsibility of the Directors though having delegated 
the corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee and 
Governance Committee which include, but are not limited to:

1) deve loping and rev iewing the Company’ s po l ic ies 
and pract ices on corporate governance and making 
recommendations to the Board;

2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous 
professional development of the Directors and senior 
management;

3) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and 
pract ices on compl iance with lega l and regulatory 
requirements;

4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct 
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and 
the Directors; and

5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and 
disclosure in this report.

During the Financial Year under Review, the Audit Committee and 
Governance Committee fulfilled the requirement of code provision 
A.2.1.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration that should be paid to the current 
external auditor of the Company, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, 
for the audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 
December 2024 is set out below:

Nature of Service Fees Paid/Payable

HK$

   
Audit services 1,200
Non-audit services 250   

Total 1,450
   

The above fees for non-audit services mainly represent the fees for 
the auditor’s service in relation to the review of the Company’s 
interim results.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibil it ies for the 
preparation of the financial statements of the Company for the 
year ended 31 December 2024, and confirmed that the financial 
statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with 
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The 
Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information 
and belief, and having made all reasonable enquiries, they are 
not aware of any undisclosed material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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• 

• 

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Ka Lai was appointed as the company secretary of the 
Company on 1 January 2024. Ms. Chan Ka Lai is the chief financial 
officer of the Company and a member of Hong Kong Institutes of 
Certified Public Accountants. She has taken no less than 15 hours 
of relevant professional training as required by the Listing Rules.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company has adopted a series of internal control policies and 
has implemented risk management policies to address various 
potential risks identified in relation to the Group’s operations, 
including operational risks, credit risks, market risks, financial risks 
and legal risks.

• The risk management and internal control systems adopted 
by the Company are designed to manage rather than to 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives 
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

• The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
internal control systems and procedures for compliance 
with the requirements prescribed by the applicable laws, 
rules and regulations. The Board is responsible for the risk 
management and internal control systems of the Company, 
and through the Audit Committee, conducts an annual 
review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems in its financial, operational 
and compliance controls and risk management functions. 
If defects are discovered during the review, the Board and 
the chief executive officer will review such defects and make 
corresponding plans to resolve them, taking into consideration 
the available resources.
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• The Company does not have an internal audit function but will 
review the need for one annually. Given the Group’s simple 
operating structure, the management is of the opinion that 
instead of setting up an internal audit department, it would 
be more cost effective to engage an independent external 
professional party to review on an annual basis the internal 
control systems and measures of the Group and report to the 
Audit Committee. Furthermore, a compliance team which 
includes the chief financial officer has been established to 
organise, review and maintain the internal control system and 
to provide assistance to the Directors, senior management and 
employees with respect to the internal control policies. The 
Company convenes meetings periodically to discuss financial, 
operational, compliance and risk management control.

• The Directors and senior management keep track of day-to- 
day operations and monitor any associated operational risks of 
the Group and formulate policies and resolutions to mitigate 
or resolve these risks.

• Trainings are provided to relevant employees in order 
to enhance their industry knowledge and to encourage 
encompassing culture of risk management to ensure that 
the relevant employees are aware of and responsible for risk 
management.

• During the Financial Year under Review, the Company has 
engaged external legal advisers to advise the Company on 
compliance with and provide updates on the changes in the 
Listing Rules and the applicable Hong Kong laws, rules and 
regulations from time to time and as required.

• The Company has established procedures and internal controls 
for the handling and dissemination of inside information, to 
ensure that inside information and sensitive information in 
relation to the Company will remain confidential until the 
disclosure of such information is appropriately approved.

The Board is of the opinion that the Group’s risk management and 
internal control systems were adequate and effective during the 
Financial Year under Review.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has no fixed dividend policy specifying a dividend 
payout ratio. The amount of any dividends to be declared will be 
subject to the decision of the Board and will depend on, among 
others, the Group’s results of operations, available cashflows, 
financial condition, operating and capital requirements, the 
Articles of Association, the Companies Laws, applicable laws and 
regulations and any other factors that the Directors deem relevant. 
Dividends may only be paid out of the distributable profits of the 
Company as permitted under the applicable laws and shall not 
exceed the amount determined by the Board.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ 
Meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make proposals 
or make a motion at the AGMs under the Articles of Association or 
the laws of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to make 
proposals or motions may, however, convene an extraordinary 
general meeting of the Company (the “EGM”) in accordance with 
the “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM” set out 
below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

In accordance with article 57 of the Articles of Association, an EGM 
shall be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders 
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one- 
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of 
voting at the general meetings of the Company. Such requisition 
shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary 
for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for 
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such 
meeting should be held within two months after the deposit of 
such requisition.
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Any requisition to convene an EGM or proposal to be put forward 
at the general meeting can be addressed to the Company’s 
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 11th Floor, C-Bons 
International Center, No. 108 Wai Yip Street, Kowloon, Hong 
Kong, marked with the attention of the Board or the company 
secretary of the Company. The requisitionists must state in 
their requisition(s) the objects of the EGM to be convened, and 
such requisition must be signed by all the requisitionists. Upon 
receipt, the Company will verify the requisitionists’ particulars and 
shareholding and if the requisition is in order, the Company will 
convene the EGM in accordance with the Articles of Association. 
On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order, 
the requisitionists concerned will be advised of the outcome and 
accordingly, the Board will not convene the EGM and/or include the 
proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the requisitionists 
at the EGM.

Communications with Shareholders

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy 
to ensure effective communication with Shareholders. Under the 
policy, the Company’s information shall be communicated to the 
Shareholders through general meetings, including AGMs, the 
Company’s corporate communications (including, but not limited 
to, the annual report, the interim report, notices of meeting, 
circulars and proxy forms), information and materials on the 
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of 
the Shareholders’ communication policy including steps taken at 
the AGMs and the handling of queries received (if any) which were 
conducted during the Financial Year under Review and considered 
the Shareholders’ communication policy to be effective and 
adequate.

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions, request for publicly 
available information and provide comments and suggestions to 
the Directors or the management of the Company. Such questions, 
requests and comments can be addressed to the Company by mail 
to 11th Floor, C-Bons International Center, No. 108 Wai Yip Street, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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183 17M (852) 2862–

8555

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings 
by mail to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, 
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or 
by telephone at (852) 2862–8555, who has been appointed by the 
Company to deal with Shareholders regarding share registration 
and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Financial Year under Review, there were no changes 
to the constitutional documents of the Company. An up-to-date 
version of the Articles of Association (in both English and Chinese)
is available on the websites of both the Company and the Stock 
Exchange.
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Overview

The Company recognizes the s ignif icance of sustainable 
development in the Group’s business operations regarding the 
environment and the well-being of the community. The Group is 
committed to considering environmental, social and governance 
aspects through integrating them into its business operations, as 
well as promoting sustainability in its business activities.

The Group, as a responsible corporation, recognizes its role in 
promoting industry sustainability and has adopted sustainability 
features in its business operations. In order to develop its 
sustainability plan, the Group intends to strengthen partnerships 
with key stakeholders in the future.

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social, 
and Governance (“ESG”) report (the “Report”). This Report 
summarizes the Group’s ESG initiatives, plans, and performances 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“Financial Year under 
Review”) and demonstrates its commitment to sustainable 
development.

Reporting Scope

The Group’s business operations consisted of head office, 
warehouse and retail stores located in Hong Kong, Macau and 
Mainland China in the Financial Year under Review. The reporting 
boundary is restricted to operations which contributed the major 
source of revenue to the Group during the Financial Year under 
Review. There were no major assets excluded from the reporting 
boundary.

Reporting Basis

The Report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental, 
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting 
Guide”) set out in the Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules. In 
preparation of the Report, the Group strictly adhered to the 
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency to 
disclose the ESG-related measures and performances.

ESG

C2
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C1

Reporting Principles

In preparation of this Report, our Group has conducted due 
diligence to adhere to the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG 
Reporting Guide:

• Materiality – The materiality assessment has ensured the 
Report addresses the most material ESG topics pertaining to 
our businesses.

• Quantitative – The Report strives to disclose quantitative 
metrics and related targets whenever possible, to demonstrate 
our impact. The quantitative KPI and the information on the 
standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation 
tools used for the quantitative KPI, and the source of 
conversion factors being used are, where applicable, disclosed 
in the Report.

• Balance – The Report presents an unbiased representation of 
our ESG management approach and performance. It avoids 
misleading omissions and presentation.

• Consistency – Whenever deemed material, the Report details 
the standards, tools, assumptions and/or source of conversion 
factors used, as well as explanations of any inconsistencies to 
previous reports.

The corporate governance disclosure of the Group was prepared 
in accordance with all applicable code provisions set out in the 
Corporate Governance Code under Appendix C1 of the Listing 
Rules. Information regarding the Group’s corporate governance 
was set out separately in the “Corporate Governance Report” in 
this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENT

We consider ESG commitments to be part of our responsibilities 
and are committed to incorporating ESG factors into our decision- 
making process. The Board takes the overall responsibility for the 
oversight of the Group’s ESG matters, including policies, measures, 
performance and risks, and is committed to incorporating ESG 
considerations into its business operations, and pledges to improve 
the sustainability performance through resources optimisation in 
the operation. Specifically, the Board is charged with strategizing 
and implementing ESG action plans, as well as reviewing and 
discussing target-setting, performance, opportunities and risks. The 
Board regularly listens to and reviews reports on the progress and 
major issues of ESG work. The Board integrates ESG concepts into 
daily operations, and prioritizes and manages ESG-related matters 
and internal and external risks based on macro policy analysis, 
internal strategic planning and communication with stakeholders.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Maintaining effective communication and relationship with our 
stakeholders is critical and essential to our Group’s continuing 
success. Through stakeholder engagement, we are able to 
better understand and gauge their expectations thus allowing 
development of our ESG strategies. The Group connects with 
external and internal partners including employees, customers, 
investors, suppliers, business partners, and non-governmental 
organisations (“NGOs”) through a wide range of communication 
channels such as emails, press releases, meetings and site visits, etc. 
Apart from the AGM, the Group shares its ESG performance with 
the investors and shareholders and collects their feedback through 
online meetings, sharing, emails, surveys and press conferences. 
We ensure stakeholder inclusiveness in our sustainability decision- 
making and priority concerns.

$

CustomersGovernments

SuppliersInvestors
供應商投資者

顧客政府

社區僱員
CommunitiesEmployees

Best Mart 
360˚

優品360˚

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ comments and suggestions on 
its sustainability performance and disclosure. If any stakeholder has 
any feedback or suggestions on the Report, please send them to 
the Company’s registered office by post (11/F, C-Bons International 
Center, 108 Wai Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong) or 
to our email address at info@bestmart360.com. Your feedback or 
suggestions would be immensely helpful to the Group’s continuous 
improvement in its sustainability performance.

108
11

info@bestmart360.com  
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The issues listed below are considered by the Board to be material 
and relevant to the Group’s various environmental and social issues 
considered under the ESG Reporting Guide. Through peer group 
and ESG framework benchmarking, the materiality of each ESG 
topic was determined. This has enabled the Group to prioritise our 
ESG actions and allocate resources more effectively. To facilitate 
comprehensive understanding of the stakeholders, our ESG report 
discloses on all of the topics.

(A) 

MaterialityESG Aspects as set forth in ESG Reporting Guide

Environmental

A1   Emissions

A2   Use of Resources

A3   Environment and Natural Resources

A4   Climate Change

Medium

Medium

Medium

Medium

排放物

資源使用

環境及天然資源

氣候變化

中

中

中

中

環境

環境、社會及管治報告指引所載的環境、社會及管治層面 重要性

(B) B1   Employment

B2   Health and Safety

B3   Development and Training

B4   Labour Standards

B5   Supply Chain Management

B6   Product Responsibility

B7   Anti-corruption

B8   Community Investment

High

High

Medium

High

High

High

Medium

Medium

Social 僱傭

健康與安全

發展及培訓

勞工準則

供應鏈管理

產品責任

反貪污

社區投資

高

高

中

高

高

高

中

中

社會
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is committed to offering quality products in a 
manner that ensures a safe and healthy workplace for the 
Group’s employees and minimises the Group’s potential 
impact on the environment. The Group will operate in 
compliance with all relevant environmental legislation and it 
strives to use pollution prevention and environmental best 
practices throughout its operations.

The Group’s environmental policy therefore is to:

• Consider environmental concerns and impacts in our 
decision making and activities;

• Minimise the production of waste and then reuse or 
recycle as much of it as possible;

• Minimise energy use within our operat ions and 
processes in order to conserve supplies and minimize the 
consumption of natural resources;

• Where possible, purchase products and services that do 
the least damage to the environment;

• Educate and inform the Group’s employees about the 
environmental issues that may affect their work;

• Promote environmental awareness among the Group’s 
employees and encourage them to work in an 
environmentally responsible manner; and

• Communicate our environmental commitment to 
customers and the public and encourage them to 
support the Group’s environmental commitments.

The group is principally engaged in retail business in Hong 
Kong, Macau and Mainland China and its business operations 
do not directly generate industrial pollutants that are generally 
regarded as having a high environmental impact such as 
hazardous emissions, wastes or pollutants. The Group 
understands and respects its responsibility to the environment, 
and endeavours to achieve eco-fr iendly operat ions 
and conservation of resources in pursuit of sustainable 
development.
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During the Financial Year under Review, the Group had not 
been involved in any material non-compliance issues in respect 
of any applicable laws and regulations on environmental 
protection.

A.1 Emissions

Air emission

The Group does not directly produce air emissions. The 
major source of air emissions is the transportation of 
products in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China. 
The Group has engaged several external logistic service 
companies including a Hong Kong logistic company, and 
Macau and Mainland China shipping and logistic service 
companies to collect, distribute and/or deliver goods 
from the products’ arrival shipping terminal, airport and 
warehouse of the forwarders appointed by the Group’s 
overseas suppliers, to the warehouses and retail stores 
of the Group. As the logistic services are operated 
by independent third parties that are not owned by 
or controlled by the Group, therefore the retrieval of 
relevant data of such emissions in Hong Kong, Macau 
and Mainland China are not feasible. Instead, as a 
major client of our logistic partners, we engage in close 
collaboration with them to minimize the environmental 
impact of the transportation fleet through the following 
methods:

• streamline the logistic routing and maximise the 
loading capacity of each transportation vehicle;

• arrange delivery services to the retail stores in 
during non-peak hours;

• encourage our logistics partners to upgrade their 
fleet to meet the latest emission standards. For 
example, our Hong Kong logistic partner had 
upgraded all of its heavy-duty vehicles to the Euro 
VI emission standard in 2019; and

• ensure our logistics partners are operating in 
accordance with all prevailing environmental laws 
and regulations.
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2
A.2

1

Greenhouse gases (GHG) emission

The only source of GHG emission is Scope 2 GHG 
emissions, which were contributed by electricity 
consumption (for the exact usage, please refer to A.2 
Use of resources). Scope 1 GHG emissions typically 
include fuel usage from company-owned/controlled 
vehicles or equipment. The data below includes the head 
office, warehouse and retail stores in Hong Kong, Macau 
and Mainland China. The Group aims to reduce its GHG 
emissions in the coming year to levels below those of this 
year.

The GHG emission data is set out in the table below:

GHG emissions

4,612.66

4,615.64

1.65

Scope 1 Direct Emission

Scope 2 Indirect Emission

Total GHG emission

GHG intensity

截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度溫室氣體排放量
Year ended 31 December 2024

範圍1直接排放

範圍2間接排放

溫室氣體排放總量

溫室氣體密度

Unit

tonnes of CO2-e

單位

每噸二氧化碳當量

tonnes of CO2-e
每噸二氧化碳當量

tonnes of CO2-e

tonnes of CO2-e / revenue (HKD Million)

每噸二氧化碳當量

每噸二氧化碳當量╱收入（百萬港元）

2.98

Discharges into water and land

The disclosure of discharges into water and on land is 
not applicable to the Group as store and warehouse 
operations do not generate any waste discharges into 
water and on land.
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A.2 

10,253,739

7,317,185
40.1%

Non-recyclable Waste

Our waste is categorized as non-hazardous municipal 
waste. Depending on the local regulations and capabilities, 
we separate the non-recyclable from the recyclable waste. 
Waste volume is managed and tracked internally. We 
have a number of programs to raise staff’s awareness and 
introduce best practices on waste management, including 
that of the office, warehouse and frontline.

The details of the non-recyclable wastes are listed as 
follows:

Non-recyclable wastes

Disposable utensils from staff meal

General office wastes

不可回收廢物

一般辦公室廢物 

員工用餐時的一次性餐具

2.08

54.69

單位

tonnes

tonnes

Unit

噸 

噸 

We explore various methods for waste treatment, 
considering community needs and viable solutions 
tailored to different waste types. Moving forward, we 
will enhance our waste data collection processes, assess 
and transparently disclose relevant information, and 
gradually set appropriate targets on waste reduction.

A.2 Use of resources

The Group is committed to complying with all laws 
and regulations on managing the use of resources and 
strives to become a resource-saving and environmentally 
responsible enterprise through the implementation of 
various policies and procedures which aims to achieve 
higher efficiency in resource use and also reduction in 
the overall use of resources throughout the Group’s 
operations, where possible.

Use of energy

The major source of energy used by the Group is 
electricity, which is mainly used in the general lighting, 
air-conditioning and powering of computers, office 
equipment and other equipment in the retail stores, 
warehouse and office of the Group. The total energy 
consumption of the financial year ended 31 December 
2024 was 10,253,739 kWh (for the nine months ended 
31 December 2023: 7,317,185 kWh) which is 40.1% 
higher than that of the last reporting period and was 
due to expansion of the Group’s operations and change 
of the reporting period. The Group has also strived to 
enhance efficiency through various ways such as cleaning 
the air conditioners, and will continue to explore ways to 
improve energy efficiency in its daily operation.



77
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0

Annual Report 2024

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

1   

2   
2 ,805,146,000

1,930,831,000

The energy consumption data is set out in the table 
below.

 

Energy consumption

Year ended 
31 December 
2024

Unit
能源消耗量

截至二零二四年
十二月三十一日
止年度

Nine months
ended 31
December 2023
截至二零二三年
十二月三十一日
止九個月 單位

Hong Kong 

MacauIndirect energy Electricity
間接能源 電力

香港

澳門

中國內地

Total

Mainland China

Energy intensity (note 2) 

總計

能源密度（附註 2）

Total energy consumption (note 1)  

能源消耗總量（附註 1）

9,967,059

286,680

kWh

kWh

10,253,739

–

3,655.3

7,020,717

239,219

7,317,185

57,249

3,789.7

kWh

kWh/revenue

千瓦時

千瓦時

千瓦時

千瓦時

kWh

千瓦時╱收入
(HKD Million)

（百 萬 港 元）

Note 1:  The increase in consumption of electricity and the generation 
of carbon dioxide emissions for the Financial Year under Review 
as compared to that of last reporting period was mainly due 
to the increase in the number of retail stores of the Group in 
the Financial Year under Review and change of the reporting 
period. In addition, the Group increased the product categories 
to selling frozen foods, therefore more refrigerators are needed 
for storage which increased the energy consumption.

Note 2:  The revenues of the Financial Year under Review and the last 
reporting period are approximately HKD2,805,146,000 and 
HKD1,930,831,000, respectively.

Water consumption

Water usage in the Group’s business operation is minimal 
as the Group’s operation does not consume water. 
Water is mainly used by employees for drinking and 
personal hygiene purpose in the office, retail stores and 
warehouses of the Group and the usage was relatively 
insignificant. There was no issue in sourcing water that is 
fit for purpose.
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Packaging Material and other resources

The usage of packaging materials and other resources by 
the Group in its business operation, which are paper and 
plastic shopping bags, is listed as follows:

3,470

65

233,100

1,075

44,880

3,250,000

ream

ream

rolls

boxes

rolls

pieces

A4 Papers

A3 Papers

Thermal paper

Printer toner

Wrapping film

Plastic bags

tonnes

tonnes

tonnes

tonnes

tonnes

tonnes

A4 紙張

A3 紙張

熱敏紙

碳粉

包裝綑膜

塑膠袋

噸令

令

卷

盒

卷

卷

塊

塊

噸

噸

噸

噸

噸

噸

噸

9,653,761 piecesCarton boxes tonnes紙盒

2,494

8.12

0.40

18.66

0.09

92.45

66.17

4,391.30

3.40rollsLabel tonnes標籤

UnitResources
資源 單位 單位

Unit

The recycling of the resources is listed as follows:

0.10

4,391.30

70.33 76.1%

31.9%

100%

2.9%

2.59A4 Papers

Carton boxes

Wrapping film

Label

tonnes

tonnes

tonnes

tonnes

A4 紙張

包裝綑膜

紙盒

標籤

噸

噸

噸

噸

UnitResources
資源 單位 回收百分比

Recycling percentage
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A.3 Impacts on natural resources and management 
actions

The Group believes that corporate development should 
not come at the expense of the environment. The 
Group’s material impact on the environment and natural 
resources are in the form of electricity and material 
consumption, as well as waste generation. Other 
environmental impact such as noise pollution or impact 
to biodiversity is not material given the nature of our 
business activities. The following summarises our efforts 
in reducing our negative environmental impacts.

The Group has adopted the following measures for 
energy and resources saving during the Financial Year 
under Review:

• switch-off lighting, air-conditioning and computer 
monitors when leaving the office areas and 
workplaces to reduce electricity consumption;

• automatically switch off non-essential lighting in 
office areas and workspaces after office hours;

• install block-out curtains to keep out sunlight and 
heat during daytime and maintain a relatively lower 
room temperature;

• switch off all non-essential air-conditioning in 
retail stores when the retail stores are closed after 
operation hours;

• maintain air-conditioning temperature to avoid 
power wastage (in office generally at 24–26ºC, in 
retail stores generally at around 24–25ºC in autumn 
and winter seasons and at not lower than 19ºC in 
summer season); and

• login with staff card when photocopying to 
encourage paper saving.

A.3 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
24 26

24
25
19

• 
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For resources used in daily operation, the following 
measures have been adopted:

• paperless office is encouraged by using electronic 
POS, WMS and M18 and electronic note-taking. 
If that is not possible, paper used by the Group is 
sourced from suppliers which are certified to be in 
compliance with Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) 
Chain-of-Custody certification and promote double 
sided printing, where possible;

• collection boxes for one-sided paper are placed next 
to printers in office to encourage paper recycling;

• very thin thermal paper rolls used by cash registers 
of retail stores have been tested to be free from 
bisphenol A;

• tissue paper and towel paper used by the Group 
have been tested to be in compliance with GB 
standard 20810–2006 Bathroom Tissue (including 
bathroom tissue base paper);

• electronic salary statements have been adopted to 
exempt paper usage;

• time attendance system and leave application 
system of employees have been computerized to 
minimize paper usage;

• ink boxes and toner cartridges used by the Group 
are sourced from manufacturers which are certified 
to be in compliance with ISO 9001:2016;

• choosing vendors using water-based latex ink 
instead of traditional latex ink to print advertising 
materials;

• garbage classification has been implemented in the 
office and warehouse of the Group for the ease of 
waste recycling;

• POS
M18

(FSC)

• 

• 
A

• 
20810–

2006

• 

• 

• 
ISO 9001 2016

• 

• 
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• all circulars and notices to retail stores are sent in 
electronic format to exempt paper usage;

• reduced the use of the undegradable plastic wrap 
by increasing the use of reusable ropes and nylon 
ties in replacement of the one-time packaging 
plastic wrap for bounding products and the use 
of pallet cage carts to secure products on the 
transition from warehouses to retail stores;

• reduced the use of disposable cutlery by increasing 
the use of washable cutlery and lunch boxes;

• reduced the use of single-use batteries by increasing 
the use of rechargeable electronic products; and

• encouraged effective internal lighting by daylighting 
if possible.

In addition, the Group promotes the quantitative 
reduction of wastage at source by:

• reducing food wastage by offering slow-moving and 
expiring products at clearance prices to customers;

• no festival gift wrapping in order to reduce the 
usage of wrapping paper; and

• strictly complying with the Product Eco-responsibility 
(Amendment) Ordinance 2014 and the plastic 
shopping bag levy in Hong Kong.

Looking ahead, aiming at growing the business without 
depleting the environment and natural resources, the 
Group will continue to review its operation and explore 
other possibilities to further diminish pollutants and 
waste, optimize energy consumption and improve energy 
efficiency.

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 2014
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A.4 A.4 Climate Change

Climate change is an issue that the Group is fully aware 
of and understands as being one that will inevitably 
affect all of the Group’s business operations and its 
stakeholders. The Board is responsible for ensuring the 
Group is prepared to tackle both physical and transition 
climate risks, and the Group’s vulnerability to these 
risks. The Group identifies the physical and transitional 
risks and related financial and operational impact. It has 
implemented a number of mitigation plans and measures 
in order to protect its assets against extreme weather 
and reduce the carbon footprint from its managed 
properties. Climate-related risks have been classified by 
the Group into physical and transition risks, which are as 
follows:

Physical Risk

Physical climate risks come in the form of extreme 
weather conditions in greater frequency and intensity, 
as well as rise in sea level. The operations of the Group 
are located in Hong Kong and Macau. Extreme weather 
conditions such as typhoons and heavy rains are 
expected to become more frequent with climate change. 
The Group has prepared contingency plans to cope 
with these threats. For example, the Group maintains 
comprehensive insurance to cover damage to the 
Group’s assets arising from flooding and typhoons.

Transition Risk

Transit ion cl imate r isks are the evolution of the 
regulatory, technological and market landscape due to 
climate change action. It is believed that environmental- 
related policies and regulations, such as waste reduction 
requirements, will be tightened in the future. The Group 
will promote and encourage employees to reduce 
waste in their daily business activities, and will also 
provide relevant information and resources to enhance 
responsiveness. The Group will monitor updates on 
climate change-related regulations on a periodic basis.
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B. 

B.1 

B. SOCIAL

As a responsible business and employer, the Group seeks 
to maximize positive impacts on its staff and community, 
as well as its business partners. The Group is committed 
to consistently looking for ways to meet corporate social 
responsibilities.

B.1 Employment and labour practices

Human resources is a critical foundation of the Group’s 
operations and is fundamental to achieving the 
continued development of the Group. The Group treats 
its employees as one of its valuable assets. The Group 
generally recruits employees from the open market. 
The recruitment process is conducted thoroughly and 
monitored by the human resources department to 
ensure fairness, factors such as their experience in the 
retail industry would be reviewed. The Group is an equal 
opportunities employer and is committed to providing 
equal opportunities in recruitment and promotion, 
regardless of age, gender, race, color, rel igion, 
nationality, marital status or disability.

The Group conducts performance reviews for its 
employees per iodical ly and would assess salary 
adjustments and promotion appraisals based on their 
performance. The Group offers discretionary annual 
bonus to all of the employees and, for the front-line 
staff, performance-related bonus, sales target bonus and 
miscellaneous duties-related allowances. The Group also 
offers various benefit plans to the employees, including 
staff shopping discounts, top-up leave entitlement and 
medical insurance. The Group would regularly review 
its remuneration policy to ensure packages offered by 
the Group are appealing to employees, which could 
persistently increase the loyalty and incentives of 
employees.
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During the Financial Year under Review, there was no 
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and 
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group 
relating to employment.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total workforce 
and its breakdown are listed as follows:

Hong Kong Macau

香港 澳門

30-3930 below 40-49 50-59By
Age group 

60 or above : 32
60歲或以上

中國內地
Mainland China : 0

Middle management General staff
基層員工

By
Employment

level

By
Employment

level

Part-timeFull-time

Senior management : 2 

全職 兼職

高級管理層

中級管理層

30歲以下 30至39歲 40至49歲 50至59歲

FemaleMale
男性 女性

By
Gender
性別

僱傭類別

僱傭職級

By
Geographical

region
地區

年齡組別

Total: 1,230
總數

368

1,17355

204 337 371 286

862

1,005 225

311,199
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Employees’ turnover rates are listed as follows:

664

460

28
460

565

20 0

0

2,157

179.9064.52

190.72

144.84

167.66
178.98

225.49

87.5

160.84

1,644

533

2,177 176.99Total

By Gender

Male

Female

By Geographical region

Hong Kong

Macau

30–39
30至39歲
40–49
40至49歲
50–59
50至59歲

By Age group

男性

女性

性別

總數

年齡組別

30 below
30歲以下

60 or above
60歲或以上

香港

地區

澳門

中國內地
Mainland China

Number of Employees Percentage
僱員數目 百分比
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B.2 

838

B.2 Employee health and safety

The Group strives to promote safety awareness, improve 
occupational environment and reduce occupational risks 
and commits to providing a healthy and safe working 
environment for its employees. The Group complies 
with the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance 
in all relevant requirements. The business operations 
do not involve high-risk or safety-sensitive types of 
work. To ensure that the business is operated in a safe 
environment and staff has the necessary knowledge on 
work safety, the Group has adopted and implemented 
work place safety guidelines for all our staff in the retail 
stores which set out the Group’s work safety policies 
and promote safety in work sites. The Group has also 
conducted training sessions for employees to increase 
their knowledge of correct practices for health and safety 
in work place.

Accidents that occur in the work place will be reported 
to and handled by the human resources department 
to ensure injuries that occurred in the work place 
will be properly recorded, and that insurance claims 
and treatments are effectively pursued to protect the 
employees and the Group. The Group has not reported 
any fatalities in relation to its work during the reporting 
period of the past three years. During the Financial Year 
under Review, the number of working days lost due to 
work-related injury was 838 days.
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Apart from raising the health and safety standards in 
the Group’s working environment, the management 
of the Group also swiftly responded to emergencies to 
safeguard the health and safety of employees at the 
work place.

During the Financial Year under Review, the Group had 
no non-compliance case regarding violation of relevant 
laws and regulations on occupational health and safety.

B.3 Development and training

Enabling the Group’s employees achieve to their full 
potential will ultimately benefit the Group in its future 
development plans. The Group provides various types 
of training to enhance the competency of our staff. For 
the newly recruited employees, orientation trainings 
for understanding the company background, code of 
conduct, workplace health and safety, customer service 
and grooming standard were provided. The Group also 
provided operations technical trainings, supervisory skills 
trainings and anti-corruption trainings to all staff to 
educate the them on the duties to comply with statutory 
obligations. A series of supervisory skills training 
were conducted to store-in-charge to enhance their 
competency.

B.3 
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The Group is committed to improve the training 
programs to fulfill the needs of business operations and 
employees’ personal development. During the Financial 
Year under Review, the Group modified the contents of 
orientation, operations technical and supervisory skills 
training. In addition, the Group provided training and 
useful information to enhance employees’ supervisory 
skills and anti-corruption knowledge.

Training information is listed as follows:

72.53

27.47

2.87

3.47

97.56

0.07 2.36

2.97

3.44

5.66

Percentage of employees trained (%) 

Overall

Average training hours

By Gender

Male

Female

By Employment level

Senior management

Middle management

General staff

接受培訓的僱員百分比(%) 平均培訓時數

整體

男性

女性

性別

僱傭職級

高級管理層

中級管理層

基層員工

79.48 3.03
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B.4 

B.5 

The Group a l so suppor ts  employees’  persona l 
development through attending external trainings. The 
Group would provide sponsorship for the employees’ 
personal development. Various types of relevant seminars 
or training courses are recommended to employees via 
email and they can choose to register either in person or 
through the Company.

B.4 Labour standards

The Group ensures equal opportunities for all employees 
and job applicants, particularly in recruitment, internal 
transfer, and promotion. Discrimination based on gender, 
age, religious belief, race, or any physical disability 
is strictly prohibited. Applicants’ identities would be 
verified during the recruitment process. The Group 
strictly prohibits the use of child labour and forced or 
compulsory labour at all of its business units, and highly 
values and strictly abides by all applicable labour laws 
and regulations on employment in Hong Kong. If child or 
forced labour is discovered, the Group will terminate the 
employment contract immediately and assist the child to 
resume education and contact social workers to follow 
up. During the Financial Year under Review, the Group 
did not identify any non-compliance cases regarding 
violation of relevant child labour and forced labour laws.

B.5 Supply Chain Management

To maintain a quality, trendy and broadly appealing 
product mix in the retail stores with competitive prices, 
the selection of suppliers is crucial in decision-making. 
The Group generally maintains stable collaborative 
business relationships with the existing suppliers to 
regularly review new brands and products available in the 
markets around the world to keep abreast of information 
on new products available in the international market.
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494
100%

The Group has maintained a list of suppliers and typically 
works with trustworthy suppliers possessing a reliable 
corporate background, trading history and reputation. 
All of the potential suppliers would be screened by 
standardised criteria for evaluating the qualifications. 
Documents such as manufactur ing and analys is 
certificates, health certificates, certificates of origin and/
or attestations, and certificates in relation to food or 
products safety and/or quality manufacturing process of 
the products, may need to be provided by the potential 
supplier for the screening process.

During the Financial Year under Review, the Group 
has engaged a total of 494 suppliers, of which 100% 
have undergone the supplier screening process. The 
geographical region breakdown of the Group’s suppliers 
is shown as follows:

China

Hong Kong

Asia

Europe

North America

South America

Australia & New Zealand

中國

香港

亞洲

歐洲

北美洲

南美洲

澳洲及新西蘭

Other 其他

89

281

70

36

5

1

5

7

Number of suppliers

供應商數目
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Choose the R ight Partners  Referenc ing to 
International Standards

We encourage our suppliers to adopt responsible 
and sustainable practices with respect to a range of 
environmental and social issues when engaging with new 
suppliers. This process gives preference to suppliers which 
integrate considerations for environmental conservation, 
protection of endangered species, protection of labour 
rights and welfare, equal opportunities, non-participation 
in animal testing, and responsible sourcing into their 
own operations. When selecting logistics partners for the 
distribution of goods from our central warehouse to our 
stores, environmental protection is one of our selection 
criteria.

During the Financial Year under Review, the Group 
implemented an ESG supplier assessment policy (the 
“ESG Supplier Assessment”) that makes it mandatory 
to assess its major suppliers regarding its ESG practices 
during the tender process. In this way, the Group 
endeavours to achieve a balance of sourcing from 
suppliers that offer competitive pricing and quality 
goods and to excluding suppliers that have not complied 
with the Group’s requirements on environmental 
protection, employee health and rights, information 
security requirements and ethics. The ESG Supplier 
Assessment also gives preference to those that offer 
products that have positive environmental and/or social 
characteristics, such as products with recycled packaging 
or manufactured by small local businesses.
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The Group would review approved suppliers periodically 
in terms of product quality, services standard and 
reputation to ensure product quality and services are 
maintained at a satisfactory level. The Group would 
assess the appropriateness of packaging of products 
provided by individual approved suppliers on their 
arrival, the consistency of quality between sample 
products and products ordered and delivered, any quality 
issue(s) on products provided by individual approved 
suppliers and its/their nature and materiality of such 
issue(s) and the overall satisfactory level on the quality 
of products provided by individual approved suppliers 
based on customers’ feedback. Recommendations would 
be provided to suppliers which are unable to meet 
the guiding standards for periodical review, and the 
suppliers will be removed from the list of suppliers until 
appropriate remedial measures are taken to the Group’s 
satisfaction.

B.6 Product responsibility

The Group puts great efforts into maintaining product 
qual i ty and safety, which inc ludes establ ish ing 
procedures to ensure that the products procured are in 
full compliance with the food safety, food labelling and 
consumer goods safety-related laws and regulations in 
Hong Kong. The Group has set up a quality control team 
and they are responsible for monitoring and assessing the 
compliance of products to be procured with the relevant 
Hong Kong laws and regulations before placing purchase 
orders. Relevant documents or certificates that could 
warrant the accuracy and completeness of products 
should be provided by the suppliers. The Group’s logistic 
team performs designated quality check procedures 
and checks the inclusion of printed label information on 
product packages or the status of affixation of applicable 
product labels on such products at the warehouse. The 
products are checked regularly in store by the front-line 
sales to maintain the safety and quality of the in-store 
inventory and to ensure relevant product labels are duly 
affixed.

B.6 
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During the Financial Year under Review, an independent 
food testing laboratory had been engaged to conduct 
laboratory tests that are necessary for private label 
products to safeguard and ensure the compliance 
of relevant laws and regulations for such original 
equipment manufacturer products, such as product 
labels requirements and to uplift food safety standard.

The Group is committed to complying with relevant 
laws and regulations on customer data protection and 
privacy. The personal information of customers collected 
by the Group through the membership scheme are kept 
in strict confidence and is only used for specific intended 
purposes. The Group has established internal guidelines 
to ensure compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy) 
Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group implements a complaint handling procedure. 
When the Group receives customer complaints, the 
information of the customers and corresponding 
stores is recorded. The record is kept for three years 
in the customer service department. Each complaint 
is investigated and recommendations of solutions, 
responses and/or decisions is provided post-investigation. 
Exchange or refund is offered if the complaint is valid 
and is about unsatisfactory product quality. During the 
Financial Year under Review, the Group has received 
292 complaints about products and services and no 
products were required to be recalled. In the event of 
any recall, whether announced by the government, 
notified by media, requested by suppliers or identified 
during product monitoring process, we will arrange 
the goods to be removed from shelves and notify the 
staff on the suspension of sales of these products. All 
relevant departments will be informed for following up 
the incident. Media and PR agencies will be notified after 
our investigation when appropriate. The Group will also 
share the information with the government departments 
upon request.

292
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The Group is committed to complying with relevant 
laws and regulations such as Colouring Matter in Food 
Regulations (Cap.132H), Sweeteners in Food Regulations 
(Cap.132U), Food Adulteration (Metallic Contamination) 
Regulations (Cap.132V), Consumer Goods Safety 
Ordinance (Cap. 456), Trade Descriptions Ordinance 
(Cap. 362), Food Safety Ordinance (Cap. 612), etc. that 
constitute a significant impact on the Group in relation 
to health and safety, labelling and privacy matters. The 
Group’s QA department would perform the random 
checking of the goods including packaging and food 
labels regularly, the goods department would need to 
reprint the correct label and the packaging department 
would re-packed the goods if the label is wrong or the 
packaging quality is not up to standard. The Group 
would accept the punishment for any violations of laws 
and regulations. The Group did not have any material 
product non-compliance during the Financial Year under 
Review.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group respects intellectual property rights and is 
committed to observe and comply with the relevant laws 
including the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the Laws 
of Hong Kong) and the Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap. 
559 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group regularly 
consults its legal advisor on any potential issues relating 
to infringement of intellectual property rights of third 
parties. In addition, in an effort to protect the Group’s 
intellectual property rights and interests, the Group’s 
trademarks have been duly registered and the Group 
will take prompt action to respond to any violation of 
its intellectual property rights upon detection, including 
but not limited to obtaining legal advice from its legal 
advisor on any course of legal action available. During 
the Financial Year under Review, the Group was not 
aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant 
laws and regulations concerning the intellectual property 
and privacy of its products and services that may have a 
significant impact on the Group.

132H
132U

132V
456

362
612

528 559



95
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0

Annual Report 2024

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B.7 Anti-corruption

The Group is strongly against bribery, extortion, 
fraud and money laundering and is committed to the 
highest possible standards of openness, probity and 
accountability. We have implemented various policies 
and procedures, including but not limited to the Conflict 
of Interest Policy, Whistleblowing Policy, and Code of 
Conduct for Suppliers and Contractors, which outline 
the required standards of conduct. These policies and 
procedures are periodically reviewed and updated 
as needed. They are accessible via our Company’s 
intranet, with certain policies also publicly available on 
our website. All employees must fully comply with the 
relevant laws and regulations as well as the Group’s 
corruption prevention policies.

During the Financial Year under Review, anti-corruption 
trainings were conducted for executive Directors 
and staffs to enhance their understanding of the 
anti-corruption laws as well as to enhance ethical 
management and staff integrity. The breakdown of 
training participation is shown as follows:

Number of directors who have received anti-corruption training

Number of staff who have received anti-corruption training

接受反貪污培訓的董事數目

接受反貪污培訓的員工數目

12

1,175

Employees are encouraged to report any misconduct or 
dishonest activity, such as suspected corruption, fraud 
and other forms of criminality to the Audit Committee, 
the Board or the chief executive officer. During the 
Financial Year under Review, the Group did not identify 
any non- compliance cases with laws and regulations in 
relation to corruption nor was there any concluded legal 
case regarding corruption practices brought against it or 
its employees.

B.7 
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B.8 
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360º

B.8 Community investment

To maintain a high standard of corporate governance, 
the Group acknowledges the importance of enhancing 
its transparency to the community. The Group actively 
participates in various community involvement programs 
or charity events to support the development of healthy 
life, to cater the needs of local community, to enhance 
fraternal cooperation in the community and to create a 
better community.

The Group has actively participated in environmental 
protection activities and has been accredited the 
Cert if icate of Merit of “Hong Kong Awards for 
Environmental Excellence” by Hong Kong Productivity 
Council.

The Group consistently adheres to the principle of 
“Taking from Society, Giving Back to Society”, actively 
caring for disadvantaged groups and participating in 
social affairs by organizing volunteer teams to engage in 
community activities, addressing the needs of society.

To express gratitude for the contributions of the elderly 
to society, we hold Senior Citizen Discount Day every 
Tuesday in stores. In addition, the Group donated a total 
of 1,000 gift bags to the elders in February and April 
2024, with a total value of over HKD200,000, aiming to 
alleviate the burden on grassroots elders and let them 
feel the care of society. At the same time, a Poon Choi 
Feast with 44 tables was held in the community, inviting 
over 500 elders to attend and share the festive blessings 
of the Lunar New Year. Before the Poon Choi Feast, the 
volunteer team of Best Mart 360º visited several elderly 
residents living in public housing estates in person to 
understand their daily needs.
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To address the emotional health issues of Hong Kong 
students, the Group collaborated with Fung Kai No. 1 
Primary School for the second consecutive year to hold 
the caring event “Focus on Health • Move with Joy”, 
launching a series of activities to encourage students 
to be more active and broaden their horizons, pursuing 
physical and mental health and enhancing positive 
energy. The first event, “Best Mart 360˚ Mental Health 
Martial Arts Exercise”, was held in February 2024, where 
all students performed martial arts exercises together 
during the morning assembly. This allowed students to 
experience Chinese culture in person and understand 
the benefits of exercising more, enhancing their physical 
strength, alleviating emotions and stress. The Group 
also sponsored the entire sixth grade of the school to 
participate in a Guangxi Guilin exchange tour during 
the Easter holiday, and provided various healthy snacks 
to participants during the trip. In addition, the Care 
Project launched a three-week walking activity “One 
More Step to Health, Best Mart Can Do It” at the end 
of April, encouraging students from third grade to fifth 
grade to walk at least 8,000 steps daily to enhance stress 
resilience and face life with a positive attitude.

On 7 January 2024, the Group participated in the 
Community Chest 55th Anniversary Walk for Millions, 
walking 6 kilometers on the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-
Macau Bridge. The Company collectively supported 
this charitable event, raising funds for 24 social welfare 
organisations under the Community Chest that provide 
“Family and Child Welfare Services”, assisting families 
in need, preventing and addressing individual or family 
issues, and offering support services.

The Group organised the “Caring Rice Dumpling” 
event on 1 June 2024, dispatching a volunteer team 
to collaborate with 15 families in making alkaline rice 
dumplings to celebrate the festival, jointly experience the 
traditional festive atmosphere, and distributed a total of 
700 gift bags to grassroots families in the community, 
delivering care and warmth.
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15

360º
75,000

In October 2024, the Group collaborated for the first 
time with the community public service brand “China 
Merchants Happy Community” under China Merchants 
Group, and distributed “China Merchants Happy 
Community Best Mart 360º Heartwarming Vouchers” 
to needy elderly and low-income families in multiple 
districts through 15 community members on the eve 
of the National Day, benefiting approximately 75,000 
individuals. The Group hopes to convey warmth, care, 
and festive blessings to them through this event.



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

99
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0

Annual Report 2024

The Directors present their annual report and the audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Group for Financial Year 
under Review.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is 
principally engaged in the retail sale of prepackaged leisure foods 
and other grocery products, which can be broadly categorised 
into (i) chocolates and confectioneries; (ii) packaged bakery 
products and snacks; (iii) nuts and dried fruits; (iv) grain and other 
miscellaneous food products; (v) beverages and wine; (vi) personal 
care products; and (vii) other products. The principal activities of 
the subsidiaries are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Financial Year 
under Review and a discussion of the Group’s future development 
are set out in the Chief Executive Officer’s Statement on pages 8 to 
11 of this report and the Management Discussion and Analysis on 
pages 20 to 35 of this report. These discussions form part of this 
Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s business operation, financial condition and results 
may be affected by certain risks and uncertainties pertaining to the 
Group’s business. Major risks and uncertainties are summarized 
below which are by no means exhaustive or comprehensive. There 
may be other risks in addition to these shown below which are not 
known to the Group or which may not be material now but could 
turn out to be material in the future.

• our ability to identify suitable locations for new retail stores 
and successfully negotiate lease agreement for these locations 
on terms acceptable to us;

• our ability to obtain sufficient financing for our expansion, 
investments or other strategic transactions;

(i) (ii)
(iii) (iv)

(v) (vi) (vii)

28

8 11
20 35

• 

• 
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• our ability to attract, train and retain management talents 
required for our expanded operations;

• our ability to obtain all the requisite governmental approvals, 
licences and permits in a timely manner;

• our ability to effectively control and manage our costs in our 
expanded retail store network, in particular, purchase costs, 
and expenses related to rent, logistics, human resources and 
marketing; and

• our ability to identify new suppliers and supply sources at 
reasonable prices.

Risks related to the global and local economic environment

The global economy continues to face considerable challenges, with 
the International Monetary Fund (IMF) projecting economic growth 
of 3.3% for both 2025 and 2026, below the historical (2000–19) 
average of 3.7%. Medium-term risks remain tilted to the downside, 
driven by elevated policy uncertainty, restrictive monetary policies, 
geopolitical tensions, and diverging fiscal policies. These factors 
may disrupt the disinflation process, delay the implementation of 
monetary easing policy, and exacerbate economic disparities.

Uncertainties in the global economy and business environment may 
lead to fluctuating exchange rates. As the Group adheres to its 
global procurement policy by sourcing products worldwide, part of 
the Group’s purchase cost, which are settled in foreign currencies, 
may increase, thus negatively impacting profitability.

In Hong Kong, the local economy continues to face headwinds 
stemming from global economic uncertainties, geopolitical risks, 
and underperformance in the equity and real estate markets. The 
persistent strength of the Hong Kong Dollar has adversely impacted 
local competitiveness. Trade protectionist policies implemented 
by the United States have disrupted global trade flows, weakened 
Hong Kong’s goods exports, and contributed to prolonged currency 
strength, further diminishing export and retail competitiveness.

The retail sector has experienced significant pressures due to 
changing consumption patterns, reduced local demand driven 
by outbound travel, and increased cross-border shopping. High 
operational costs, particularly elevated rents and staff costs, 
continue to weigh heavily on retail businesses.

• 

• 

• 

• 

( IMF)
3.3% 3.7%
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The economic landscape presents several risks, including global 
and local economic uncertainties, fluctuating exchange rates, 
high operational costs, and evolving consumer behaviour. These 
factors are expected to pose challenges to profitability and business 
performance in 2025.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

A discussion on the environmental policy and performance of the 
Group during the Financial Year under Review is set out in the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 68 to 98 
of this report. The Environmental, Social and Governance Report 
forms part of this Directors’ Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS

During the Financial Year under Review, as far as the Board and the 
management are aware, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group 
that has a significant impact on the businesses and operations of 
the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS 
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good 
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet 
its immediate and long-term business goals. During the Financial 
Year under Review, there was no material and significant dispute 
between the Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are 
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

68 98

 

 

24
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserve available for 
distribution to the Shareholders amounted to approximately 
HK$330,531,000 (31  Decembe r  2023:  app rox ima te l y 
HK$330,448,000).

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the 
Company during the Financial Year under Review are set out in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 141 and note 
25 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Financial Year under Review and up to the 
date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Li Guanpeng (Chairman)
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan (Chief Executive Officer) 
 (appointed with effect from 12 April 2024)
Ms. Cui Qian (resigned with effect from 25 March 2025)
Mr. Lu Rong
Mr. Liu Yunfeng
Mr. Huang Shengchao
Ms. Wang Kanglin
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung
Ms. Jiang Hongmei (appointed with effect from 25 March 2025)
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan (resigned with effect from 12 April 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Sze Irons
Ms. Choy So Yuk
Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly
Dr. Gao Wei

330,531,000
330,448,000

141
25
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Article 87(1) of the Articles of Association provides that at each 
AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their 
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not 
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that 
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an AGM at least 
once every three years. According to Article 87(2), the Directors to 
retire by rotation shall be those who have been longest in office 
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between 
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the 
same day those to retire shall (unless otherwise agreed among 
themselves) be determined by lot. Accordingly, Mr. Lu Rong, 
Mr. Liu Yunfeng, Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly and Dr. Gao Wei shall 
retire by rotation at the Forthcoming AGM in accordance with the 
Articles of Association and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the Forthcoming AGM.

According to Article 86(3), any Director appointed to fill a casual 
vacancy shall hold office until the following annual general meeting 
of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting. As Ms. Jiang Hongmei was appointed 
as an executive Director with effect from 25 March 2025 to fill 
a casual vacancy on the Board, she shall retire from office at the 
Forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election 
at the Forthcoming AGM.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENTS

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of 
the Group are set out on pages 36 to 46 of this report.

87(1)

87(2)

86(3)
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CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF 
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in 
the information of Directors and the chief executive officer of the 
Company during the Financial Year under Review and up to the 
date of this report are set out below:

• Mr. Hui Chi Kwan was appointed as a co-opted member of 
the Eastern District Council since July 2024.

• Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly has served on the board of the 
United College Trustees of The Chinese University of Hong 
Kong since 1 February 2024. She was also appointed as a 
member of the Hong Kong Housing Authority and a member 
of the Town Planning Board respectively, each for a period of 
two years from 1 April 2024. Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly was 
appointed as a member of the Environment and Conservation 
Fund Committee for a period of two years from 16 October 
2024.

• Dr. Gao Wei was appointed as the chief representative of 
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute Beijing 
Representative Office with effect from 1 January 2024. Dr. 
Gao Wei was appointed as an independent non-executive 
director of AK Medical Holdings Limited (stock code: 1789. 
HK) with effect from 18 June 2024.

 

13.51B(1)

• 

• 

• 

1789.HK
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS/LETTERS OF 
APPOINTMENT

Mr. Lin Tsz Fung has entered into a service agreement with the 
Company, pursuant to which he agreed to act as an executive 
Director for an initial term of three years commenced from 11 
January 2019, i.e. the listing date of the Company. The term of the 
service agreement shall be renewed and extended automatically for 
successive terms of one year upon the expiry of the then current 
term until terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing 
served by either party on the other.

Mr. Li Guanpeng, Ms. Cui Qian, Mr. Lu Rong, Mr. Liu Yunfeng, 
Mr. Huang Shengchao and Ms. Wang Kanglin have entered into 
a service agreement with the Company, pursuant to which each 
of them agreed to act as an executive Director for an initial term 
of three years commenced from 11 August 2023. The term of the 
service agreement shall be renewed and extended automatically for 
successive terms of one year upon the expiry of the then current 
term until terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing 
served by either party on the other. Ms. Cui Qian resigned as an 
executive Director with effect from 25 March 2025.

Mr. Sze Irons and Ms. Choy So Yuk have entered into a letter of 
appointment with the Company, pursuant to which each of them 
agreed to act as an independent non-executive Director of the 
Company for an initial term of three years commenced from 11 
January 2019, i.e. the listing date of the Company. The term of the 
letter of appointment shall be renewed and extended automatically 
for successive terms of one year upon the expiry of the then current 
term until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in 
writing served by either party on the other. 

Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly has entered into a letter of appointment 
with the Company, pursuant to which she agreed to act as an 
independent non-executive Director of the Company for an initial 
term of three years commenced from 11 August 2023. The term 
of the letter of appointment shall be renewed and extended 
automatically for successive terms of one year upon the expiry 
of the then current term until terminated by not less than three 
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
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Dr. Gao Wei has entered into a letter of appointment with the 
Company, pursuant to which he agreed to act as an independent 
non-executive Director of the Company for an initial term of three 
years commenced from 28 September 2023. The term of the letter 
of appointment shall be renewed and extended automatically for 
successive terms of one year upon the expiry of the then current 
term until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in 
writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Hui Chi Kwan has entered into a service agreement with the 
Company, pursuant to which he agreed to act as an executive 
Director for an initial term of three years commenced from 12 April 
2024. The term of the service agreement shall be renewed and 
extended automatically for successive terms of one year upon the 
expiry of the then current term until terminated by not less than six 
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Ms. Jiang Hongmei has entered into a service agreement with the 
Company, pursuant to which she agreed to act as an executive 
Director for an initial term of three years commenced from 25 
March 2025. The term of the service agreement shall be renewed 
and extended automatically for successive terms of one year upon 
the expiry of the then current term until terminated by not less 
than six months’ notice in writing served by either party on the 
other.

Each of Mr. Hui and Ms. Jiang has obtained the legal advice 
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 12 April 2024 
and 25 March 2025, respectively, and has confirmed that he/she 
understood his/her obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has or is proposed to enter 
into a service contract or letter of appointment with the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the 
Company within one year without the payment of compensation 
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected 
transactions and continuing connected transactions” in this 
section, no transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance to 
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries 
was a party and in which any Director or an entity connected with 
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at the end of the Financial Year under Review or at any 
time during the Financial Year under Review.

3.09D
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS 
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING 
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of 
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, 
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities 
and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong 
(“SFO”)) required to be notified to the Company and Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO 
(including interests and short positions which he or she is taken or 
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be 
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the 
register referred to therein, or which will be required to be notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 
Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, will be as 
follows:

Interest in the Shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interests

Class and
number of

issued Shares
held

Long/Short 
position

Percentage
of the issued
Shares as at

31 December
2024

     
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung Interest in controlled

 corporation
130,000,000

ordinary Shares
(Note 1)

Long position 13.0%

130,000,000

( 1)

Mr. Hui Chi Kwan Interest in controlled
 corporation

130,000,000
ordinary Shares

(Note 2)

Long position 13.0%

130,000,000

( 2)

 

571
XV

XV 7 8

352
C3
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Notes:

1. These 130,000,000 Shares are directly held as to 71,500,000 Shares (being 
7.15% of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024) by United East Global 
Limited (“United East”) and as to 58,500,000 Shares (being 5.85% of the 
issued Shares as at 31 December 2024) by Universal Tycoon Limited (“Universal 
Tycoon”), both of which in turn were wholly-owned by Mr. Lin Tsz Fung. 
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung is therefore deemed to be interested in the aggregate of 
130,000,000 Shares held by United East and Universal Tycoon under the SFO.

2. These 130,000,000 Shares are directly held as to 50,000,000 Shares (being 
5.0% of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024) by Sino Sea Enterprises 
Limited (“Sino Sea”) and as to 80,000,000 Shares (being 8.0% of the issued 
Shares as at 31 December 2024) by Giant Blessing Global Limited (“Giant 
Blessing”), all of which in turn were wholly-owned by Mr. Hui Chi Kwan. 
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan is therefore deemed to be interested in the aggregate of 
130,000,000 Shares held by Sino Sea and Giant Blessing under the SFO.

3. Calculated based on the total issued share capital of the Company of 
1,000,000,000 Shares as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the 
Directors nor chief executive of the Company had any interests or 
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of 
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning 
of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of 
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they 
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), 
or are required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered 
in the register referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent 
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based 
on such confirmation, the Company considers that all of its 
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

1. 130,000,000
71,500,000

7.15%
58,500,000

5.85%

130,000,000

2. 130,000,000
50,000,000

5.0%
80,000,000

8.0%

130,000,000

3. 
1,000,000,000

XV

XV 7 8

352

 

3.13
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF 
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected 
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions”, at no time 
during the Financial Year under Review had the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries, and the controlling Shareholders (as defined 
under the Listing Rules) or any of their subsidiaries entered into 
any contract of significance or any contract of significance for the 
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by 
the controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL 
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the 
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of 
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or 
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed 
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part 
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to 
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or, 
who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the 
issued voting shares of the Company or any other member of the 
Group:

Name of Shareholder Company concerned
Nature of
interests

Class and
number of

securities held

Approximate
percentage of

total issued
Shares as at

31 December
2024

     
CMHT the Company Beneficial Owner

 (Note 1)
490,000,000

ordinary Shares
49.0%

1 490,000,000

China Merchants Holdings 
 (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd

the Company Interest of 
 controlled 
 corporation 
 (Note 1)

490,000,000
ordinary Shares

49.0%

 1
490,000,000

 

 

XV 2 3
336

5%
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Name of Shareholder Company concerned
Nature of
interests

Class and
number of

securities held

Approximate
percentage of

total issued
Shares as at

31 December
2024

     

China Merchants Steam
 Navigation Company
 Limited

the Company Interest of controlled
 corporation
 (Note 1)

490,000,000
ordinary Shares

49.0%

 1
490,000,000

China Merchants Group
 Limited

the Company Interest of controlled
 corporation
 (Note 1)

490,000,000
ordinary Shares

49.0%

 1
490,000,000

United East (Note 2) the Company Beneficial owner 71,500,000
ordinary Shares

7.15%

2 71,500,000

Universal Tycoon (Note 2) the Company Beneficial owner 58,500,000
ordinary Shares

5.85%

2 58,500,000

Sino Sea (Note 3) the Company Beneficial owner 50,000,000
ordinary Shares

5.0%

3 50,000,000

Giant Blessing (Note 3) the Company Beneficial owner 80,000,000
ordinary Shares

8.0%

3 80,000,000

Ms. Lee Wai Bing (Note 4) the Company Interest of spouse 130,000,000
ordinary Shares

13.0%

4 130,000,000



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

111
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0

Annual Report 2024

1. 100%

100%
100%

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 
1,000,000,000

Notes:

1. CMHT is controlled as to 100% by China Merchants Holdings (Hong Kong) Co. 
Ltd., which was controlled as to 100% by China Merchants Steam Navigation 
Company Limited. China Merchants Steam Navigation Company Limited was 
controlled as to 100% by China Merchants Group Limited. Under the SFO, 
China Merchants Group Limited, China Merchants Steam Navigation Company 
Limited and China Merchants Holdings (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd were deemed to 
be interested in the Shares in which the Purchaser was interested in.

2. Each of United East and Universal Tycoon is wholly-owned by Mr. Lin Tsz Fung. 
Under the SFO, Mr. Lin Tsz Fung is deemed to be interested in the Shares held 
by United East and Universal Tycoon respectively.

3. Each of Sino Sea and Giant Blessing is wholly-owned by Mr. Hui Chi Kwan. 
Under the SFO, Mr. Hui Chi Kwan is deemed to be interested in the Shares held 
by Sino Sea and Giant Blessing respectively.

4. Ms. Lee Wai Bing is the spouse of Mr. Lin Tsz Fung. Under the SFO, Ms. Lee 
Wai Bing is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Lin Tsz Fung is 
interested.

5. Calculated based on the total issued share capital of the Company of 
1,000,000,000 Shares as at 31 December 2024.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES

Other than the scheme as disclosed in the section headed “Share 
Option Scheme” below, at no time during the Financial Year under 
Review was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any 
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means 
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or 
any other body corporate. As at the date of this report, no share 
option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of 
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company 
were entered into or in existence during the Financial Year under 
Review.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE 
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and top five highest paid 
individuals of the Group are set out in note 11 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 December 2018, the Company adopted a share option 
scheme (“Share Option Scheme”). As at the date of this report, 
no share option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme. 
Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out below:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the 
Group to grant options to selected participants as incentives 
or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

 

 

11

(a) 
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(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) 

(vii) 

(viii) 

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Directors (including a duly authorised committee thereof) 
may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person belonging 
to any of the following classes of participants (“Eligible 
Participants”), to take up options to subscribe for Shares:

(i) any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including 
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive 
Director) of the Company, any of the subsidiaries 
(“Subsidiaries”) or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in 
which the Group holds an equity interest (“Eligible 
Employee”);

(ii) any Directors (including independent non-executive 
Directors), any Subsidiary or any Invested Entity;

(iii) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the 
Group or any Invested Entity;

(iv) any customer of any member of the Group or any 
Invested Entity;

(v) any person or entity that provides research, development 
or other technological support to any member of the 
Group or any Invested Entity;

(vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any 
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by 
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(vii) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to 
any area of business or business development of any 
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(viii) any other group or classes of participants who have 
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture, 
business alliance or other business arrangement to the 
development and growth of the Group,

and, for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the 
options may be granted to any company wholly owned by 
one or more Eligible Participants.
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(c) Maximum number of Shares

(i) the maximum number of Shares which may be allotted 
and issued upon exercise of all outstanding options 
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option 
Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by 
the Group shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue 
from time to time;

(ii) the total number of Shares which may be allotted and 
issued upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this 
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with 
the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option scheme of the Group) to be granted under 
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option 
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% 
of the Shares in issue on 11 January 2019 i.e. the listing 
date of the Company (i.e. not exceeding 100,000,000 
Shares) (the “General Scheme Limit”), provided that:

(aa) Subject to paragraph (i) above and without prejudice 
to paragraph (bb) below, the Company may issue 
a circular to its Shareholders and seek approval 
of its Shareholders in general meeting to refresh 
the General Scheme Limit provided that the total 
number of Shares which may be allotted and issued 
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 
Share Option Scheme and any other share option 
Scheme of the Group must not exceed 30% of the 
Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the 
limit, and for the purpose of calculating the limit, 
options (including those outstanding, cancelled, 
lapsed or exercised in accordance with the Share 
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme 
of the Group) previously granted under the Share 
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme 
of the Group will not be counted. The circular sent 
by the Company to its Shareholders shall contain, 
among other information, the information required 
under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and 
the disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the 
Listing Rules.

(c) 

(i) 

10%

(ii) 

10%
100,000,000

(aa) (i)
(bb)

30%

17.02(2)(d)
17.02(4)
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(bb) (i)
(aa)

(aa)

17.02(2)(d)

17.02(4)

(d) 

12

1%

12

1%

17.02(2)(d)
17.02(4)

(bb) Subject to paragraph (i) above and without 
prejudice to paragraph (aa) above, our Company 
may seek separate Shareholders’ approval in general 
meeting to grant options beyond the General 
Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the refreshed limit 
referred to in paragraph (aa) above to Eligible 
Participants specifically identified by our Company 
before such approval is sought. In such event, our 
Company must send a circular to its Shareholders 
containing a generic description of the specified 
participants, the number and terms of options to 
be granted, the purpose of granting options to the 
specified participants with an explanation as to 
how the terms of the options serve such purpose 
and such other information required under Rule 
17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer 
required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon 
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option 
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group 
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each 
Eligible Participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 
1% of the Shares in issue for the time being. Where any 
further grant of options to a grantee under the Share Option 
Scheme would result in the Shares issued and to be issued 
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to 
such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding 
options) under the Share Option Scheme and any other share 
option schemes of the Group in the 12-month period up to 
and including the date of such further grant representing 
in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue, such further 
grant must be separately approved by the Shareholders in 
general meeting with such grantee and his close associates 
(or his associates if the grantee is a connected person) 
abstaining from voting. The Company must send a circular to 
the Shareholders and the circular must disclose the identity 
of the grantee, the number and terms of the options to be 
granted (and options previously granted to such grantee), the 
information required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing 
Rules and the disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the 
Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the exercise 
price) of options to be granted to such participant must be 
fixed before Shareholders’ approval and the date of Board 
meeting for proposing such further grant should be taken as 
the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise 
price under the Listing Rules.
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(e) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 
10 years commenced on the adoption date, i.e. 18 December 
2018. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is 
around 4 years.

(f) Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days 
from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of 
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be 
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee, 
which period may commence on the date on which the offer 
for the grant of option is made but shall end in any event 
not later than 10 years from the date on which the offer for 
the grant of option is made subject to the provisions for early 
termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the 
Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a 
grantee, there is no minimum period required under the Share 
Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be 
exercised.

(g) Subscription price for Shares and consideration for the 
option

The subscription price per Share under the Share Option 
Scheme shall be determined at the absolute discretion of the 
Directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest 
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date on which 
the offer for the grant of option is made, which must be a 
business day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five 
business days immediately preceding the date on which the 
offer for the grant of option is made; and (iii) the nominal 
value of the Shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance 
of the grant of an option.

(e) 

10
4

(f) 

21

10

(g)  

(i)

(ii)

( i i i )

1.00
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28

33
34

11

30%

30%

 

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of 
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige 
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED 
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or 
redeemed any of the Company’s listed Shares during the Financial 
Year under Review.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as of 31 December 2024 are 
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Details of the Group’s remuneration policy are set out in the section 
“Employees Remuneration Policies” of the Management Discussion 
and Analysis on page 33 to 34 of this report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 11 
to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Due to the nature of the retail business of the Group, for the 
Financial Year under Review, walk-in customers from the general 
public are the major customers.

The total amount of sales to our top five customers is less than 
30% of the Group’s total sales.

The total amount of purchases from our top five suppliers is less 
than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF 
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available 
to the Shareholders by reason of their respective holding of the 
Company’s securities.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company 
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the latest practicable 
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained 
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ 
INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2024, save for Mr. Lin Tsz Fung who is also the 
chairman and chief executive officer of other retail stores in Hong 
Kong principally engaged in the sales of footwear and lifestyle 
products as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 28 
December 2018, none of the Directors and substantial shareholders 
of the Company and its subsidiaries, or their respective close 
associate, had interests in businesses which compete or are likely 
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the 
Company and its subsidiaries as required to be disclosed pursuant 
to the Listing Rules. Given the overall nature of such retail products 
of Mr. Lin’s other business is substantially different from the 
principal products of the Company i.e. prepackaged leisure food, 
the Directors are of the view that the competition between such 
retail businesses of Mr. Lin and the Group is relatively minimal and 
remote.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Financial Year under Review and up to date of this 
report, the Company has in force indemnity provisions for the 
benefit of the Directors. The permitted indemnity provisions 
are provided according to the Articles of Associations and the 
Company has maintained the directors and officers liability 
insurance in respect of potential liability and costs associated with 
any legal proceedings which may be brought against the Directors 
of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or 
existed during the Financial Year under Review.
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14A

(a) 
 

(i)

(ii)

(i)
50,000

(ii) 5%

178,047

(i)
50,000

(ii) 5%

189,099

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING 
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Financial Year under Review, the Group entered into the 
following transactions, which constituted connected transactions 
and continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, and 
are required to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules:

(a) Connected and continuing connected transactions in 
relation to On Yam Estate Tenancy Agreement and Shek 
Wai Kok Estate Tenancy Agreement

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company 
d a t e d  14  S e p t e m b e r  2023  ( t h e  “14  S e p t e m b e r 
Announcement”).  On 14 September 2023 ,  C IAO 
International Limited (“CIAO International”) (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into (i) a tenancy 
agreement with Glorious Supreme Limited (as landlord) for 
a term of three years for the lease of the On Yam Estate 
Property (as defined in the 14 September Announcement) 
(the “On Yam Estate Tenancy Agreement”); and (ii) a 
tenancy agreement with King Worldwide Holdings Limited (as 
landlord) for a term of three years for the lease of the Shek 
Wai Kok Estate Property (as defined in the 14 September 
Announcement) (the “Shek Wai Kok Estate Tenancy 
Agreement”), respectively.

The monthly rental of the On Yam Estate Property comprises 
of (i) monthly base rent of HK$50,000 (“On Yam Property 
Fixed Base Rent”); and (ii) a turnover rent of 5% monthly 
gross receipts exceeding the On Yan Property Fixed Base 
Rent, exclusive of government rates, management charge 
air-conditioning charge and other outgoings and inclusive of 
government rent. CIAO International shall also pay a deposit 
of HK$178,047 in respect of the On Yam Estate Property.

The monthly rental of the Shek Wai Kok Estate Property 
comprises of (i) monthly base rent of HK$50,000 (“Shek 
Wai Kok Property Fixed Base Rent”); and (ii) a turnover 
rent of 5% monthly gross receipts exceeding the Shek Wai 
Kok Property Fixed Base Rent, exclusive of government 
rates, management charge air-conditioning charge and 
other outgoings and inclusive of government rent. CIAO 
International shall also pay a deposit of HK$189,099 in respect 
of the Shek Wai Kok Estate Property.



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

120
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024

The Group’s lease of the On Yam Estate Property and the 
Shek Wai Kok Estate Property to operate the “Best Mart 
360º” brand retail stores shall optimize the Group’s retail 
store-location strategy and enhance the Group’s overall 
performance.

As detailed in the 14 September Announcement, based 
on the then present value of the aggregated fixed rental 
payments for the entire terms of the On Yam Estate Tenancy 
Agreement and the Shek Wai Kok Estate Tenancy Agreement 
as discounted using a discount rate which is equivalent to 
the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, the aggregated 
value of right-of-use assets of the On Yam Estate Tenancy 
Agreement and the Shek Wai Kok Estate Tenancy Agreement 
recognised by the Company in accordance with HKFRS 16 
amounted to approximately HK$3,078,000.

The variable turnover rents under the On Yam Estate Tenancy 
Agreement and the Shek Wai Kok Estate Tenancy Agreement 
will be recognized as expenses of the Group over the term of 
the respective tenancy agreement. The annual caps proposed 
by the Company for the payment of variable turnover rents 
are estimated as follows:

Annual cap for the year 
ended/ending 31 December

On Yam Estate 
Tenancy Agreement

Shek Wai Kok Estate 
Tenancy Agreement

   
2023 HK$250,000 HK$250,000

250,000 250,000

2024 HK$1,000,000 HK$1,000,000
1,000,000 1,000,000

2025 HK$1,000,000 HK$1,000,000
1,000,000 1,000,000

2026 HK$750,000 HK$750,000
750,000 750,000

The payment of variable turnover rents for the year ended 31 
December 2024 under the On Yam Estate Tenancy Agreement 
and the Shek Wai Kok Estate Tenancy Agreement are nil and 
nil, respectively.

360º

16

3,078,000
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5% 3,000,000
14A

(b) 

14A

As detailed in the 14 September Announcement, as all the 
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregated 
annual caps for the payment of variable turnover rents under 
the On Yam Estate Tenancy Agreement and the Shek Wai Kok 
Estate Tenancy Agreement are less than 5% and less than 
HK$3,000,000, such continuing connected transactions are 
exempted from the reporting, annual review, announcement 
and the independent shareholders’ approval requirements 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Both Glorious Supreme Limited and King Worldwide Holdings 
Limited are wholly-owned by Mr. Lin Tsz Fung, a substantial 
Shareholder and an executive Director. Accordingly, each 
of Glorious Supreme Limited and King Worldwide Holdings 
Limited is a connected person of the Company under the 
Listing Rules. As such, the payment of fixed base rents under 
the tenancy agreements will be regarded as one-off connected 
transactions, whereas the payment of variable turnover rents 
constitutes continuing connected transactions pursuant to the 
Listing Rules.

(b) Continuing connected transactions in relation to CMHT 
Sales and Procurement Framework Agreement

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company 
dated 26 January 2024. On 26 January 2024, the Company 
(for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and CMHT (for itself 
and on behalf of its subsidiaries other than the Group) entered 
into a sales and procurement framework agreement (the 
“CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework Agreement”) 
for the term of one year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 
2024. As CMHT is a substantial Shareholder, the entering 
into the CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework Agreement 
between the Company and CMHT and the transactions 
contemplated thereunder constitute continuing connected 
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules.
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Pursuant to the CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework 
Agreement, the Company and CMHT agree that (i) the 
Group shall sell to CMHT and its subsidiaries (other than the 
Group) liquor, food and beverages, personal care and health 
products, household and basic groceries, maternal and infant 
food and supplies, pet food and supplies and other ancillary 
services arising from the above sales (the “CMHT Sales 
Transactions”); and (ii) the Group shall procure from CMHT 
and its subsidiaries (other than the Group) liquor, food and 
beverages, personal care and health products, household 
and basic groceries, maternal and infant food and supplies, 
pet food and supplies and other ancillary services arising 
from the above procurement (the “CMHT Procurement 
Transactions”).

The table below sets out the annual caps of the CMHT Sales 
Transactions and CMHT Procurement Transactions for the year 
ended 31 December 2024:

For the year ended
31 December 2024

HK$’000

   
CMHT Procurement Transactions 35,000

CMHT Sales Transactions 25,600

CMHT Procurement Transactions and CMHT Sales Transactions 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 under the CMHT 
Sales and Procurement Framework Agreement amounted to 
HK$26,921,000 and HK$430,000, respectively.

Entering into the CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework 
Agreement is beneficial for both procurement and business-
to-business sales of the Group. This arrangement not only 
increases the Group’s revenue streams but also ensures a 
stable supply chain. In addition, the arrangement aligns with 
the business development needs of the Group, achieving a 
synergic effect in fair and reasonable manner, and realising 
resources complementarity and a win-win situation for all 
parties.

(i)

(ii)

26,921,000 430,000
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(c) 
 

(i) 

60%
40%

(ii)

60%
40%

14A (i)

(ii)

(i)

(ii)

(c) Continuing connected transactions in relation to the 
CMBL Logistics Services Framework Agreement and the 
CMQHW Transportation Framework Agreement

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company 
dated 12 April 2024. On 12 April 2024, (i) CIAO International 
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and China 
Merchants Bonded Logistics Co., Limited (“CMBL”), a 
company held by China Merchants Port Holdings Company 
Limited (“CMPH”) as to 60% and China Merchants Port 
Group Co., Ltd as to 40%, which is a substantial shareholder 
of CMPH, entered into a logistics services framework 
agreement (the “CMBL Logistics Services Framework 
Agreement”) for a term from 12 April 2024 to 31 December 
2026; and (ii) CIAO International and China Merchants Qian 
Hai Wan (Shenzhen) Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. 
(“CMQHW”), a company indirectly held by CMPH as to 60% 
and China Merchants Port Group Co., Ltd. as to 40%, entered 
into a transportation framework agreement (the “CMQHW 
Transportation Framework Agreement”) for a term from 
12 April 2024 to 31 December 2026.

As CMHT, a substantial shareholder of the Company, and 
both CMBL and CMQHW are indirect subsidiaries of China 
Merchants Group Limited, each of CMBL and CMQHW 
is considered as an associate of CMHT, and therefore a 
connected person of the Company as defined under the 
Listing Rules. As such, the entering into of (i) the CMBL 
Logistics Services Framework Agreement between CIAO 
International and CMBL and (ii) the CMQHW Transportation 
Framework Agreement between CIAO International and 
CMQHW, and the respective transactions contemplated 
thereunder constitute continuing connected transactions of 
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the CMBL Logist ics Services Framework 
Agreement, CIAO International and CMBL agree that 
(i) CMBL shall provide customs clearance, warehousing 
and related logistics services to CIAO International for its 
goods, and (ii) CIAO International shall appoint CMBL as 
its sole customs clearance service provider in Shenzhen 
Qianhai Comprehensive Bonded Zone (

) (the “CMBL Transactions”). Pursuant to the CMQHW 
Transportation Framework Agreement, CIAO International and 
CMQHW agree that CMQHW shall provide land transportation 
services of goods between Shenzhen and Hong Kong and 
other supporting services to CIAO International (the “CMQHW 
Transactions”).
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The table below sets out the annual caps of the CMBL 
Transactions and CMQHW Transactions for the period from 
the 12 April 2024 to 31 December 2024, and the two years 
ending 31 December 2026:

For the
period from

12 April 2024 to
31 December

2024

For the
year ending

31 December
2025

For the
year ending

31 December
2026

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

CMBL Transactions 12,956 22,527 22,527
CMQHW Transactions 5,687 7,582 7,582

     

CMBL Transactions and CMQHW Transactions for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to HK$6,902,000 and 
HK$3,117,000, respectively.

Given that CMPH is a leading provider of bonded logistics in 
the PRC in particular in Shenzhen, the Group can leverage 
on the cooperation with CMPH and CMPH’s bonded logistics 
services to manage the logistics and transportation of the 
Group’s products more efficiently. This collaboration grants 
the Group access to reliable and cost-effective supply chain 
solutions in Mainland China, especially when the Group is 
tackling the current labour shortage while simultaneously 
expanding its retail operations in Hong Kong.

6,902,000 3,117,000
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(d) 
 

(i)
110,000 (ii)

8%

344,100

14A.31

16

3,587,737

(d) Connected transaction and continuing connected 
transactions in relation to Stanley New Street Tenancy 
Agreement

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company 
dated 12 April 2024. On 12 April 2024, CIAO International (as 
tenant) and Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton (as landlord) entered into 
a tenancy agreement (the “Stanley New Street Tenancy 
Agreement”) for a term of three years from 22 April 2024 
to 21 April 2027 (both days inclusive) for the lease of the 
Stanley New Street Property (as defined in the announcement 
of the Company dated 12 April 2024). Pursuant to the 
Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement, CIAO International 
shall pay Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton (i) a monthly base rent of 
HK$110,000 (“Fixed Base Rents”) and (ii) a turnover rent 
of 8% monthly gross receipts exceeding the Fixed Base Rents 
(“Variable Turnover Rents”), exclusive of government rates, 
management charges and other outgoings and inclusive of 
government rent. CIAO International shall also pay a deposit 
of HK$344,100 in respect of the Stanley New Street Property.

Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton is the son of Mr. Lin Tsz Fung, 
a substantial Shareholder and an executive Director. 
Accordingly, Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton is a connected person of 
the Company under the Listing Rules. Hence, the payment 
of the Fixed Base Rents under the Stanley New Street 
Tenancy Agreement will be regarded as a one-off connected 
transaction, whereas the payment of the Variable Turnover 
Rents under the Stanley New Street Tenancy Agreement will 
be regarded as continuing connected transactions under Rule 
14A.31 of the Listing Rules.

As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 12 
April 2024, based on the then present value of the aggregated 
Fixed Base Rents for the entire terms of the Stanley New 
Street Tenancy Agreement as discounted using a discount 
rate which is equivalent to the Company’s incremental 
borrowing rate, the value of right-of-use assets of the Stanley 
New Street Tenancy Agreement recognized by the Company 
in accordance with HKFRS 16 amounted to approximately 
HK$3,587,737.
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The Variable Turnover Rents under the Stanley New Street 
Tenancy Agreement will be recognized as expenses of the 
Group over the term of the Stanley New Street Tenancy 
Agreement. The annual caps proposed by the Company for 
the payment of Variable Turnover Rents are estimated as 
follows:

For the
year ended

31 December
2024

For the 
year ending

31 December
2025

For the
year ending 

31 December
2026

For the 
year ending

31 December
2027

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Stanley New Street Tenancy 
 Agreement 720 950 950 300

      

The payment of variable turnover rents for the year ended 
31 December 2024 under the Stanley New Street Tenancy 
Agreement is nil.

The Group’s lease of the Stanley New Street Property to 
operate the “Best Mart 360º” brand retail store is conducted 
after comprehensive market research and assessment. The 
Group considers that the location of the Stanley New Street 
Property is suitable for the opening of a new “Best Mart 
360º” shop, which optimizes the Group’s retail store-location 
strategy and enhances the Group’s overall performance.

As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 
12 April 2024, as all the applicable percentage ratios in 
respect of the aggregated annual caps for the payment of 
variable turnover rents under the Stanley New Street Tenancy 
Agreement are less than 5% and less than HK$3,000,000, 
such continuing connected transactions are exempted 
from the reporting, annual review, announcement and the 
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

360º

360º

5% 3,000,000
14A
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(e) Continuing connected transactions in relation to New 
CMHT Sales and Purchase Framework Agreement

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company 
dated 26 January 2024 and 27 December 2024. On 27 
December 2024, as the CMHT Sales and Procurement 
Framework Agreement was due to expire on 31 December 
2024, the Board announced that, on 27 December 2024 
(after trading hours), the Company (for itself and on behalf 
of its subsidiaries) and CMHT (for itself and on behalf of its 
subsidiaries other than the Group) entered into a new sales 
and procurement framework agreement (the “New CMHT 
Sales and Procurement Framework Agreement”) in 
order to regulate the CMHT Procurement Transactions and 
CMHT Sales Transactions for the term of three years from 1 
January 2025 to 31 December 2027. As CMHT is a substantial 
Shareholder, the entering into the New CMHT Sales and 
Procurement Framework Agreement between the Company 
and CMHT and the transactions contemplated thereunder 
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the New CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework 
Agreement, the parties may, from time to time during the 
term of the New CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework 
Agreement, enter into specific procurement and sales 
order(s) in respect of (i) the CMHT Sales Transactions; and 
(ii) the CMHT Procurement Transactions, which will specify, 
among others, the type, price, quantity, delivery date of the 
products to be sold or procured, and other ancillary clauses (if 
appropriate), which shall be subject to the terms of the New 
CMHT Sales and Procurement Framework Agreement.

(e) 

14A

(i) (ii)
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14A.55

(i)
(ii) (iii)

The table below sets out the annual caps of the CMHT Sales 
Transactions and CMHT Procurement Transactions for the 
three years ending 31 December 2027:

For the 
year ending 

31 December 
2025

For the 
year ending 

31 December 
2026

For the 
year ending 

31 December 
2027

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

CMHT Procurement Transactions 40,000 42,000 45,000
CMHT Sales Transactions 2,000 3,000 4,000
     

Entering into the New CMHT Sales and Procurement 
Framework Agreement is beneficial for both procurement and 
business-to-business sales of the Group. This arrangement not 
only increases the Group’s revenue streams but also ensures a 
stable supply chain. In addition, the arrangement aligns with 
the business development needs of the Group, achieving a 
synergic effect in fair and reasonable manner, and realising 
resources complementarity and a win-win situation for all 
parties.

The Company followed the pricing policies disclosed in the 
respective announcements for each of the abovementioned 
continuing connected transactions during the Financial Year under 
Review.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed each of the abovementioned 
continuing connected transactions and have confirmed that the 
transactions have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual 
course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms 
or better; and (iii) according to the agreements governing them 
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the 
Shareholders as a whole.
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3000

740

14A.56

29
14A

14A

553,000

 

The Company’s external auditor was engaged to report on 
the above continuing connected transactions of the Group in 
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information”, and with reference 
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing 
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued 
by the HKICPA. The external auditor has issued an unqualified 
report containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the 
continuing connected transactions disclosed above in accordance 
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions carried out 
in the ordinary course of business are set out in note 29 to the 
consolidated financial statements. All of the said related party 
transactions constitute continuing connected transactions under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please refer to the section above 
headed “Connected transactions and continuing connected 
transaction” for details. For those related party transactions that 
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected 
transactions (as the case may be) (other than those described in 
the section above headed “Connected transactions and continuing 
connected transactions”) under the Listing Rules, such transactions 
were fully exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual review and 
all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

The Group had made char i tab le or other donat ions of 
approximately HK$553,000 during the Financial Year under Review.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
UNDER REVIEW

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other important 
events affecting the Group that have occurred since 31 December 
2024 and up to the date of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

BDO Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect 
from 1 November 2023. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited has been 
appointed as the new auditor of the Company to fill the casual 
vacancy following the resignation of BDO Limited with effect from 
1 November 2023. Details of the change of auditor were set out in 
the announcement of the Company dated 1 November 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditor of 
the Group during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year under 
Review have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited. A 
resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint 
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company.

CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR END DATE

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 
5 September 2023, the Board resolved to change the financial 
year end date of the Company from 31 March to 31 December. 
Accordingly, the reporting financial period in this annual report 
covers a twelve-month period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 
2024. The corresponding comparative amounts shown in this 
annual report covered the nine-month period from 1 April 2023 to 
31 December 2023 and therefore may not be entirely comparable 
with the amounts shown for the current period.

On behalf of the Board

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 
Li Guanpeng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025

360
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香港銅鑼灣告士打道311號

皇室大廈安達人壽大樓17樓

17/F., Chubb Tower, Windsor House 

311 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BEST MART 360 HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Best 
Mart 360 Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on 
pages 137 to 224, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting 
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards 
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

360

137 224
360
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5
17

–  

– 

– 

– 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.

Valuation of inventories

Refer to Note 5 “Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty” and Note 
17 “Inventories” to the consolidated financial statements.

The key audit matters

The Group held significant inventories as at 31 December 2024, 
which comprised finished goods in respect of food and beverage, 
household and personal care products. Inventories are stated at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Management assessed the level of write-downs of inventories 
required at the reporting date after considering inventory ageing 
and other relevant factors. Such assessment involves significant 
management judgement and estimation in determining the value 
of inventories which will not be recoverable at the reporting date.

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit matter 
because inventories are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements and because of the significant degree of management 
judgement involved in determining the write-down of inventories.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

– obtaining an understanding of and assessing the application 
of the Group’s key internal controls over the inventory write-
down assessment process;

– comparing the cost of goods with third party supplier invoices, 
on a sample basis;

– selecting inventory items, on a sample basis, at the reporting 
date and comparing their carrying value with their subsequent 
selling prices as indicated in sales invoices subsequent to the 
reporting date; and

– assessing the historical accuracy of management’s calculation 
of write-downs of inventories at the end of the previous 
financial year during the current financial year.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH 
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors 
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.
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• 
 

•  

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a 
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of our engagement, 
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of 
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Cont’d)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis 
for forming an opinion on the Group financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of 
the audit work performed for purpose of the Group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.
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P07788

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Cont’d)

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent 
auditor’s report is Cheung Wang Kei.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Cheung Wang Kei
Practising Certificate Number: P07788

Hong Kong
25 March 2025
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Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     
Revenue 7 2,805,146 1,930,831
Cost of sales (1,777,149) (1,236,573)     

Gross profit 1,027,997 694,258
Other income and other gains, net 8 6,385 4,676
Selling and distribution expenses (635,736) (422,722)
Administrative and other expenses (83,456) (62,568)     

Operating profit 315,190 213,644
Finance costs 9 (18,060) (10,930)     

Profit before income tax 10 297,130 202,714
Income tax expense 12 (49,608) (34,379)     

Profit for the year/period 247,522 168,335
     

Profit attributable to owners of the 
Company 247,522 168,335

     

Earnings per share attributable to 
owners of the Company:

 

– Basic and diluted (HK cents)  –  14 24.8 16.8
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Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

     
Profit for the year/period 247,522 168,335

Other comprehensive income 
(expense)

Item that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation 

of overseas operations
 

665 (674)     

Other comprehensive income 
(expense) for the year/period, 
net of tax

 

665 (674)     

Total comprehensive income for 
the year/period 248,187 167,661

     

Total comprehensive income for 
the year/period attributable to:

 

Owners of the Company  248,187 167,661
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31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 440,367 446,843
Deposits 19 46,891 35,500
Deposits paid for purchase of property, 

plant and equipment
 

19 3,519 285
Deferred tax assets 21 4,772 2,526     

495,549 485,154     

Current assets
Inventories 17 339,513 276,691
Trade receivables 18 8,947 16,149
Deposits, prepayments and other 

receivables
 

19 64,462 74,578
Cash and bank balances 20 159,510 130,712     

572,432 498,130     

Total assets 1,067,981 983,284     

Current liabilities
Trade payables 22 119,018 88,496
Accruals and other payables 22 65,610 60,301
Bank borrowing 23 73,246 76,756
Lease liabilities 16 149,661 143,015
Dividend payable 1 306
Income tax payable 16,265 50,044     

423,801 418,918     

Net current assets 148,631 79,212     

Total assets less current liabilities 644,180 564,366     
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31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     
Non-current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 22 4,374 2,805
Lease liabilities 16 105,246 105,188     

109,620 107,993     

Net assets 534,560 456,373
     

EQUITY
Equity attributable to the owners 

of the Company
Share capital 24 10,000 10,000
Reserves 25 524,560 446,373     

Total equity 534,560 456,373
     

The consolidated financial statements on pages 137 to 224 were 
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Li Guanpeng Hui Chi Kwan
 

Director Director

137 224
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Other 
reserve

Foreign 
exchange 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25)
24 25 25 25        

At 31 March 2023 and  
1 April 2023

 
10,000 329,284 (122,614) (220) 262,262 478,712

Profit for the period – – – – 168,335 168,335
Other comprehensive expense – – – (674) – (674)        

Total comprehensive (expense) 
income – – – (674) 168,335 167,661

Dividend paid (Note 13) 13 – – – – (190,000) (190,000)        

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024 10,000 329,284 (122,614) (894) 240,597 456,373

Profit for the year – – – – 247,522 247,522
Other comprehensive income – – – 665 – 665        

Total comprehensive income – – – 665 247,522 248,187

Dividend declared (Note 13) 13 – – – – (170,000) (170,000)        

At 31 December 2024 10,000 329,284 (122,614) (229) 318,119 534,560
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Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     
Cash flows from operating 

activities
Profit before income tax 297,130 202,714
Adjustments for:
Interest income from bank deposits 8 (5,975) (5,074)
Finance costs 9 18,060 10,930
Losses on written-off/disposal of 

property, plant and equipment, net
 

8 14 335
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 15 214,053 155,215
Written-off of inventories 10 7,402 5,055     

530,684 369,175
Increase in inventories (70,224) (37,527)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 7,202 (10,010)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and 

other receivables
 

(1,275) (16,519)
Increase in trade payables 30,522 19,570
Increase in accruals and other payables  

5,467 18,476     

Cash generated from operations 502,376 343,165
Income tax paid (85,633) (6,458)     

Net cash generated from  
operating activities 416,743 336,707     

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and 

equipment (15,422) (20,089)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant 

and equipment
 

– 7
Payments for reinstatement costs (120) (120)
Bank interest received 5,975 5,074     

Net cash used in investing activities (9,567) (15,128)     
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Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of bank borrowing (3,510) (2,593)
Repayment of principal portion of the 

lease liabilities (186,669) (132,889)
Interest paid (18,060) (10,930)
Dividend paid 13 (170,305) (189,694)     

Net cash used in financing activities (378,544) (336,106)     

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents

 
28,632 (14,527)

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of year/period

 
130,712 146,047

Effect of foreign exchange rate 
changes 166 (808)     

Cash and cash equivalents at end 
of year/period

 
159,510 130,712
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1. 

360

22 3

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1–1111, Cayman 
Islands

108 11

Best 
Mart 360º ( 360º) FoodVille

1. GENERAL

Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company 
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands 
on 24 January 2018. The address of the Company’s registered 
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand 
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place 
of business in Hong Kong is 11th Floor, C-Bons International 
Centre, No. 108 Wai Yip Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are 
principally engaged in retailing of food and beverage, 
household and personal care products under the “Best 
Mart 360º ( 360º)” and “FoodVille” brand stores in the 
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”), 
the Macau Special Administrative Region (“Macau”) and 
the Mainland of People Republic of China (“PRC”) and 
wholesaling in Hong Kong.

The directors consider the ultimate controlling party of the 
Group to be China Merchants Group Limited, which was 
established in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong 
Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of 
the Company and its subsidiaries and all values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2024 were approved and authorised for issue by 
the board of directors of the Company on 25 March 2025.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Change of financial year end date

On 5 September 2023, the Board announced that financial 
year end date of the Company has been changed from 31 
March to 31 December commencing from the financial 
period ended 31 December 2023 in order to align its 
financial year end date with the controlling shareholder of 
the Company. The comparative figures presented for the 
audited consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, audited consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and audited consolidated statements of 
cash flows and related notes cover the audited figures of 
the financial period from 1 April 2023 to 31 December 2023 
which may not be comparable with the amounts shown for 
the current year.

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)

Application of amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, 
the following new and amendments to Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) 
which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 
on 1 January 2024:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and 
 Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as 
 Current or Non-current and 
 the related amendments to 
 Hong Kong Interpretation 5 
 (2020) Presentation of 
 Financial Statements – 
 Classification by the 
 Borrower of a Term Loan 
 that Contains a Repayment 
 on Demand Clause

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with 
 Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and 
 HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance 
 Arrangements

Supplier Finance Arrangements
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (Cont’d)

Application of amendments to HKFRSs (Cont’d)

Expect as described below, the application of the new and 
amendments to HKFRSs in the current period has had no 
material effect on the Group’s financial performance and 
positions for the current and prior periods and/or on the 
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendment to HKAS 1 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and 
the related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 
5 (the “2020 Amendment”); and Amendment to HKAS 
1 – Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirement for classifying 
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is 
meant by a right to deferred settlement and that a right 
to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period. 
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood 
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. 
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled 
in its own equity instruments, and that only is a conversion 
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an 
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact 
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify 
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan 
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply 
on or before the reporting date effect the classification of 
that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures 
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the 
entity complying with future covenants with 12 months after 
the reporting period.

Upon adoption of the amendments, the Group has reassessed 
the terms and conditions of its loan arrangements, the 
application of the amendments has no material impact on the 
classification of the Group’s liabilities.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (Cont’d)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKFRS 16 
Lease Liabilities in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments add subsequent measurement requirements 
for sa le and leaseback transact ions that sat isfy the 
requirements of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers to be accounted for as a sale. The amendments 
require a seller-lessee to determine “lease payment” or 
“revised lease payments” such that the seller-lessee would 
not recognized a gain or loss that related to the right of use 
retained by the seller-lessee.

The application of the amendments had no material impact 
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 7 and 
HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments clarify the characteristics of supplier finance 
arrangements and require additional disclosure of such 
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments 
are intended to assist users of financial statements in 
understanding the effect of supplier finance arrangements on 
an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The application of the amendments had no material impact 
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective 

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to 
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 
 Financial statements3

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 
 Accountability: Disclosures3

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of exchangeability1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the 
 Classification and 
 Measurement of Financial 
 Instruments2

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity2

Amendments to HKFRS 
 Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to 
 HKFRS Accounting Standards 
 – Volume 112

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
 and HKAS 28

Sale or contribution of assets 
 between an investor and its 
 associate or joint venture4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 
determined

The Directors ant ic ipate that the appl icat ion of the 
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the 
results and the financial position of the Group.
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(iii)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, 
the consolidated financial statements include applicable 
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and 
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 
consideration given in exchange for goods.

The material accounting policies are set out as below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Group.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over 
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its 
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s 
returns.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if 
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 
or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains 
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses 
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the 
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to 
control the subsidiary.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 
income of subsidiaries are attributed to owners of the 
Company and to the non-control l ing interest. Total 
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the 
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests 
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the 
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised 
goods to customers in an amount that ref lects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step 
approach to revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the 
contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contract

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity 
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance 
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods 
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred 
to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a 
bundle of goods) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods 
that are substantially the same.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised 
over time by reference to the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of 
the following criteria is met:

• The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the 
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the 
Group performs;

• The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset 
that the customer controls as the asset is created and 
enhanced; or

• The Group’s performance does not create an asset with 
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed 
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the 
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the 
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer, 
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties, 
discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to 
transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract 
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple 
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated 
contracts are not presented on a net basis.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Contract liabilities (Cont’d)

The Group recognised revenue from the following major 
sources:

• Sale of goods – retail

• Sale of goods – wholesale

• Customer loyalty programme

Sale of goods – retail

The Group sells goods directly to retail customers within 
retail stores. Revenue recognised from sale of goods to retail 
customers is recognised at a point in time when the product 
is transferred to the customers upon sale. Payment of the 
transaction price is due immediately when the customers 
purchase the good. The payment is usually settled in cash 
or using credit cards, octopus card, Alipay, WeChat pay and 
other electronic payment platform.

Sale of goods – wholesale

Sales are recognised at a point in time when control of the 
products has been transferred, being when the products are 
delivered to the wholesaler, the wholesaler has full discretion 
over the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no 
unfulfilled obligation that affects the wholesaler’s acceptance 
of the products.

Discount, coupons and other cash incentives to retail 
customers and discount to wholesale customers are accounted 
for as reduction of the transaction prices.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Contract liabilities (Cont’d)

Customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a loyalty programme where retail 
customers accumulate points for purchases made which 
entitle them to redeem award points for discounts in future 
purchases. The transaction price is allocated to the product 
and the award points on a relative stand-alone selling price 
basis. Revenue from the award points is recognised when the 
award points are redeemed. Contract liabilities are recognised 
until the award points are redeemed. Contract liabilities in 
relation to customer loyalty programme were included in 
“Accruals and other payables”.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a 
lease, at inception of the contract or modification date or 
acquisition date, as appropriate. The Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect 
to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for 
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less from the commencement date and do not 
contain a purchase option) and leases of low value assets. For 
these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an 
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of 
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 
assets are consumed.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as lessee (Cont’d)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease 
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using 
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 
rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease 
liability comprise fixed lease payments (including in-substance 
fixed payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the 
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using 
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying 
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding 
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a significant event 
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the 
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the 
revised lease payments using revised discount rate.

• the lease payments change due to changes in an 
index or rate or a change in expected payment under 
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease 
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease 
payments change is due to a change in a floating interest 
rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as lessee (Cont’d)

Lease liabilities (Cont’d)

• A lease contract is modified and the lease modification 
is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case 
the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term 
of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective 
date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of 
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs, 
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an 
obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, 
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying 
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of 
the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under HKAS 
37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. 
The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities, if any. 
They are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term 
and useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts 
at the commencement date of the lease.

Right-of-use assets is presented as “properties” under 
property, plant and equipment.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to 
determine whether a right-of-use assets is impaired and 
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are 
not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the 
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the event or condition that 
triggers those payments occurs and are included in selling 
and distribution expenses in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as lessee (Cont’d)

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate 
lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by 
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; 
and

• the consideration for the lease increases by an amount 
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the 
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to 
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the 
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate 
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the 
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised 
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective 
date of the modification.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group 
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in 
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates) 
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried 
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair 
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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4.  4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or 
loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial 
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of 
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the 
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the year/period. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the 
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling 
interest as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in 
the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees 
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in 
respect of wages and salaries and annual leave in the period 
the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of 
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee 
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the 
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related 
service.
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4.  4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 
year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as reported 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are 
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current 
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax 
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for 
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the 
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
associated with such investments are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable 
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary 
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable 
future.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, 
to recover or settle the carrying amount of their assets and 
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are 
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 
12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and the related assets 
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related 
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all 
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they related to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends 
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets, 
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of 
properties which includes both leasehold land and building 
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the 
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to 
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the 
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, 
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” 
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the 
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease 
building element and undivided interest in the underlying 
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property, 
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of 
items of property, plant and equipment, less their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values 
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
accounted for on a prospective basis. The estimated useful 
lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over shorter of the lease 
term or 5 years

Plant and equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicle 3 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any 
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method. 
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and 
bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and short-
term bank deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents 
are short-term (generally with original maturity of three 
months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents 
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 
commitments rather for investment or other purposes.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the statement of 
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated 
impairment loss, if any.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position when a group 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at 
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts 
with customers which are initially measured in accordance 
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(other than financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, 
“FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from the fair values of 
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition of financial asset at FVTPL are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular 
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in 
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending 
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are 
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at 
amortised cost and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition 
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing 
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at 
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured 
using the effective interest method and are subject to 
impairment.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Cont’d)

For financial assets other than purchased or originated 
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-
impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) excluding the expected 
credit losses (“ECL”), through the expected life of the debt 
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the 
gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial 
recognition. For purchased or originated credit impaired 
financial assets, a credit adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, 
including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the 
debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which 
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the 
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using 
the effective interest method of any difference between that 
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is 
the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any 
loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at 
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is 
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets 
that have subsequently become credit impaired (see below). 
For purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets, 
the Group recognises interest income by applying the credit-
adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 
financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation does 
not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the 
financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included 
in the “interest income from bank deposits” line item (Note 8).
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to 
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade 
receivables and all other financial assets measured at 
amortised cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises l i fet ime ECL for trade 
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated 
individually for customer with significant balances or credit-
impaired and/or collectively using a provision matrix based 
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as 
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, including other receivables 
and cash and cash equivalents, the Group measures the loss 
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in 
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment 
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on 
significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a default 
occurring since initial recognition.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to 
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of 
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that 
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 
and forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered 
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the 
Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert 
reports as well as various external sources (if available) of 
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the 
Group’s operations.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

166
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024

4.  

9

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to 
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

In particular, the following information is taken into account 
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the 
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal 
credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators 
of credit risk (if available) for a particular debtor, e.g. a 
significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default 
swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the 
extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has 
been less than its amortised cost;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial 
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a 
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the 
operating results of the debtor;

• significant increases in credit risk on other financial 
instruments of the same debtor; and

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the 
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of 
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to 
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the 
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset 
has increased significantly since initial recognition when 
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless 
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk 
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have 
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is 
determined to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument 
has a low risk of default; (ii) the debtor has a strong capacity 
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; 
and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions 
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow 
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have 
low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of 
‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood 
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has 
an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the 
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no 
past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria 
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that 
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in 
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to 
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event 
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as 
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either 
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

• when there is a breach of financial covenants by the 
debtor; or

• information developed internally or obtained from 
external sources (if available) indicates that the debtor is 
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full 
(without taking into account any collaterals held by the 
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that 
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and 
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under ECL 
model for trade debtors over 90 days past due based on 
the good repayment records for each customer, continuous 
business with the Group and/or other reasonable and 
supportable information.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to 
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events 
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a 
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data 
about the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the 
borrower;

• a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

• the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or 
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) 
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial 
asset because of financial difficulties.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to 
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. 
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation 
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets 
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under 
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised 
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of 
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if 
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment 
of the probability of default and loss given default is based 
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as 
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial 
assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount 
at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference 
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group 
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to 
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont’d)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial 
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous 
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date 
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the 
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets 
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit 
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance 
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised 
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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4.  4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are 
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the 
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are 
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of 
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, 
to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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4.  4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities (Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

Provis ions are measured at the best est imate of the 
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is 
material).
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4.  4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and interest in subsidiaries

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and interest in subsidiaries to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount 
of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and 
interest in subsidiaries are estimated individually. When it 
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual 
cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are allocated to 
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a 
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 
of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have 
not been adjusted.
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4.  4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and interest in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets 
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated 
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating 
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group 
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of 
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated 
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable 
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating 
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated to the 
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. 
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the 
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), 
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the 
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to 
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit 
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating 
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised as income immediately.
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which 
are described in Note 4, the directors of the Company are 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses 
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial 
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 
equipment

In determining the useful life and residual value of an item 
of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider 
various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence 
arising from changes or improvement in production, or from 
a change in the market demand for the products or service 
output of the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected 
physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the asset, 
and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The carrying 
amount of property, plant and equipment excluding properties 
as at 31 December 2024 is approximately HK$193,557,000 
(31 December 2023: HK$209,987,000). The estimation of 
the useful life of the asset is based on the experience of the 
Group with similar assets that are used in similar way. The 
Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives 
are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off 
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that 
have been abandoned or sold.
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the 
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The 
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and 
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different 
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the 
carrying value of inventories and allowance charge/write-
back in the period in which such estimate has been changed. 
The carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2024 
is approximately HK$339,513,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$276,691,000).

Impairment loss for non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period 
whether non-financial assets suffered any impairment in 
accordance with accounting policy stated in Note 4. The non-
financial assets are reviewed for the impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of the assets exceeds their recoverable amounts. The 
determination of recoverable amount requires an estimation 
of future cash flows and the selection of appropriate discount 
rates. Changes in these estimates could have a significant 
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result 
in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in 
future periods, where applicable. No impairment loss on non-
financial assets was recognised by the Group in both periods.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and 
Macau. Significant judgement is required in determining the 
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognised 
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will affect the income 
tax and deferred tax provision in the period in which such 
determination is made.
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Provision of reinstatement costs of retail stores and 
offices 

Most of the Group’s retail stores are leased under operating 
lease and are subject to reinstatement obligation as stipulated 
in the lease agreements. Management assesses the amount 
of provision made for each store and offices based on various 
factors, including the size of the store and offices, the 
complexity of refurbishment and specific requirements from 
landlords. The Group’s management assesses the adequacy 
of such provision at the end of each reporting period. As at 
31 December 2024, the carrying amount of such provision 
was approximately HK$6,200,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$4,916,000).

Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit 
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing 
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of 
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a 
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary 
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use 
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore 
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires 
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as 
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) 
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and 
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in 
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the 
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) 
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific 
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and the period 
ended 31 December 2023, the Group operated one reportable 
and operating segment which is the retail sale of food and 
beverage, household and personal care products under the 
“Best Mart 360º ( 360º)” and “FoodVille” brand stores 
in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and wholesaling in Hong 
Kong. The Group determines its operating segment based on 
information reported to executive directors of the Company, 
who are also the chief operating decision-makers that are 
used to making strategic decisions. Accordingly, the Group 
does not present separately segment information.

Geographical segments

The Group’s geographical segments are based on the location 
of the Group’s assets. Revenue to external customers disclosed 
in geographical segments are based on the geographical 
location of its customers.

The following table presents revenue and certain non-current 
assets information regarding the Group’s geographical 
segments as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024 
and the period ended 31 December 2023.

Hong Kong Macau PRC Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      
31 December 2024
Revenue 2,740,158 64,968 20 2,805,146

      

Non-current assets* * 437,362 6,524 – 443,886
      

31 December 2023
Revenue 1,885,309 43,333 2,189 1,930,831

      

Non-current assets* * 436,102 9,869 1,157 447,128
      

* Excludes financial instruments and deferred tax assets.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Information about major customers

Since none of the Group’s sales to a single customer 
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the period ended 31 
December 2023: Nil), no information about major customers 
in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is presented.

7. REVENUE

The Group principally engages in retailing of food and 
beverage, household and personal care products under the 
“Best Mart 360º ( 360º)” and “FoodVille” brand stores 
in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and wholesaling in Hong 
Kong. All revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in 
time.

Revenue from the Group’s principal activities during the 
period is as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Revenue from
 Retail sale 2,776,826 1,912,879
 Wholesale 64,895 41,481
 Less: Sales discounts (36,575) (23,529)    

2,805,146 1,930,831
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8. 

9. 

8. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET

Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Interest income from bank deposits 5,975 5,074
Losses on written-off/disposal of 
 property, plant and equipment, net

 
(14) (335)

Others 424 (63)    

6,385 4,676
    

9. FINANCE COSTS

Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Interest expenses on bank borrowing 2,397 1,775
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 15,663 9,155    

18,060 10,930
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10. 10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11(a)) 11(a) 2,008 1,284
Staff cost:
 – Wages, salaries and other benefits – 266,724 173,994
 –  Contributions to defined  

 contribution pension plans

– 
11,164 7,355

Depreciation of property, plant and 
 equipment 214,053 155,215
Auditor’s remuneration
 – Audit services –  1,211 1,044
 – Non-audit services –  250 250
Exchange differences, net (2,306) (1,115)
Costs of inventories recognised as 
 expenses (excluding written-off of 
 inventories)

 

1,769,747 1,231,518
Written-off of inventories 7,402 5,055

Operating lease payments in respect of 
 retail stores
 – Short-term lease expenses – 21,941 8,519
 – Contingent rents – 18,890 14,407    

40,831 22,926
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11.  

(a) 

13
13

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 13 (period 
ended 31 December 2023: 13) directors and the chief 
executive were as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024

Fees

Salaries 
and other 

benefits
Discretionary 

bonuses

Contributions 
to defined 

contribution 
pension plans Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       
Executive directors:
Mr. Li Guanpeng – – – – –
Ms. Cui Qian – – – – –
Mr. Lu Rong – – – – –
Mr. Liu Yunfeng – – – – –
Mr. Huang Shengchao – – – – –
Ms. Wang Kanglin – – – – –
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan4 4 – 259 – 13 272
Mr. Lin Tsz Fung (“Mr. Lin”) – 360 – 18 378
Ms. Hui Ngai Fan (“Ms. Hui”)5 5 – 153 – 5 158

Independent Non-Executive 
 directors:
Mr. Sze Irons 300 – – – 300
Ms. Choy So Yuk 300 – – – 300
Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly 300 – – – 300
Dr. Gao Wei 300 – – – 300       

1,200 772 – 36 2,008
       

Chief executive:
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan – 3,594 1,870 18 5,482       

1,200 4,366 1,870 54 7,490
       

The emoluments paid or payable to the executive directors 
and chief executive emoluments shown above were for their 
services in connection with the management of the affairs 
of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments paid or payable to the independent 
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were 
for their services as directors of the Company.

The discretionary bonus is determined by the Remuneration 
Committee having regard to the performance of the chief 
executive officer, the Group’s performance and profitability 
and the prevailing market conditions.
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11.  

(a) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont’d)

Period ended 31 December 2023

Fees

Salaries 
and other 

benefits
Discretionary 

bonuses

Contributions 
to defined 

contribution 
pension plans Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       
Executive directors:
Mr. Li Guanpeng1 1 – – – – –
Ms. Cui Qian1 1 – – – – –
Mr. Lu Rong1 1 – – – – –
Mr. Liu Yunfeng1 1 – – – – –
Mr. Huang Shengchao1 1 – – – – –
Ms. Wang Kanglin1 1 – – – – –
Mr. Lin – 270 – 14 284
Ms. Hui – 270 – 14 284

Independent Non-Executive 
 directors:
Mr. Sze Irons 199 – – – 199
Ms. Choy So Yuk 199 – – – 199
Ms. Chan Yuen Sau Kelly1 1 117 – – – 117
Dr. Gao Wei2 2 78 – – – 78
Mr. Lee Ka Lun3 3 123 – – – 123       

716 540 – 28 1,284
       

Chief executive:
Mr. Hui Chi Kwan – 2,565 403 14 2,982       

716 3,105 403 42 4,266
       

The emoluments paid or payable to the executive directors 
and chief executive emoluments shown above were for their 
services in connection with the management of the affairs 
of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments paid or payable to the independent 
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were 
for their services as directors of the Company.

The discretionary bonus is determined by the Remuneration 
Committee having regard to the performance of the chief 
executive officer, the Group’s performance and profitability 
and the prevailing market conditions.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and period 
ended 31 December 2023, no directors or any of the 
highest-paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any 
emoluments.

1 Appointed on 11 August 2023

2 Appointed on 28 September 2023

3 Retired on 28 September 2023

4 Appointed on 12 April 2024

5 Resigned on 12 April 2024
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11.  

(b) 

11(a)

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in the 
Group, one (for the period ended 31 December 2023: 
nil) was director of the Company whose emoluments 
are included in the disclosure in Note 11(a) above. The 
emoluments of the five highest-paid individuals were as 
following:

Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Salaries and other benefits 8,575 5,865
Discretionary bonuses 3,429 641
Contribution to defined contribution 
 pension plans 103 68    

12,107 6,574
    

Their remuneration fell within the following bands:

Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 – 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000  2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 2,000,000 2 –
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 2,500,000 – –
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 3,000,000 – 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 3,500,000  – –
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 4,000,000 – –
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 5,000,000 – –
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,000,001 6,000,000 1 –    

5 5
    

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and period 
ended 31 December 2023, no directors or any of the 
highest-paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any 
emoluments. No emoluments were paid by the Group 
to the directors or any of the highest-paid individuals of 
the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the 
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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12. 

2 8.25%
2 16.5%

16.5%

12%

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The income tax expense in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the 
year/period represents:

Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Current income tax
 – Hong Kong Profits Tax – 50,570 34,108
 –  Macau Complementary Income Tax  

 (“MCIT”)

–  
687 249    

51,257 34,357
 –  Under-provision in respect of  

 prior period/year

– 
597 237    

51,854 34,594
Deferred income tax (Note 21) 21 (2,246) (215)    

Income tax expense 49,608 34,379
    

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an 
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies 
Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is not subject to 
income tax in the Cayman Islands.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and the period 
ended 31 December 2023, under the two-tiered profits tax 
rates regime, the first HK$2 million of estimated assessable 
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, 
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The 
profits of other group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered 
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate 
of 16.5%.

MCIT has been provided at the progressive rate on the 
estimated assessable profits. The maximum tax rate is 12% for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 and the period ended 31 
December 2023.
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12. 12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

No provision of the PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) has 
been made as the Group has no assessable profit for CIT for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 and the period ended 31 
December 2023.

The income tax expense for the year/period can be reconciled 
to the profit before income tax in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Profit before income tax 297,130 202,714    

Tax on profit before income tax, 
 calculated at the applicable 
 Hong Kong profits tax rates

 

49,026 33,448
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries  
 operating in other jurisdictions

 
(427) (836)

Tax effect of non-taxable income (1,109) (837)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 89 555
Under-provision in respect of prior years 598 237
Utilisation of tax losses previously not 
 recognised (64) (26)
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates 
 regime (165) (165)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 1,660 2,003    

Income tax expense 49,608 34,379
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13. 

11.0

110,000,000

8.0
80,000,000

79,694,000

6.0

60,000,000

11.0
110,000,000

109,999,000

13. DIVIDENDS

Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Period ended 
31 December 

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Final dividend in respect of previous 
 financial years, approved and paid 
 during the year/period

 
 

60,000 110,000
Interim dividend declared 110,000 80,000    

170,000 190,000
    

On 28 September 2023, a final dividend of HK11.0 cents per 
share for the year ended 31 March 2023 was approved by 
the Company’s shareholder (“2022/2023 Final Dividend”). 
The 2022/2023 Final Dividend of HK$110,000,000 was paid 
during the period ended 31 December 2023.

On 28 November 2023, the Board has resolved to pay an 
interim dividend of HK8.0 cents per share, amounting to a 
total dividend of HK$80,000,000 (“2023 Interim Dividend”), 
in respect of the six months ended 30 September 2023. The 
2023 Interim Dividend of HK$79,694,000 was paid during the 
period ended 31 December 2023.

On 24 May 2024, a final dividend of HK6.0 cents per share 
for the nine months ended 31 December 2023 was approved 
by the Company’s shareholders (“2023 Final Dividend”). The 
2023 Final Dividend of HK$60,000,000 was paid during the 
year ended 31 December 2024.

On 27 August 2024, the Board has resolved to pay an interim 
dividend of HK11.0 cents per share, amounting to a total 
dividend of HK$110,000,000 (“2024 Interim Dividend”), 
in respect of the six months ended 30 June 2024. The 2024 
Interim Dividend of HK$109,999,000 was paid during the year 
ended 31 December 2024.
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14. 

247 ,522 ,000

168,335,000
1,000,000,000

1,000,000,000

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 is calculated 
based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company 
of approximately HK$247,522,000 (for the period ended 
31 December 2023: HK$168,335,000) and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000 (2023: 
1,000,000,000) in issue. The Company did not have any 
potential dilutive shares for the year ended 31 December 2024 
and the period ended 31 December 2023. Accordingly, the 
diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings 
per share.
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15. 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
improvements

Office 
premises Properties

Plant and 
equipment

Furniture and 
fixtures Motor Vehicle Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

         
At 31 March 2023
Cost 78,725 178,865 446,167 30,640 15,340 – 749,737
Accumulated depreciation (55,812) (12,507) (212,764) (16,910) (7,336) – (305,329)         

Net carrying amount 22,913 166,358 233,403 13,730 8,004 – 444,408
         

Period ended 31 December 2023
Opening net carrying amount 22,913 166,358 233,403 13,730 8,004 – 444,408
Additions and lease modification 12,399 – 137,138 4,428 3,055 1,027 158,047
Written off/disposals (9) – – (176) (144) – (329)
Lease termination – – (13) – – – (13)
Depreciation (11,580) (3,743) (133,652) (3,993) (2,221) (26) (155,215)
Exchange alignment (25) – (20) (10) – – (55)         

Closing net carrying amount 23,698 162,615 236,856 13,979 8,694 1,001 446,843
         

At 31 December 2023
Cost 89,535 178,865 535,063 34,015 17,973 1,027 856,478
Accumulated depreciation (65,837) (16,250) (298,207) (20,036) (9,279) (26) (409,635)         

Net carrying amount 23,698 162,615 236,856 13,979 8,694 1,001 446,843
         

At 31 December 2023
Cost 89,535 178,865 535,063 34,015 17,973 1,027 856,478
Accumulated depreciation (65,837) (16,250) (298,207) (20,036) (9,279) (26) (409,635)         

Net carrying amount 23,698 162,615 236,856 13,979 8,694 1,001 446,843
         

Year ended 31 December 2024
Opening net carrying amount 23,698 162,615 236,856 13,979 8,694 1,001 446,843
Additions and lease modification 7,555 – 196,898 3,147 1,496 – 209,096
Written off/disposals (128) – (656) (642) (71) – (1,497)
Depreciation (14,180) (4,992) (186,276) (5,251) (3,072) (282) (214,053)
Exchange alignment (13) – (12) 3 – – (22)         

Closing net carrying amount 16,932 157,623 246,810 11,236 7,047 719 440,367
         

At 31 December 2024
Cost 94,293 178,865 722,828 35,056 19,011 1,027 1,051,080
Accumulated depreciation (77,361) (21,242) (476,018) (23,820) (11,964) (308) (610,713)         

Net carrying amount 16,932 157,623 246,810 11,236 7,047 719 440,367
         



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

191
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0

Annual Report 2024

15. 

246,810,000 16
236,856,000

157,623,000
162,615,000

23

16. 

(i) 

1 3

196,898,000
137,138,000

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Right-of-use assets

As at 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets of approximately 
H K$246 ,810 ,000  (N o t e  16 )  (31  D e c e m b e r  2023 : 
HK$236,856,000) were included in the carrying amount of 
property, plant and equipment.

Security

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s property, plant and 
equipment with a total carrying value of approximately 
HK$157,623,000 (31 December 2023: HK$162,615,000), 
are subject to a legal charge to secure a subsidiary’s bank 
borrowing with a bank (Note 23).

16. LEASES

(i) Right-of-use assets

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Properties leased for own use, 
 carried at depreciated costs

 
246,810 236,856

    

The Group entered into various lease agreements for 
retail shops, warehouses and office premises. The leases 
for retail shops and warehouses have remaining non-
cancellable lease terms of between 1 to 3 years. All 
leases held by the Group comprise fixed payments over 
the lease term or contingent rent based on turnover of 
the respective retail shops for the month.

A d d i t i o n s  t o  t h e  r i g h t -o f -u s e  a s s e t s  f o r  t h e 
yea r  ended  31  Decembe r  2024 amoun ted  to 
approximately HK$196,898,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$137,138,000), due to new leases of retail shops.
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16. 

(ii) 

194,605,000
136,333,000

17. 

16. LEASES (Cont’d)

(ii) Lease Liabilities

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Current liabilities 149,661 143,015
Non-current liabilities 105,246 105,188    

254,907 248,203
    

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

Amounts payable under 
lease liabilities HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Within one year 149,661 143,015
After one year but within two years 87,216 77,804
After two years but within five years 18,030 27,384
Less: Amount due for settlement  

within 12 months  
(shown under current  
liabilities)

 12  
 

(149,661) (143,015)    

105,246 105,188
    

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
entered into a number of new lease agreements in 
respect of renting retail shops and recognised lease 
liability of approximately HK$194,605,000 (31 December 
2023: HK$136,333,000).

17. INVENTORIES

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Finished goods 339,513 276,691
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18. 

8,947,000
16,149,000

30

96,000
49,000

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Trade receivables 8,947 16,149

    

As at 31 December 2024, the gross amount of trade 
receivables arising from contracts with customers amounted 
to approximately HK$8,947,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$16,149,000).

Trade receivables mainly represent the outstanding amounts 
receivable by the Group from Octopus Cards Limited and 
credit card companies. The settlement terms with credit card 
companies and octopus card sales are usually within two 
business days after the date on which the sales are made. No 
credit term has been granted to any customers of the retail 
stores.

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days to its 
wholesale customers with trading history, or otherwise sales 
on cash terms are required.

Included in the trade receivables are amounts due from the 
Group’s related parties of approximately HK$96,000 (31 
December 2023: $49,000), which is repayable on credit terms 
similar to the wholesale customers of the Group.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables based on 
invoice date is as follows:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
0-30 days 0 30 7,732 15,255
31-60 days 31 60 1,033 759
61-90 days 61 90 95 70
Over 90 days 90 87 65    

8,947 16,149
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19.  

4,169,000
367,000

19. DEPOSITS, REPAYMENTS AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Non-current:
Deposits 46,891 35,500
Deposits paid for purchase of property, 
 plant and equipment

 
3,519 285    

50,410 35,785
    

Current:
Prepayments 30,647 32,322
Deposits 27,710 34,439
Other receivables 6,105 7,817    

64,462 74,578
    

The balances were unsecured, interest-free and with no fixed 
repayment terms. The Group’s deposits and other receivables 
were neither past due nor impaired as at 31 December 2024.

Included in the deposits, repayments and other receivables 
are amounts due from the Group’s related parties of 
approx imate ly  HK$4,169,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$367,000), which is repayable on lease terms similar to the 
landlords of the Group.
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20. 

296,000 256,000

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Cash at banks 153,691 123,519
Cash in hand 5,819 7,193    

159,510 130,712
    

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Hong Kong dollars 150,416 123,900
Renminbi (“RMB”) 570 399
United States dollars (“US$”) 540 320
Euro 14 19
Macau Pataca (“MOP”) 7,970 6,025
Other currencies – 49    

159,510 130,712
    

Cash and bank balances include cash on hand and short-term 
bank deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short 
term cash commitment, which carry interest at prevailing 
market rates during the year/period.

The Group had cash and bank balances denominated in RMB 
of approximately HK$296,000 (2023: HK$256,000) and 
the remittance of these funds out of the PRC was subject 
to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the PRC 
Government.
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21. 

38,271,000
29,546,000

17,130,000
15,050,000

21. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax assets of the Group is as 
follows:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Deferred income tax assets to be 
 recovered after more than 12 months

12  
4,772 2,526

    

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) 
recognised and movements thereon during the year ended 31 
December 2024 and the period ended 31 December 2023:

Decelerated tax 
depreciation

HK$’000

   
As at 1 April 2023 2,311
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit 
 or loss and other comprehensive income 215   

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024  
2,526

Credited to the consolidated statement of profit 
 or loss and other comprehensive income 2,246   

As at 31 December 2024 4,772
   

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax 
losses of HK$38,271,000 (31 December 2023: HK$29,546,000) 
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax 
asset has been recognised in respect to such tax losses due 
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in 
unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$17,130,000 (31 
December 2023: HK$15,050,000) that will completely expire 
in 2029 (31 December 2023: 2028). The remaining losses may 
be carried forward indefinitely.
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22. 

(a) 

2,074,000
444,000 90

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND OTHER 
PAYABLES

(a) Trade payables

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables based 
on invoice date is as follows:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
0-30 days 0 30 105,670 72,729
31-60 days 31 60 13,144 15,403
61-90 days 61 90 202 200
Over 90 days 90 2 164    

119,018 88,496
    

Included in the trade payables are of approximately 
HK$2,074,000 (31 December 2023: HK$444,000) due 
to related parties which are repayable within 90 days, 
which represents credit terms similar to those offered by 
the related parties to their major customers.
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22. 

(b) 

1,022,000
22,000

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND OTHER 
PAYABLES (Cont’d)

(b) Accruals and other payables

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Current:
Accruals for employee benefit 
 expenses 42,283 37,439
Accruals for rental expenses 5,483 6,003
Accruals for logistic expenses 7,810 7,151
Contract liabilities in relation to cash 
 coupon (Note (d))

 
(d) 244 650

Provision for reinstatement costs 
 (Note (c))

(c)
1,826 2,111

Receipt in advance 2,047 139
Accruals for operating expenses and 
 other payables

 
5,917 6,808    

65,610 60,301
    

Non-current:
Provision for reinstatement costs 
 (Note (c))

(c)
4,374 2,805

    

Included in the accruals and other payables are of 
approximately HK$1,022,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$22,000) due to related parties, which represents 
lease terms similar to those offered by the related parties 
to their major tenants.
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22. 

(c) 

(d) 

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND OTHER 
PAYABLES (Cont’d)

(c) Provision for reinstatement costs

Movements in the provision for reinstatement costs are 
as follows:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
At beginning of year 4,916 4,125
Provision for reinstatement costs 1,404 911
Utilisation of provision for 
 reinstatement costs (120) (120)    

At end of year/period 6,200 4,916
    

(d) Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following revenue related 
contract liabilities:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Contract liabilities in relation to cash
 coupon 244 650

    

The contract liabilities represented the aggregate amount 
of the transaction price allocated to the performance 
obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of each 
reporting period. The Group expects the transaction price 
allocated to the unsatisfied performance obligations 
will be recognised as revenue when the award points 
in relation to customer loyalty programme and the cash 
coupon are redeemed.
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22. 

(d) 

22. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND OTHER 
PAYABLES (Cont’d)

(d) Contract liabilities (Cont’d)

The following table shows the revenue recognised in 
the current reporting period related to carried-forward 
liabilities:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Revenue recognised that was included 
 in the contract liabilities at beginning 
 of the year/period

 

 – Retailing sales – 650 640
    

The following table shows unsatisfied performance 
obligations resulting from retailing sales:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
At end of year
Expected to be recognised within 
 one year 244 650
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23. 

1.3%
3%

(i) 

(ii) 157,623,000
162,615,000

15

23. BANK BORROWING

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Current:
Secured interest-bearing bank borrowing
 Not repayable within one year from 
  the end of the reporting period but 
  contain a repayment on demand 
  clause

 
 

73,246 76,756
    

Bank borrowing bears interest at floating interest rates. The 
effective interest rates of bank borrowing is HIBOR plus 1.3% 
or Prime rate minus 3% whichever is lower per annum for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 and the period ended 31 
December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the bank borrowing and other 
banking facilities of the Group are secured by:

(i) the corporate guarantee provided by the Company and 
subsidiary; and

(ii) property, plant and equipment of office premises 
(Note 15) of the Group with carrying amount of 
approximately HK$157,623,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$162,615,000).
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24. 

25. 

24. SHARE CAPITAL

Number Amount

HK$’000

    
Authorised:
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 
 and 31 December 2024

 
 

10,000,000,000 100,000
    

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 0.01
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 
 and 31 December 2024

 
 

1,000,000,000 10,000
    

25. RESERVES

Details of the movements of the Group’s reserves are as 
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 
Movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows:

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     
At 1 April 2023 329,284 1,161 330,445
Profit and total comprehensive 
 income for the period

 
– 190,003 190,003

Dividend declared – (190,000) (190,000)     

At 31 December 2023  
329,284 1,164 330,448

     

At 1 January 2024 329,284 1,164 330,448
Profit and total comprehensive 
 income for the year

 
– 170,083 170,083

Dividend declared – (170,000) (170,000)     

At 31 December 2024  
329,284 1,247 330,531
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25. 

26. 

25. RESERVES (Cont’d)

The following describes the nature and purpose of each 
reserve within owners’ equity.

Reserves Description and purpose

  
Share premium Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over the nominal value of 

the shares of the Company issued at a premium, less the amount of expenses 
incurred in connection with the issue of the shares.

Other reserve The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the total 
equity of the subsidiaries and the aggregated share capital of the subsidiaries 
pursuant to the reorganisation where the transfer of the subsidiaries to the 
Company are satisfied by issue of new shares from the Company.

Foreign exchange reserve The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising 
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose 
functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation 
currency.

Retained earnings Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

26. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Commitments for acquisition of 
 property, plant and equipment 
 contracted but not provided for

 

1,392 71
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27.  

(1) 

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 
COMPANY

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current asset
Investment in a subsidiary 28 122,614 122,614
Property, plant and equipment 701 –     

123,315 122,614     

Current assets
Prepayment 291 263
Amounts due from subsidiaries (i) 216,754 216,954
Cash and bank balances 1,031 1,799     

218,076 219,016     

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 859 876
Dividend payables 1 306     

860 1,182     

Net current assets 217,216 217,834
     

Net assets 340,531 340,448     

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners 
 of the Company
Share capital 24 10,000 10,000
Reserves 25 330,531 330,448     

Total equity 340,531 340,448
     

Note:

(i) The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on 
demand as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

On behalf of the Directors of the Company

Li Guanpeng Hui Chi Kwan

Director Director
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28. 28. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 
are as follows:

Name
Country and date of incorporation 
and form of business structure

Particulars of 
issued and fully 
paid up share 
capital

Attributable equity 
interests Principal activities

 
Direct Indirect

Best Mart 360 International Limited BVI, 23 February 2018,  
limited liability company

US$1 100% – Investment holding in BVI

360  1

Quality Food 360  
 (Holdings) Limited

BVI, 25 April 2013,  
limited liability company

US$2 – 100% Investment holding in BVI

360  2

Best Mart 360 Macau  
Holdings Limited

BVI, 14 March 2019,  
limited liability company

US$1 – 100% Investment holding in BVI

360  1

Best Mart 360 China Holdings  
Limited

BVI, 8 November 2019,  
limited liability Company

US$1 – 100% Investment holding in BVI

360  1
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28. 

Name
Country and date of incorporation 
and form of business structure

Particulars of 
issued and fully 
paid up share 
capital

Attributable equity 
interests Principal activities

 
Direct Indirect

CIAO International Limited Hong Kong, 14 December 2012,  
limited liability company

HK$20,000 – 100% Retailing of food and beverage, 
household and personal care 
products under the  
“Best Mart 360 ”  
( 360 ) brand stores in 
Hong Kong and wholesaling 
in Hong Kong

 20,000 Best Mart 360  
360  

 
 

Best Mart 360 Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, 25 November 2019,  
limited liability company

US$1 – 100% Investment holding in  
Hong Kong

360  1

Best Mart 360 Macau Limited Macau, 21 May 2019,  
limited liability company

MOP25,000 – 100% Retailing of food and beverage, 
household and personal care 
products under the “Best 
Mart 360 ” ( 360 ) 
brand store in Macau

360  25,000 Best Mart 360  
360  

 

28. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 
are as follows: (Cont’d)
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28. 

Name
Country and date of incorporation 
and form of business structure

Particulars of 
issued and fully 
paid up share 
capital

Attributable equity 
interests Principal activities

 
Direct Indirect

Shenzhen Best Mart 360  
Commerce Limited

The PRC, 24 December 2019, a wholly 
foreign-owned enterprise

HK$10,000,000 – 100% Retailing of food and beverage, 
household and personal care 
products under the “Best 
Mart 360 ” ( 360 ) 
brand store in Shenzhen

 10,000,000 Best Mart 360  
360  

 

Abundant Year International  
Limited

BVI, 28 April 2020,  
limited liability Company

HK$8 – 100% Investment holding in BVI

 8

Allied Wide Limited Hong Kong, 28 October 2010,  
limited liability company

HK$3 – 100% Property holding in  
Hong Kong

 3

Golden Good International  
Trading Limited

Hong Kong, 26 May 2022,  
limited liability company

HK$1 – 100% Wholesales of food and 
beverage, household and 
personal care products under 
the “Best Mart 360 ”  
brand store in Hong Kong

 1 Best Mart 360  
360  

 
 

28. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 
are as follows: (Cont’d)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

208
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024

29. 

(a) 

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Related party transactions

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this consolidated financial 
statements, the Group had the following material 
transactions with related parties during the year/period:

Name of related parties Nature of transaction

For year 
ended 

31 December 
2024

For period 
ended 

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Smart Essence Development Limited 

(Note (i))
Lease payments

967 693
(i)

Glorious Supreme Limited (Note (ii)) Lease payments 712 72
(ii)

King Worldwide Holdings Limited 
(Note (ii))

Lease payments
704 26

(ii)
Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton (Note (iii)) Lease payments 803 –

(iii)
China Merchants Bonded Logistics  

Co Limited (Note (v))
Logistics fee

6,902 –

(v)
China Merchants Food (China) 

Company Limited (Note (iv))
Purchase

20,563 711
(iv)

Hai Luen Trading Company  
(Hong Kong) Limited (Note (iv))

Purchase
6,358 2,058

(iv)
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29. 

(a) 

Name of related parties Nature of transaction

For year 
ended 

31 December 
2024

For period 
ended 

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
China Merchants Food (Hong Kong) 

Company Limited (Note (iv))
Sales

385 49
 

(iv)
China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading 

Company Limited (Note (v))
Sales

45 20
(v)

China Merchants Property 
Management (Hong Kong)  
Limited (Note (v))

Sales

6 –

 
(v)

China Merchants Qian Hai Wan 
(Shenzhen) Supply Chain 
Management Co., Ltd. (Note (v))

Logistics fee

3,117 –

 (v)
Sinotrans (HK) Shipping Limited  

(Note (v))
Freight charge

23 –

 
(v)

Sinotrans (HK) Supply Chain Limited 
(Note (v))

Freight charge
249 –

 
(v)    

40,834 3,629
    

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a) Related party transactions (Cont’d)
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29. 

(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a) Related party transactions (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Lin Tsz Fung, one of the directors of the Company, has 
significant influence over Smart Essence Development Limited.

(ii) Glorious Supreme Limited and King Worldwide Holdings Limited 
are wholly-owned by Lin Tsz Fung, one of the directors of the 
Company.

(iii) Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton is the son of Mr. Lin Tsz Fung, one of the 
directors of the Company.

(iv) China Merchants Food (China) Company Limited, Hai Luen Trading 
Company (Hong Kong) Limited and China Merchants Food (Hong 
Kong) Limited are controlled by China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading 
Company Limited, the substantial shareholder of the Company.

(v) China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading Company Limited, China 
Merchants Property Management (Hong Kong) Limited. China 
Merchants Bonded Logistics Co Limited, China Merchants Qian Hai 
Wan (Shenzhen) Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd., Sinotrans 
(HK) Shipping Limited and Sinotrans (HK) Supply Chain Limited 
are controlled by China Merchants Group Limited, the ultimate 
controlling shareholder of the Company.
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29. 

(b) 

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(b) Related party balances

The following balances were outstanding at the end of 
the reporting period:

Name of related parties

Amount due 
from/(to) 

related parties
31 December

 2024

Amount due 
from/(to) 

related parties
31 December

2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Smart Essence Development Limited (Note (i)) 38 (22)

 (i)
Glorious Supreme Limited (Note (ii)) 178 178

(ii)
King Worldwide Holdings Limited (Note (ii)) 191 189

(ii)
Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton (Note (iii)) 350 –

(iii)
China Merchants Food (China) Company Limited (Note (iv)) (534) (142)

(iv)
Hai Luen Trading Company (Hong Kong) Limited (Note (iv)) (1,437) (302)

(iv)
China Merchants Food (Hong Kong) Company Limited (Note (iv)) 96 49

(iv)
Sinotrans (HK) Supply Chain Limited (Note (v)) (30) –

(v)
China Merchants Bonded Logistics Co. Limited (Note (v)) 2,614 –

(v)
China Merchants Qian Hai Wan (Shenzhen) Supply Chain  
 Management Co., Ltd. (Note (v)) (296) –

(v)    

1,170 (50)
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29. 

(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(b) Related party balances (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Lin, one of the directors of the Company, has significant 
influence over Smart Essence.

(ii) Glorious Supreme Limited and King Worldwide Limited are wholly-
owned by Mr. Lin, one of the directors of the Company.

(iii) Mr. Lin Hiu San Burton is the son of Mr. Lin Tsz Fung, one of the 
directors of the Company.

(iv) China Merchants Food (China) Company Limited, Hai Luen Trading 
Company (Hong Kong) Limited and China Merchants Food (Hong 
Kong) Company Limited are controlled by China Merchants Hoi 
Tung Trading Company Limited, the substantial shareholder of the 
Company.

(v) China Merchants Bonded Logistics Co. Limited, China Merchants 
Qian Hai Wan (Shenzhen) Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. 
and Sinotrans (HK) Supply Chain Limited are controlled by China 
Merchants Group Limited, the ultimate controlling shareholder of 
the Company.
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29. 

(c) 

30. 

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of executive directors of the Company 
and other members of key management during the year 
was as follows:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Directors’ fee – –

Short-term benefits 12,383 7,302
Discretionary bonuses 4,816 646
Post-employment benefits 211 108    

17,410 8,056
    

30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 Trade receivables 8,947 16,149
 Deposits and other receivables 80,706 77,756
 Cash and bank balances 159,510 130,712    

249,163 224,617
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30. 

31. 

(a) 

30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (Cont’d)

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
 Trade payables 119,018 88,496
 Accruals and other payables 61,493 57,401
 Bank borrowing 73,246 76,756
 Lease liabilities 254,907 248,203
 Dividend payable 1 306    

508,665 471,162
    

The directors of the Company considers the carrying value of 
financial instruments approximates their fair value.

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments 
in the normal course of the Group’s business are credit risk, 
foreign currency risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management 
policies and practices described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the 
carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, and trade 
and other receivable. The Group has no concentration of 
credit risk from third party debtors.

As at 31 December 2024, substantially all of the Group’s 
bank deposits were deposited with major financial 
institutions in Hong Kong, which management believes 
are of high-credit-quality without significant credit risk.
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31. 

(a) 

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

All of the Group’s trade receivables and other receivables 
have no collateral. The Group assessed the credit 
quality of the counterparties by taking into account 
their financial position, credit history and other factors. 
Management also regularly reviews the recoverability of 
these receivables and follow up the disputes or amounts 
overdue, if any. The Directors are of the opinion that the 
risk of default by counterparties is low.

The Group considers the probability of default upon 
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis 
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether 
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset 
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at 
the date of initial recognition. It considers available 
reasonable and supportable forwarding-looking 
information.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

216
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited 3 6 0
Annual Report 2024

31. 

(a) 

(i) 

9

18

0.1%

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(i) Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to 
providing for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which 
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss 
provision for all trade receivables. The Group always 
measures the loss allowance for trade receivables 
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on 
trade receivables is estimated by reference to past 
default experience of the debtor and current market 
condition in relation to each debtor’s exposure. The 
ECL also incorporates forward-looking information 
wi th reference to genera l  macroeconomic 
conditions that may affect the ability of the debtors 
to settle receivables. To measure the ECL, the trade 
receivables have been grouped based on share 
credit risk characteristics and the days past due 
according to the ageing as disclosed in Note 18. 
Expected loss rate of current trade receivables are 
assessed to be 0.1% as the trade receivables mainly 
represent amounts due from Octopus Cards Limited 
and credit card companies with high credit rating 
and no history of default. For the past due trade 
receivables, since the balances were immaterial, 
the management of the Group considered the 
loss allowance provision for these balances were 
immaterial. There is no change in the ECL rate for 
trade receivables during the period/year mainly due 
to no significant change in the historical default 
rates of trade receivables based on which the 
ECL rate is determined. The management of the 
Group considered the loss allowance provision for 
trade receivables was immaterial during the year 
ended 31 December 2024 (for the period ended 31 
December 2023: immaterial).
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31. 

(a) 

(ii) 

12

(b) 

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(ii) Other receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the management of the 
Group takes into account the historical default 
experience and forward-looking information, as 
appropriate, for example the Group considers 
the consistently low historical default rates 
of counterparties, and concludes that credit 
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding other 
receivables is insignificant. The management of 
the Group has assessed that other receivables do 
not have a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition and risk of default is insignificant, 
therefore the ECL for these receivables were 
immaterial under the 12 months expected loss 
method and no loss allowance was recognised 
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the 
period ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity 
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient 
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the 
short and long term. The management of the Company 
is satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full its 
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the 
foreseeable future in the normal course of business. 
The following table details the remaining contractual 
maturities at the end of each reporting period of 
the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on 
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest 
payment computed using contractual rates or, if floating, 
based on the current rates at the reporting date) and the 
earliest date the Group may be required to pay.
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31. 

(b) 

* 

92,104,000
98,803,000

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Carrying
 amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 1 year 
or on demand

Within 1 year 
to 2 years

Within 2 years 
to 5 years

More than 
5 years

1
1 2 2 5 5

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        
At 31 December 2024
Trade payables 119,018 119,018 119,018 – – –
Accruals and other payables 61,491 61,491 61,491 – – –
Dividend payable 1 1 1 – – –
Bank borrowing* * 73,246 92,104 5,817 5,817 17,451 63,019
Lease liabilities 254,907 272,356 163,540 90,711 18,105 –        

508,670 547,289 346,610 96,529 41,130 63,019
        

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 
1 year 
or on 

demand

Within 
1 year to 

2 years

Within 
2 years to 

5 years Over 5 years
1

1 2 2 5 5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        
At 31 December 2023
Trade payables 88,496 88,496 88,496 – – –

Accruals and other payables 57,401 57,401 57,401 – – –

Dividend payable 306 306 306 – – –

Bank borrowing* * 76,756 98,803 5,870 5,870 17,608 69,455
Lease liabilities 248,203 259,751 149,919 81,115 28,717 –        

471,162 504,757 301,992 86,985 46,325 69,455
        

* Bank borrowing in the above maturity analysis contains a repayable 
on demand clause and it presented according to the schedule 
repayment dates as set out in the loan agreement. As at 31 
December 2024, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of 
the bank borrowing amounted to HK$92,104,000 (31 December 
2023: HK$98,803,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial 
position, the directors of the Company do not believe that it is 
probable that the bank will exercise their discretionary rights to 
demand immediate repayment. The directors of the Company 
believe that such bank borrowing will be repaid in accordance with 
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreement.
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31. 

(c) 

(d) 

* 0.01%

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(c) Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operated in Hong Kong with most 
of the transactions settled in HK$ and did not have 
significant exposure to risk resulting from changes in 
foreign currency exchange rates.

(d) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates 
principally to its bank deposits and interest-bearing bank 
borrowing. Borrowing issued at variable rates expose the 
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. The Group has not 
entered into any financial derivative instruments to hedge 
its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group’s policy is to 
manage its interest rate risk, working within an agreed 
framework, to ensure that there are no unduly exposures 
to significant interest rate movements.

The following table details the interest rate profile of 
the Group’s financial instruments at the end of each 
reporting period:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Effective 
interests rate 

per annum HK$’000

Effective 
interests rate 

per annum HK$’000

      
Fixed-rate bank deposits 5.00% 40,923 5.00% 40,000
Floating-rate bank deposits –* 112,768 –* 83,519

Floating-rate bank borrowing 3.00% (73,246) 3.13% (76,756)
      

* The effective interest rate per annum is lower than 0.01%.
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31. 

(d) 

100

330,000
56,000

100

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(d) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

At the respective end of each reporting period, it is 
estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis 
points in interest rates, with all other variables held 
constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s profit 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 by approximately 
HK$330,000 (for the period ended 31 December 2023: 
HK$56,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined to 
assume that the change in interest rates had occurred at 
the end of each reporting period and had been applied 
to the exposure to interest rate risk for the bank deposits 
and borrowing in existence at that date. The 100 basis 
point increase or decrease represents management’s 
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates over the next twelve months period.

The interest rate risk policies have been followed by the 
Group consistently throughout the year/period.
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32. 32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to 
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and maximising the return to stakeholders. The Group’s 
capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed by 
the directors of the Company. The Group is not subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements. To maintain or adjust 
capital structure, the Group may adjust dividend payment 
to shareholders or issue new shares. Adjustments will be 
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic 
conditions affecting the Company or its subsidiaries, and the 
risk characteristics of the Group’s underlying assets.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which 
includes the bank borrowing, lease liabilities, cash and bank 
balance and equity attributable to owners of the Company, 
comprising share capital and reserves. The Group’s risk 
management reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual 
basis. As part of this review, the management considers the 
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of 
capital.

The net debt to equity ratio as at the reporting dates is as 
follows:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Bank borrowing 73,246 76,756
Lease liabilities 254,907 248,203
Less: Cash and bank balances (159,510) (130,712)    

Net debt 168,643 194,247
    

Total equity 534,560 456,373
    

Net debt to equity ratio 31.5% 42.6%
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33. 33. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS

Year ended 
31 December 2024

As at 
1 January 2024

Financing 
cash flow

Addition and 
lease modification

Interest 
expenses

Exchange 
realignment

As at 
31 December 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        
Bank borrowing 76,756 (5,907) – 2,397 – 73,246
Lease liabilities 248,203 (202,332) 193,374 15,663 (1) 254,907
Dividend payable 306 (170,305) 170,000 – – 1        

325,265 (378,544) 363,374 18,060 (1) 328,154
        

Period ended 
31 December 2023

 As at 
1 April 2023

Financing 
cash flow

Addition and 
lease modification

Interest 
expenses

Exchange 
realignment

As at 
31 December 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        
Bank borrowing 79,349 (4,368) – 1,775 – 76,756
Lease liabilities 244,787 (142,044) 136,333 9,155 (28) 248,203 
Dividend payable – (189,694) 190,000 – – 306        

324,136 (336,106) 326,333 10,930 (28) 325,265 
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34. 
 

34. ACCOUNTING IMPLICATIONS OF THE 
ABOLITION OF THE MPF-LSP OFFSETTING 
MECHANISM IN HONG KONG

In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government gazetted the 
Hong Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation 
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the 
“Amendment Ordinance”), which will eventually abolish 
the statutory right of an employer to reduce its long service 
payment (“LSP”) and severance payment payable to a Hong 
Kong employee by drawing on its mandatory contributions to 
the mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) scheme (also known 
as the offsetting mechanism). The HKSAR Government has 
subsequently announced that the Amendment Ordinance will 
come into effect from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). 
Separately, the Hong Kong Government is also expected 
to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers after the 
abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting 
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use any 
of the accrued benefits derived from its MPF contributions 
(irrespective of the contributions made before, on or after 
the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an 
employee’s service from the Transition Date. However, where 
an employee’s employment commenced before the Transition 
Date, the employer can continue to use the above accrued 
benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s service 
up to that date; in addition, the LSP in respect of the service 
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on the 
employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition 
Date and the years of service up to that date.
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34. 
 

19 93(b)

34. ACCOUNTING IMPLICATIONS OF THE 
ABOLITION OF THE MPF-LSP OFFSETTING 
MECHANISM IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published accounting implications 
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong 
Kong that provides guidance on the accounting considerations 
relating to the offsetting mechanism and the abolition of 
the mechanism. In particular, the guidance indicates that 
entities may account for the accrued benefits derived from 
its mandatory MPF contributions that are expected to be 
used to reduce the LSP payable to an employee as deemed 
contributions by that employee towards the LSP; however, 
upon the enactment of the Amendment Ordinance in June 
2022, entities can no longer apply the practical expedient in 
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19, Employee Benefits, to recognise 
such deemed contributions as reduction of current service cost 
in the period the related service is rendered, and any impact 
from ceasing to apply the practical expedient is recognised as 
a catch-up adjustment in profit or loss with a corresponding 
adjustment to the LSP liability in the financial statements.

In this financial report and in prior periods, consistent with 
the HKICPA guidance the Group has been accounting for the 
accrued benefits derived from its mandatory MPF contributions 
that are expected to be used to reduce the LSP payable to an 
employee as deemed employee contributions towards the LSP. 
The Group has been applying the abovementioned practical 
expedient.

The Group has assessed the implications of this new guidance 
on the above accounting policies and has decided to change 
those accounting policies to conform with the HKICPA 
guidance. The management has commenced the processes on 
implementing the change including additional data collection 
and impact assessment. However, the impact of the change 
is not reasonably estimable at the time of these consolidated 
financial statements are authorised for issuance, as the Group 
has yet to fully complete its assessment of the impact of the 
HKICPA guidance.
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